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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Kingwisoft
Technology Group Company Limited & 2RI % (7 G IR A 7l
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

Should there be any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail, except for the details of business review and outlook
under “Management Discussion and Analysis”, for which the Chinese version shall
prevail.
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Company Profile
2 ) i 4

Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited & 2R EE W
B AR AT] (formerly known as ZZ Technology Group Company
Limited FRIEEHYEE XD B A R)]) (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) (Stock Code: 08295)
is an investment holding company with its headquarter based in
Hong Kong. It was established in 2010 and is listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Group has acquired KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine")
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “KingNine Group”) on 15
October 2020 (the "Acquisition”), which constituted a very
substantial acquisition and connected transaction of the Company
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The KingNine Group’s
principal activities include the provision of the following services in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"):

(@)  Back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres);

(b)  Comprehensive marketing and agency services; and

(c) Data centre services.

Further information about the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.kwtech-group.com.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the 2024/2025 annual report of Kingwisoft
Technology Group Company Limited ©Z®H5 & BN EFE A R
(formerly known as ZZ Technology Group Company Limited FRiE 7}
HEERKRMDAER AR (the “Company”),and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the
“Year"/the “Reporting Period”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the global economic situations remained complex and
volatile, with prominent regional disparities and a still-weak
recovery. Factors such as escalating geopolitical conflicts, rising
trade protectionism, and the spread of debt crises contributed to
feeble growth momentum. Amidst this intricate external
environment, China’s economy achieved its target growth rate
thanks to the resilience of exports and supportive policies, but it
still faced multiple challenges, including insufficient domestic
demand and the pains of transforming old and new growth
drivers.

Facing the uncertainties of the global economy and the surging
tide of technological revolution, the Group has proactively
responded to changes. The Group has always insisted on
improving customer satisfaction and the healthy and sustainable
development of its business, building digital service capabilities,
and continuing to tap into the field of enterprise services,
expanding new service scenarios. The Group has also endeavoured
to embrace the cutting edge technologies such as Al with
continuous efforts on innovation and application of technologies
to provide customers with professional services. The Group aims
to ensure the smooth operation of its business and the growth of
its operating revenue.

The Group generated revenue of approximately RMB1,240.7
million for the financial year ended 31 March 2025, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB0.2 million compared to the
same period last year. In particular, revenue from back-office
services was approximately RMB1,190.5 million, accounting for
96.0% of our total revenue. Insisting on innovation is the long-
term strategy of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the reporting period, we continued to strengthen and
broaden our business relationships with leading clients in the fields
of Internet, finance and securities, manufacturing, retail, logistics.
Our top five clients remain fairly stable, including a large
commercial bank. Meanwhile, in terms of new clients and new
business development, we have acquired a number of clients and
service projects in the areas of data annotation, auditing and
commercialisation services through deepening our efforts in the
enterprise service market.

The Group, which has always adhered to independent innovation
and research and development, focuses on the innovation in
artificial intelligence and big data technologies and their
integration with and application in business scenarios, with
positive results achieved. The developed business scenarios cover
enterprise service business systems, digital operation and talent
management, training and practice, as well as merchant and
product efficiency management tools in the field of digital
marketing. During the reporting period, by virtue of its quality
professional services and leading innovation capability, the
Group’s companies obtained 2 new invention patents and a
number of software copyrights which are closely related to the
Group's business, with a cumulative total of 5 invention patents
and 350 software copyrights. The Group’s companies were
awarded as the “Enterprise Making Outstanding Contributions to
the Three-year Action for the All-round Revitalization and New
Breakthrough of Liaoning Province”, and once again obtained the
“Second Prize for Enterprise Management Innovation
Achievement” in Liaoning Province. In addition, a number of the
Group's companies were awarded the “Young Eagle Enterprise”,
which signifies that the Group’s continuous research and
development of technologies based on scenarios and its service
ability of assisting in the digital transformation of enterprises has
entered into a brand-new stage.

Furthermore, the Company actively responded to the business
changes brought about by new technologies such as artificial
intelligence and made preparations for expansion and upgrading
in advance in terms of personnel, equipment and working
environment. During the reporting period, the Group built and
reconstructed a number of self-operated contact service centres in
places such as Dalian, Chengdu, Yibin, etc. The total number of
completed workstations in the 52 self-operated contact service
centres amounted to 19,013. The Group has developed a
capability that serves a multi-dimensional network covering tier 1
to tier 4 cities and is able to fully satisfy the Company’s business
requirements in new service scenarios.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Review
Results of the Group

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB1,240.7
million for the Year (2024: approximately RMB1,240.9 million),
representing a decrease of approximately RMBO0.2 million
compared to that of last financial year.

B 7 Bl
AEBEEE
NEBRAFE B WAL ARE 1,240,700,000

L (20244 : 49 A R #1,240,900,0007T ) * &
& B R A =R D #9 A R 5 200,000 7T, ©

An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REEBMBASTIOT -
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFIT ARMTF T
Revenue from contracts with customers KEHEFEALZIA
Back-office services: BB R
Provision of customer service solutions RETERERERTE 1,188,765 1,185,861
Set up of contact service system and centres BT H AR AR TS R AR AR A 1,690 91
Subtotal /Net 1,190,455 1,185,952
Comprehensive marketing and agency services 2 [H & 85 & (L 12 R7E 22,859 32,585
Data centre services R LIRS 26,423 22,367
Total revenue from contracts with customers REBEAEHZBRA 1,239,737 1,240,904
Revenue from other sources 2K G E A R 2 WA
Gross rental income from investment property R EREMEKLHEZHS
operating leases WA 4858 917 -
Total revenue LI ON 1,240,654 1,240,904

During the Year, the Group incurred cost of services of approximately
RMB1,199.9 million (2024: approximately RMB1,113.0 million) which
primarily consisted of staff costs, subcontracting fees, rental expenses,
depreciation and amortisation. The Group has proactively prepared
for staff and equipment expansion, as well as workplace expansion
and construction, carried out new business and skill training for
staff, and orderly implemented staff rotation and equipment
renewal to actively respond to the business transformation
brought by new technologies such as artificial intelligence. The
transition between old and new businesses had led to an increase
in costs of business development during specific cycles, while
revenue has failed to grow synchronously immediately, resulting in
a decline in gross profit margin.

REAFE AEEBEERBERKEAHARE
1,199,900,000 7T, (2024 4F = #J A R #1,113,000,000
L) EERFEIRE - HEE - - HEHX -7
EREE AEEELAEERETAS  BHERE
BIERE  HABETHEBRNEEEIILEA
FREBAEERZE REENS  UBEBEHAL
BRSHMEMTERNOEEES - TEXEBILSE
BEBEREFTRANMKIE I - BRAKRSE
BRI ZPIG R - EEEFETE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net other income and gains for the Year was approximately
RMB19.6 million (2024: approximately RMB74.5 million). Such
decrease was mainly attributable to the gain of approximately
RMB52.3 million on disposal of 51% equity interest in Chengdu
ThinkMore Technology Co., Ltd. in the previous financial year.

Based on the assessment by the Company’s management of the
latest available information and the overall economic environment,
the Group recognised a non-cash impairment loss on goodwill of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of KingNine Group of
approximately RMB56.7 million (2024: approximately RMB224.8
million). The impairment loss on goodwill is a non-cash item and
does not have an impact on the Group's cash flows. Accordingly,
the Group’s goodwill has become fully impaired as at 31 March
2025.

The Company has consistently applied the income approach to
the valuation of the KingNine Group as at 31 March 2025 and
there have been no subsequent changes to the valuation method
used. The method is based on the principle that value in use can
be measured as the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived from an asset group used on an ongoing
basis. The income approach estimates future economic benefits
and discounts those benefits to their present value using an
appropriate discount rate that takes into account all risks
associated with realising those benefits.

The following table summarises the significant inputs to the
valuation of the KingNine Group CGU:

B BRI W S o3 i
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31 March 31 March
2025 2024
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Revenue growth rate W A K =
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Discount rate BLIR &

2.5%-6.4%
2.5% £6.4%
2%

19.2%

3%-11.4%
3% &11.4%
2.5%

21.6%
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group covering a
5-year period. Revenue growth rates were estimated ranging from
2.5% to 6.4% (2024: 3.0% to 11.4%) per annum for the
KingNine Group CGU throughout the 5-year budget plan, as
determined by management with reference to the historical
growth rates in prior years, adjusted by management’s outlook of
expected market development. The KingNine Group’s cash flows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a perpetual
growth rate of 2% (2024: 2.5%). This perpetual growth rate
approximates the long-term average growth rate of the relevant
business in Chinese Mainland, which is similar to the long-term
average inflation rate in Chinese Mainland.

Discount rate is estimated to be 19.2% (2024: 21.6%), which is
before tax and represents the current market assessment of the
risks specific to the KingNine Group CGU, taking into
consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the
underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash
flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the
specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments
and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (the
“"WACC"). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity.

The reason for significant changes in inputs, bases and key
assumptions for the year was the management of the Group has
made a conservative forecast of the future sales growth of the
KingNine Group. Due to complex environmental factors such as
the weakening of the global economy and slower-than-expected
growth of certain consumer product/service segments in the PRC,
the recovery of the PRC’s overall economy was disturbed, and the
growth of service demand from some of the KingNine Group’s
customers was at a slow pace, resulting in a slower growth rate of
revenue generated from the main business of the Group, which
incur the impairment loss on goodwill for the year.

Details of the Group’s impairment loss on goodwill are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements.

During the Year, the Group recorded net impairment losses on
financial assets of approximately RMB23.3 million (2024:
approximately RMB19.0 million) for the provision of expected
credit loss on accounts and other receivables.

ZETERAERAEEEEEMILERE AT
FBEENRSREE - REBERFEETE
N - KingNine &£ Bl IR & B 4 B A AL K E L
SN THF25%E64%(2024F 1 3.0%E114%) °
THEBESLEAFTNESRERMET LR
BERENTERMISERATSEITIE ° KingNine
SERFHMINBESRERAKBELREE2%
(2024 : 2.5%)HEH o FZKEIGREREFE A
HEEBHRIFEEERERES - BNEFPE A
MR BREEE °

BRI R (51 519.2% (20244 : 21.6%) » ZBHIR
ETREA B AKingNine EBIR S EA BT
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B o BRIRR IR AE B R ELL S BHIETER
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AEERTREERNF BRI BERRMEET -

RAFE - A%EEHE KRR & E b E UK
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SEEE A AR 23,300,000 7T (2024 F - Y AR
19,000,0007%) ©

10  KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4 445 45 [3 Bt 3 5 LA ]



Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group incurred marketing, research and development
expenses of approximately RMB67.9 million (2024: approximately
RMB52.0 million) in aggregate during the Year. Administrative
expenses for the Year was approximately RMB95.8 million (2024:
approximately RMB79.6 million). To address the application and
management needs of new business scenarios, the Group has
increased its investment in research and development related to
new businesses and adopted more refined project management,
leading to an increase in research and development expenses and
administrative expenses.

During the Year, the Group incurred finance costs of
approximately RMB19.5 million (2024: approximately RMB24.3
million) which mainly consisted of interests of bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The Group's income tax credit for the Year was approximately
RMB3.7 million (2024: income tax expense of approximately
RMB5.0 million) which mainly consisted of provision of PRC
Enterprise Income Tax of approximately RMB4.3 million (2024:
approximately RMB8.3 million), and an underprovision in prior
period of approximately RMB3.4 million (2024: overprovision of
approximately RMBO.5 million) and deferred tax credit of
approximately RMB11.3 million (2024: approximately RMB2.8
million).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately RMB207.7 million, whereas the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB197.4 million for the last financial year.

Basic losses per share for the Year was approximately RMB4.35
cents (2024: basic losses per share of approximately RMB4.13
cents), while diluted losses per share for the Year was the same as
basic losses per share of approximately RMB4.35 cents (2024:
diluted losses per share of approximately RMB4.13 cents).

The total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2025 decreased by
approximately RMB249.2 million to approximately RMB1,029.1
million as compared with that of approximately RMB1,278.3
million as at 31 March 2024. The total liabilities of the Group as at
31 March 2025 decreased by approximately RMB46.2 million to
approximately RMB411.4 million as compared with that of
approximately RMB457.6 million as at 31 March 2024. Net assets
as at 31 March 2025 was approximately RMB617.6 million (31
March 2024: approximately RMB820.7 million).

B BRI W S o3 i
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Capital Structure, liquidity and financial
resources

The Board monitors the Group’s capital structure by reviewing its
cash flow requirements and considering its future financial
obligations and commitments.

The Group’s operation and investments were financed by internal
resources, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings during the
Year.

As at 31 March 2025, aggregate of cash and bank balances,
restricted cash and pledged bank deposits of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB110.9 million (2024: approximately
RMB86.4 million), which were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and Renminbi (“RMB").

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB234.6 million (2024
approximately RMB198.0 million), which were mainly
denominated in RMB. The interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB26.0 million (2024:
approximately RMB198.0 million) are repayable within one year
with the rest are repayable more than one year. Details of the
interest rate structure are set out in Note 30 to the financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a current ratio of 4.8 and a
gearing ratio of 38.0% (2024: 2.2 and 24.1%, respectively). The
gearing ratio is computed by dividing the Group’s interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB234.6 million
(2024: approximately RMB198.0 million) by the Group's equity of
approximately RMB617.6 million (2024: approximately RMB820.7
million).

For foreign currency risk, the Group will continue to monitor its
foreign currency exposure and will consider using hedging
instruments if available in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Commitments

The Group and the Company did not have any significant
commitment as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2025, there were no interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group secured by any assets.

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had 14,377 employees including
Directors (2024: 13,446 employees). Total staff cost (including
Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB852.8 million. Employees’ remuneration packages are decided
based on their job responsibilities, local market benchmarks and
industry trends. Employee discretionary bonus is distributable
according to the performance of the respective subsidiaries and
employees concerned.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2024: Nil).

Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

The Group will focus on premium corporate clients in the Internet
and finance sectors to diversify its categories of services and
strengthen our customers’ stickiness, which in turn help the Group
to generate economies of scale and gain more market share.

The Group will look into our business development and consider
acquiring or investing in relevant assets which form synergistic
effects with our principal business as and when appropriate.
Through the acquisition and investment, the Group can expand its
services categories and premium customer base and strengthen
our capability in research and development, which in turn identify
and meet demands from customers in a view to raise our core
competitiveness and profitability.
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Material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies during the Year.

Outlook

In an overview of the domestic and global situation, as the
complexity, severity and uncertainty of the international situation
are increasing, the further recovery of the domestic economy is
subject to the difficulties and challenges such as insufficient
effective demand, overcapacity in some industries, weak social
expectations, and still more risks and potential dangers. The great
wheel of the times never stops due to wind and waves. In the
complex environment where global industrial chain restructuring
and market fluctuations coexist, the tide of artificial intelligence
and data elements is surging forward at an unprecedented speed.
They are reshaping industrial logic and bringing brand-new vitality.
Cross-industry or intra-industry integration is an irreversible trend
of industrial change in the era of the new technological revolution
and digital economy, and is also the inevitable path of modern
industrial development and evolution.

As the Group’s major clients are players from various service
industries such as finance and securities, operators and Internet,
they are expected to recover rapidly with the continued economic
recovery and the gradual rise of new endogenous momentum.
However, we will still face some difficulties and challenges such as
insufficient effective demand and increasingly complicated, severe
and uncertain external environment. At the same time, we also
see that Al technology is undergoing rapid and profound
evolution. Digital technologies are innovating consumption
scenarios, stimulating consumption vitality, and profoundly
transforming consumer behavior, bringing about innovative
business formats and models. Coupled with the release of
accumulated consumption demand and the active development of
new business forms in the service industry, this has also created
growing development space for the enterprise service industry in
which the company operates within this smart digital space. We
will pay close attention to the impact of macro policies and
emerging technologies on our clients’ businesses, and maintain
close communication with clients. We will take diversified
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Management Discussion and Analysis

measures to make active responses. Meanwhile, we will actively
explore and seek new business opportunities in the financial
industry and the Internet industry, actively grasp the good
opportunities for business development. In addition, we will
effectively expand its business presence in China and enhance
technology empowerment, through which drive business
innovation and improve profitability, to realise healthy growth,
thereby enhancing shareholder value.

The Group keeps working hard and opening up new territories in
the back-office services field. In addition to the organic growth of
orders from existing customers in the already penetrated industries
due to the business growth of customers, new orders have been
obtained in the operator service field and traditional financial field,
and from new leading Internet companies, and the Group has
orderly commenced the implementation of new businesses in
digital service fields such as data annotation and review. The
Group will continuously promote its participation in project
tendering, implementation and construction of self-operated
contact centres to provide personnel, sites and other special
supports for new orders to achieve revenue and profit
contribution.

In terms of Internet marketing, the Group will continue to expand
in the field of digital marketing services and fully integrate with its
existing Internet marketing and promotion capabilities and
experience. In exploring the integration of quality and
effectiveness, the Group will actively promote the integration and
linkage of marketing and back-office services. It will establish
presence in the field of local lifestyle and digital marketing
businesses while always striving to achieve the integration of
quality and effectiveness. Furthermore, the Group has acquired
several service clients in this business segment. The Company is
working on deeper integration of its established digital marketing
service capabilities with the new consumption scenarios, creating
a healthier ecology and enhancing its service capabilities to ensure
that the Group will have more confidence and strength in
weathering economic cycles and dealing with external impacts.
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APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank the
management members of the Board and all employees of the
Group for their efforts and contributions to the promotion of the
development of the Group in the past year. We also extend our
sincere thanks to our Shareholders and partners for their
continued support and trust. At the same time, | would like to
express my sincere gratitude for the valuable advice, guidance and
support provided by other relevant organizations.

By Order of the Board

QIU Xiaojian
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025

&

BB ERORHAREESTEEEEK
ENE2EETREFREEAKEERMTL
MENMELMER  THRMAOBRRAER
HREE I NERIUARREH S AN TIEE
ARBEMEHNEESR  HERIFRE
BRAAE

b

AEEE

a

HITEF
BB {2

&% 20256 A26H

16 KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4 £} 45 [3 Bt 3 5 LA ]



Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. QIU Xiaojian, aged 39, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in February 2023. Mr. QIU is also the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”). He also holds several directorships
in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. QIU has been serving as the director of Guolian Fund
Management Co.,Ltd. (Bl Bt & €& & 12 B R A 7)) since 5 May
2023 and the director of Hubei Mailyard Share Co., Ltd.* (j#1b3
MR D AR /A7), a company whose shares were listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600107), since May 2020
(re-designated as the non-independent director on 25 October
2022), the president of Zhonghai Shengrong (Beijing) Capital
Management Group Co., Ltd.* (FIER B (It ) EAEIREREE
R 2 7l) (“Zhonghai Shengrong”) since July 2020 and the co-
chairman of Zhongzhi Capital Management Co., Ltd.* (R {EE A
& 12 B R A &) since December 2022. Prior to that, Mr. QIU
worked as the chief financial officer in Zhonghai Shengrong from
January 2019 to July 2020, the chief financial officer in Zhongtai
Chuangzhan Holdings Co., Ltd.* (Fh ZE &l B 4= B A R 2 7))
("Zhongtai Chuangzhan”) from March 2016 to December 2018,
the general manager of Financial Operations Center in Zhongtai
Chuangzhan from December 2014 to March 2016, the deputy
general manager of Financial Operations Center in Zhongtai
Chuangzhan from December 2013 to December 2014, the senior
audit manager of Program Audit Centre in Zhongzhi Enterprise
Group* (7 18 & 2 % @) ("ZEG”) from July 2013 to December
2013, the senior investment manager of Financial Innovation
Department in ZEG from January 2013 to July 2013 and the
assistant manager of KPMG Huazhen LLP from September 2008
to January 2013. Mr. QIU graduated from Renmin University of
China with a bachelor’s degree of Economics in June 2008.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. HU Shilong, aged 43, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in November 2023. Mr. HU is also the chief
executive officer of the Company. He also holds several
directorships in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. HU is the sole director of NINEGO Corporation, an existing
shareholder of the Company holding approximately 4.45%
shareholding interest in the Company. He is also a shareholder
holding approximately 32.91% shareholding interest in Dalian
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (KE&ERERHERH AR A
A]) ("DaLian Kingwisoft”). He joined Dalian Kingwisoft in January
2014 and has acted as the legal representative since October
2015. Prior to joining DaLian Kingwisoft, Mr. HU served as the
manager of operating centre of Shanghai Hewlett-Packard Co.,
Ltd. (Dalian Branch)* ( /& B EBR A Al ( X&EH A 7)) from
July 2004 to September 2008. From September 2008 to
November 2013, Mr. HU served as the China regional sales
director of Neusoft Cloud Technology Co., Ltd.* (SREIERI AR
NEIDN

In 2019, Mr. HU was included as a scientific and technological
innovation and entrepreneurship talent in the Innovative Talents
Promotion Program of the Ministry of Science and Technology of
the People’s Republic of China. Mr. HU was honoured as an
"Excellent Entrepreneur in Liaoning Province” in 2020 and one of
the “20th anniversary Outstanding Entrepreneur in Liaoning'’s
Software Industry”. In 2022, Mr. HU was honoured as a leading
talent in China’s digital services and service outsourcing, and a
high-level talent (leading talent) in Dalian city. He has more than a
decade of marketing and management experience in multinational
IT companies. Mr. HU obtained his bachelor’s degree in Japanese
from Liaoning Normal University in 2004.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. LI Xiang, aged 36, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in February 2023. Mr. LI is also an authorized
representative of the Company. He also holds several directorships
in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. LI has been serving as the deputy general manager of
Investment Department in Zhonghai Shengrong from January
2017 to February 2023. Prior to that, Mr. LI worked as the deputy
manager of Corporate Business Department in Industrial Bank
Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch* (B ZIRTTA M A R 2 RIRYID 1T)
from April 2015 to January 2017. Mr. LI graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology with a bachelor’s degree of Electrical
Engineering & Automation in July 2012. He also received a
master’s degree in Electrical and Electronic Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in November 2014.

Ms. ZHOU Fang, aged 41, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in November 2023.

Ms. ZHOU is interested in 113,560,919 shares of the Company
through FUNGHWA Ltd. ("FUNGHWA"), and is holding
approximately 9.47% shareholding interest in DaLian Kingwisoft.
She has been the president of Dalian Kingwisoft since November
2013. Prior to joining DaLian Kingwisoft, Ms. ZHOU served as the
assistant to the China regional sales director of Neusoft Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.* (R & Z &l & & R A &) from December
2009 to December 2013. From May 2007 to December 2009, Ms.
ZHOU served as the head of business department of Dalian First
HITE.Enterprise H.R. Service Co., Ltd.* (KEFHEFS AL R
& B B B A 7). Ms. ZHOU obtained her Executive MBA from
Guanghua School of Management, Peking University in 2021. Ms.
ZHOU was honoured with the title of Excellent Entrepreneur of
Dalian Software and Information Technology Service Industry in
2023.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

Ms. LIU Xiaochen, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in February 2024. Ms. LIU is also a
director, legal representative or manager of certain subsidiaries of
the Group.

Since May 2016 to date, Ms. LIU has been the deputy general
manager and senior vice president of Dalian Kingwisoft. From July
2014 to April 2016, she served as the general manager of the ITO
business division of Dalian Kingwisoft. From March 2009 to June
2014, she served as a senior sales manager and consultant of
Neusoft Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. From January 2005 to March
20009, she served as a senior marketing specialist at Shanghai
HEWLETT-PACKARD Co., Ltd.

Mr. XU Gang, aged 53, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in February 2024. Mr. XU is also a director of Dalian
Kingwisoft of the Group, and holds positions of director, legal
representative or manager of other certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Since March 2016 to date, Mr. XU has been the general manager
of the CS business division and the senior vice president of Dalian
Kingwisoft. From October 2005 to February 2016, he served as an
operation director of the BPO business division of Yih Dar
Technologies Co., Ltd. From May 2003 to September 2005, he
worked in the BPO operation team of Dalian Fanrun
Communication System Co. Ltd.* (RiEZHBERFBRAT).
From July 1994 to July 2002, he served as the sales team leader
and technical director of Nidec Dalian Co. Ltd.* (AZAREEAEHR
[RAR]).

Mr. WANG Rui, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in February 2024. Mr. WANG is also a director,
legal representative or manager of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Since June 2016 to date, Mr. WANG has been the general
manager of Chengdu Kingwisoft and senior vice president of
Dalian Kingwisoft. From February 2010 to May 2016, he served as
a sales director and deputy general manager of Sichuan Baihe
Guoli Information Network Co., Ltd.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZENG Liang, aged 51, joined the Group in April 2021 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. ZENG is a well-known Internet entrepreneur and angel
investor. He has extensive experience in strategic planning,
business development and operation management in industries
such as digital marketing, mobile Internet and artificial intelligence
applications. Mr. ZENG served as senior vice president of Kingdee
International Software Group Company Limited from 2003 to
2010. He worked for Microsoft as vice president of Greater China
Region from 2010 to 2013 and was responsible for the
development of government, education and medical industries in
the region. From 2013 to 2017, he held several executive positions
including vice president of Baidu Inc. and general manager of
Baidu Nuomi. Mr. ZENG obtained Master of Science both in
Management and in Engineering from Georgia Institute of
Technology in USA. In addition, he holds another Master of
Science in Engineering degree from Tsinghua University in Beijing.

Mr. WANG Li, aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in October 2022. Mr. WANG is
a registered lawyer in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. WANG has been serving as a managing partner and an
executive director of Beijing Qincheng Consulting Service
Company Limited* (1t 53R 5 RS AR A F)) since September
2019, where he is fully responsible for the operation of the
company. Prior to that, he worked as the deputy general manager
of the human resources centre of Beijing Wanda Cultural Industry
Group Co., Ltd.* (bR EEXLEXEEBRAF]) from August
2015 to August 2019, the secretary of the General Office and the
deputy researcher of the Government departments from July 2011
to July 2015, and an assistant lawyer of Haiwen & Partners (Beijing
Office) from September 2010 to June 2011. Mr. WANG obtained
a bachelor’s degree of science in atmospheric sciences from
Nanjing University in 2007 and received a master’s degree in law
from Peking University in 2011.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. YANG Hongjun, age 42, joined the Group in August 2024
as an independent non-executive director of the Company, a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

From May 2022 to present, Mr. YANG is the executive Director,
general manager and statutory representative of Baoyuan (Ningbo)
Holdings Co.,Ltd.* (Bt (ZH) ZEARER2AR]). From February
2017 to present, Mr. YANG is the general manager, Chairman
and statutory representative of Shandong Beisheng Investment
Management Co., Ltd. From June 2016 to November 2023, Mr.
YANG has served as the director and deputy general manager of
Royal Group Co.,Ltd. From 2009 to present, Mr. YANG is the
Chairman and Founder of Zhejiang Perfect Online Network
Technology Company Limited* (#1) I FEEERAERHIBR AR]).
From 2004 to 2009, Mr. YANG was the deputy general manager
of Zhejiang Lingke Network Technology Company Limited* (41T
ERHBEEI R AR A F]). Mr. YANG obtained his bachelor’s
degree in Laws from Ningbo University and Master’s degree
(EMBA) in Business Administration from Zhejiang University.

Ms. LI Guiying, aged 53, joined the Group in August 2024 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company, the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Nomination Committee.

From 2014 to 2024, Ms. LI served as Vice President and financial
Director of Neusoft Cloud Technology Co., Ltd.* (REXERI AR
73A]). From 2006 to 2014, she served as the finance Minister and
financial Director of Neusoft Cloud Technology Co., Ltd.* (GREE
BB AF]). Ms. LI obtained her Master’s degree in Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics. Ms. LI is a non-practicing
member of China Certified Public Accountants (CPA) and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA).

*  For identification purposes only
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of back-office services (primarily provision of customer
service solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres), comprehensive marketing and agency services and data
centre services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong has been covered in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section as well as this Directors’ Report
of this annual report. Risk disclosure sections that follow hereafter
should be read in conjunction with the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. These form part of this directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Compliance Risk

Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group,
as a client service outsourcer, will obtain a large amount of
personal information from clients. According to the contracts
signed between the Company and clients and in compliance with
the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Regulations on the Protection of Personal Information of
Telecommunications and Internet Users, the Group is responsible
for keeping all relevant information confidential.
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Although the Company has implemented strict internal control
procedures to ensure the security and confidentiality of the
database, it cannot guarantee that the personal information of
clients will not be leaked or stolen. Leakage of confidential
information due to employee errors will expose the Group to
claims from clients. At the same time, in the unfortunate event of
leakage of client information, the worst thing is that existing or
potential clients may lose confidence in the Group’s ability to keep
information confidential, which will have a negative impact on the
Group's corporate image and market position in the industry.

The Company’s Awareness of Risks and the Measures
It Has Taken

The Group takes quite strict measures to ensure information
confidentiality, in order to minimise the risk of information
leakage.

The contracts signed between the Company and clients include
confidentiality clauses. It needs to strictly keep project information
confidential in accordance with the contract terms. Once a new
project is established and the Company has signed a contract with
the client, only authorised employees have access to the
information, and other employees is not allowed to access relevant
project information. Service contracts are sent to an independent
file room for safekeeping by a designated person. In general,
service contracts cannot be taken out. If a relevant employee
needs to check the contracts, he/she needs the approval of the
relevant department head. A person shall record the lending of
the contracts. Employees cannot take away confidential
information without authorisation.

In addition, all employees are required to sign a confidentiality
agreement when joining the Company to prohibit unauthorised
disclosure of confidential information of the Company. In case of
any violation, the employee involved will be held liable for legal
and financial consequences.

The Company has been certified for its information security
system, and has passed the annual review. During the financial
year, the Group has not found any leakage of confidential client
information. The Group attaches great importance to and abides
by the terms of the confidentiality agreement to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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Each employee must “punch in and out”. The apps or mini
programmes in the smartphone are used to strengthen employees’
whereabouts record, with a view to reducing the risk of leakage
of confidential information.

The Group has also obtained the ISO 27001 Information Security
Management System Certification.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Please refer “Contractual Arrangements — Risks
Relating to the Contractual Arrangements” from pages 40 to 41
of this report for details.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources. The Group commits to
maintain awareness within the Group of the responsibility of the
Group and its employees to ensure protection of the environment.
For example, purchasing the environmentally preferable products
with reputable certifications or labels, transmission of bulk
documents through electronic means, marking up of documents
electronically rather than using printed version, double-sided black
& white printing, recycling of printed papers and envelops, and
switching off lights and air-conditioning after working/non-office
hours, public holidays.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules,
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose
challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands and The
People’s Republic of China, as well as under the GEM Listing Rules
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong (“SFO").
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The Group has also adopted a whistleblowing policy for reporting
of wrong-doing within the Group. The whistleblowing policy can
be found in the Group’s compliance manual which is regularly
reviewed and updated as and when necessary.

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group has developed and implemented a remuneration
structure which is a key for the Group to attract and retain the
best talents. Details of emolument policy and employee benefits
are set out in the section headed “Employees and remuneration
policies” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. There have been no material interruptions to
operations nor any material labour disputes to date. In addition,
the Group encourages and supports employees to attend courses,
seminars and workshops that are relevant to their jobs to obtain
up-skills so as to keep them challenged and engaged as well as
assist the Group’s sustainable business success.

The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, company website, financial reports and the
annual general meeting, the Group has significantly improved its
transparency and communication with its shareholders. The
controlling shareholder has also been very supportive and
resourceful in growing the business and mindful of all
shareholders’ interests to see the Company succeed.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 85 to 93 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in June 2019 (the
“Dividend Policy”). The declaration, form, frequency and amount
of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. When considering dividend declaration or recommendation,
the Board shall take into account a number of factors, including
but not limited to the Group’s business condition and strategy,
capital requirement; and earnings, financial and cash flow
position, and distributable reserves.
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Having considered the factors stated in the Dividend Policy
adopted by the Company, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the Year (2024: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 12 August 2025 to Friday, 15 August 2025 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 11 August 2025.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and accumulated loss amounted to approximately RMB13.8
million (31 March 2024: approximately RMB96.3 million). Details
of the Company's distributable reserves as at 31 March 2025 are
set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. QIU Xiaojian (Chairman)

Mr. HU Shilong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LI Xiang

Ms. ZHOU Fang

Ms. LIU Xiaochen

Mr. XU Gang

Mr. WANG Rui

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZENG Liang
Mr. WANG Li
Mr. YANG Hongjun
(appointed on 23 August 2024)
Ms. LI Guiying
(appointed on 23 August 2024)
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(resigned on 23 August 2024)
Mr. ZHANG Weidong
(resigned on 23 August 2024)

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 17 to 22 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there was no
change in information of Directors required to be disclosed for the
Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the

directors of the Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong
("SFO™)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long positions in share of the Company RAEDNBRGOHEFE
Approximate
percentage of
Name of director/ Number of shareholding
chief executive Capacity shares held in the Company
A2 R RER
Ex= BRTHABHESE 514 FERAHAE BAED
Mr. Hu Shilong (“Mr. Hu") (Note 1 & 2) Interest of controlled corporation 212,640,219 4.45%
At BE SR (TRRE AR D) (Mt 1 X% 2) ZEEENER
Interest of a party to a voting 2,865,644,243 60.00%
rights entrustment deed
RERRELZFTRE—TH
Rz
Ms. Zhou Fang (“Ms. Zhou") (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 113,560,919 2.38%

B (TE=L ) (HFE3)
Notes:
1. These shares were held directly by NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGO"). NINEGO

is held by Mr. Hu as to 40.60%. As Such, Mr. Hu is deemed to be interested
in 212,640,219 shares of the Company held by NINEGO by virtue of the SFO.
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2. On 28 August 2023, Mr. Hu, Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Limited
("Zhongzhi Xinzhuo") and Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited (“Kang
Bang (HK)") entered into a voting rights entrustment deed, pursuant to which
each of Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) has entrusted the voting
rights over all of its 2,409,823,718 shares of the Company and 455,820,525
shares of the Company respectively to Mr. Hu. As such, Mr. Hu is deemed to
be interested in an aggregate of 2,865,644,243 shares of the Company held
by Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) by virtue of the SFO.

3. These shares were held directly by FUNGHWA Ltd. (“FUNGHWA").
FUNGHWA is held by Ms. Zhou as to 100%. As Such, Ms. Zhou is deemed to
be interested in 113,560,919 shares of the Company held by FUNGHWA by
virtue of the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:

2. 7202348 A28 H * A% - Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital
Company Limited([ Zhongzhi Xinzhuo |) & i FB 25 48 (&% )
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Long positions in share of the Company RAEDTRGHEE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
EARD B RER
BRREE, HE &4 FERGEE BOBEDL
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Beneficial owner 2,409,823,718 50.46%
Limited (“Zhongzhi Xinzhuo") (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company EmHERA
Limited ([ Zhongzhi Xinzhuo 1) (A¥7E 1)
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited Beneficial owner 455,820,525 9.54%

("Kang Bang (HK)") (Note 1)
FEHEE(EE)BRRAA BEmlEA A
(TEAB(EB)D(HaET)
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
54D B RER
BRRERB HE 54 R GEE BOBEDL
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation  2,865,644,243 60.00%
("Tian Xi Capital”) (Note 1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited SRS A B RS
([Tian Xi Capital ) (Kfat 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 60.00%
("Ze Yun Capital”) (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited ZESEENEE
([Ze Yun Capital ]) (Kfat 1)
Mr. XIE Zhikun* (“Mr. Xie"”) (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 60.00%
fRERSTAE ([RREE D (Mat1) R EE RS
Gfly Ltd (Note 2) Beneficial owner 437,500,000 9.16%
Gfly Ltd (A#zF2) BEmEAA
LVYY Cayman Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
LVYY Cayman Limited (K1z£2) AR A B AR
LVYY Holding Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
LVYY Holding Limited (A& 2) XESEE R
Mr. Lyu Wenyang (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
Lyu Wenyang 5t 4 (ff5# 2) SAEHAE AR
NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGQO") (Note 3) Beneficial Owner 212,640,219 4.45%
NINEGO Corporation ([ NINEGOJ) (A3t 3) EmHEAA
Ms. Liu Yingying (“Ms. Liu”) (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 212,640,219 4.45%

Blaeg it (18It (AL 3)

#Mr. Xie passed away on 18 December 2021.
*ORRSEAERN 2021412 A 18 Bttt o

REHAE R
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Notes:

1. Each of Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tian Xi Capital. Ze Yun Capital, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Xie, controls 100% of the voting power at general meetings of Tian Xi
Capital. As such, each of Tian Xi Capital, Ze Yun Capital and Mr. Xie is
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,865,644,243 shares of the
Company held by Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) by virtue of the
SFO.

2. Gfly Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of LVYY Cayman Limited. LVYY
Cayman Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of LVYY Holding Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Lyu Wenyang. As such, each of LVYY
Cayman Limited, LVYY Holding Limited and Mr. Lyu Wenyang is deemed
to be interested in 437,500,000 shares of the Company held by Gfly Ltd by
virtue of the SFO.

3. NINEGO is held by Ms. Liu as to 59.40%. As such, Ms. Liu is deemed to be
interested in 212,640,219 shares of the Company held by NINEGO by
virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries or
its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of such ultimate
holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

e

1. Zhongzhi Xinzhuo & EZ B (&%) 3 A Tian Xi Capital 9
2 &M BT o Ze Yun Capital (FRELE 2 EHBHAF])
P2l Tian Xi Capital RR K@M 2 PR ERE - Bt - R
EFEHREE KD - Tian Xi Capital » Ze Yun Capital &
R 55 A A8 B 7 Zhongzhi Xinzhuo B FE (F8) &
BHARAR2,865,644,243 RARD R HEG M ©

2. Gfly Ltd &LVYY Cayman Limited 2 2 E KB 2R F] ° LVYY
Cayman Limited &LVYY Holding Limited (Lyu Wenyang
FERERANATHEZENB AR - Bt - RIEFE
% R HE & 6] - LVYY Cayman Limited * LVYY Holding
Limited }2 Lyu Wenyang %t 4 & B #48 AR Gfly Ltd45 A
#9437,500,000 fR A 2X RIRE A7 o HE B #E 2 o

3. NINEGO 217z +-4% 75 59.40% #Ez - MARIEE S BT
&0 » B2 4% B NINEGO FriF AR A 7] 212,640,219
B A&AD P A M o

B E IR EES - R202563A31H 1
THBEEMEMALT (RRARESTAESTHRAR
BN AR RIRE D s AR RERR 15 P HE B BRI F 5
NMEREEHEXVEE 2R FE 3D S IEAAR T
WERALBEARABREESF B EENE
36HEETFUGFENEDMOERIAE &
EXEEEANSENINAEBER TEASEE
EAKERRMBRERT R ERERERRA
EER) 5% 3 LA HH#ES -

BEROIEEIENZ G

ARAE - EMBRARRERKEZER AR X ABR
AR R X B B AR AT PR /B8 8 B AN F 2 AR (A By R AL
BRI LZH  BREEFRAEBARRFRE
A B AR B 2 B s (B RE T # ok ©
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. ZENG Liang, Mr. WANG Li, Mr. YANG
Hongjun and Ms. LI Guiying who were in service during the Year,
and has received annual confirmations of their independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. These written
confirmations also covered the immediate family members (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of each of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Company considers all of them
independent.
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BRAFRABREES RAFREEMER - AR
) 2l B AR B 8 2 ) B30 48 S 4 i R sl L AR BRY
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R B A Rl A AR B S B AR A E & BHR AR
BRI EREZEH -

BYFHITES

RAFIEERRAZECRASTELIFNITES
(DRERAFEARMNZEREE - THEE 15
HEEERTHERLZL)NBYE  WEKREIEE
1R1% GEM F T #R B 55 5.09 (§ 5t i B IR
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The transactions contemplated under the series of contractual
arrangements entered into by, among others, WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft, and Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying, Ms. Zhou Fang
and Changzhou Xiangjia Zhongzhou Investment Centre Limited
Partnership* (B MHFHR AIRE RO (BREE)) (the “Registered
Shareholders”) on 12 June 2020 (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
are non-exempt continuing connected transactions, which are
subject to reporting, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, and in
particular the definition of “connected person”, the entities we
control through the Contractual Arrangements (collectively, the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”), including but not limited to,
Dalian Kingwisoft, Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.*
(FEP S 23S BUR RSB R A 7)), Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd.* (B E2EmME B AR A A, Kunshan Kingwisoft
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (B4 ZZ BRI AR AR,
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (44L& ZRERIBER
A7), Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (&[5
S EH BRI AR AR, Dalian Nanyou Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* (REFEEZEFMARAF], formerly known as 55
{5 BT AR A R]), Dalian Kingwisoft Internet Service
Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* (KESERME BEREINEER A F),
Mianyang Kingwisoft Internet Service Co,. Ltd.* (43F5 & 2 5 B 49
AR EBR 2 8]) and Dalian Zhiyin Internet Technology Co., Ltd.*
(KEEIRE AR AR AR, are treated as the Company’s
subsidiaries, and their directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and their
respective associates are treated as the Company’s connected
persons.

* for identification purpose only

B

INEBELE KBS BHEIPMERELE  BILE
Z+ AFZERENIETRARERL(BRE
) ([ERRRE ] ER2020F6 A 12 BHEI L &5
AHLZEBE(AOTHDETRETR S BIERE
BEMES S BESGEM EmRRE203E
B FEEMRBLREMERTE -

FLGEM EMRRIE208ME - LEREEAL]
MR RMEBAORHEFNER (5[5
RMBER]  BEETRRRNEERE  K#z
EREEERFEERAF  REZZREMREA
RAA - BRUEEBEEMBRARAR U2
MEMRBRLAF  EBHSEZEBRBEMNRBRA
A REEBEEXMERAR (AHESESEEIE
BRMERRAT)  KELEREBERBINEE
BAFE - @SS EMERBERARALRKNER
REBBEHMZBERAT - HROARFZMER
A BEEE S TBRABRTERR(EER
GEMEMRA) R RESEBNBEAGRNAR
AIREATL ©
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

As advised by the PRC legal advisor, in accordance with the
Telecommunication Regulations of the PRC ((#F#E A R £ FIBIE
fZ1641)) (the “Telecommunication Regulations”) promulgated on
25 September 2000, and most recently amended on 6 February
2016, by the State Council of the PRC, a service provider is
required to obtain a value-added telecommunication business
operating license ((3G{EEEFTFACLFTAIFE)) (“VATS Licence”)
from the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the
PRC (the “MIIT") or its authorised local counterpart before
commencing the provision of value-added telecommunication
services (“VAT Services”). Further, under the Catalogue of
Telecommunication Business ((E {5 %75 %8 B £%)) promulgated
on 28 December 2015, and most recently amended on 6 June
2019, by MIIT (the “Telecommunication Catalogue”), call centre
services is a type of VAT Services, thus any provider of call centre
services in China is required to obtain a VATS Licence before
commencing its operation.

In accordance with the Telecommunication Catalogue:

(i) call centre services mean business consultation, information
consultation and data query services regarding an entity for
the end-users of such entity through public communication
network by: (a) utilising call centre system which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet;
(b) utilising database technology; and (c) establishing
information base through information collection, processing
and storage;

(i) users of call centre services may: (a) enter into a call centre
system and gain access to the database of the call centre
system through multiple channels such as telephone, fax,
mobile communication terminals and computer terminals;
and (b) receive information consultation services by multiple
means such as voice, fax, email and text messages; and

(iiiy  call centre services also include leasing of call centre system
and workstations of call centre operators.
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Furthermore, under the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunication Enterprises ( {4MERE E(Z
PEEEHTE) ) (the “FITE Regulations”) promulgated on 11
December 2001, and amended on 10 September 2008, 6
February 2016, 29 March 2022, by the State Council and the
Administrative Measures for Telecommunication Business
Operating Permit ( (BEEEBLELEFUEENE) ) (the
“Telecommunication Measures”) promulgated on 3 July 2017 by
MIIT:

(i) the establishment of a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of any VAT
Services in China must be approved by the MIIT or its
authorised local counterparts;

(i) the holder of a VATS Licence is required to obtain the
approval of the MIIT and/or its authorised local counterparts
if there is any change to the shareholders of such holder;
and

(i)  prior to the effective date of the latest amendments to the
FITE Regulations, which was on 1 May 2022, the main
foreign investor in a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of VAT Services
must satisfy the Qualification Requirement of VATS,
including, a proven track record of good performance, and
operating experience, in carrying on value-added
telecommunication business.

On 29 March 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to
Amend and Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations (the “2022
Decision”), which makes amendments to the FITE Regulations.
The amendments include, among others, removing the good
performance and operating experience for main foreign investors
in a foreign-invested telecommunication enterprise which
conducting VAT Services as set out in the FITE Regulations.

pEoh - IREE K F 2001 €12 811 BES LR
20089 A10H 2016F2 A6 H K&20224 3 A
9HEFTMGIMEIREBETEEERAT) ([
REEECERTE N RIEHN 201747 A38
EHHC(EEEBRSETNEREIE) ([EEFH
A1)

()  FEFBERZESRETARESERSOI
BREBELR VARG T EA s ERE
TTHEBEVRLAE |

(i)  NIBEBERBEFABRHAANRRELE

A2 E) - ARG TEP R LERET
HREERLE &

(iiy F2022F5 A1 BINEIREEELEREN
RIS EMBHA > HEREEESER
BN IR E B EEEN T BINEEEE Y
AMEIREEERBEELE R REERSE
BEBEES TAFERTEEMCEER
B R IFEE RO -

720223 298 » BUE 28 M (B B Bl i &
IR LE BB DI TBUE IR AR EN([2022 FRE]) -
HINGIRE B ERFERTEMELIER - ZFEFE
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EESERBOIIEEEEELEN T EINIE
KREEBEBRITEBENCELRIIRTE °
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As advised by the PRC legal advisor, the business operated by the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group (the “Dalian Kingwisoft Business”),
comprising the back-office services (primarily provision of
customer service solutions and setting up of contact service system
and centres), can be further categorised into:

(i)  business consultation, information consultation and data
query services on behalf of an entity for the customers of
such entity (such as general enquiry hotlines, customer
service hotlines, post-sale follow-up services and customer
satisfaction surveys) by utilising call centre system (which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet)
and/or database technology (the “Contact Services”);

(i) information processing, business consultation and other
customised business process outsourcing services on behalf
of an entity for the customers of such entity (such as order
processing, audio and video review and image processing)
by utilising call centre system (which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet) and/or database
technology (the “Call Center-related BPO Services”); and

(i)  designing, installing, testing and trial-testing contact service
systems and centres which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet for an entity, and
providing software and hardware support for such contact
service system and centres, in each case with a view to, or in
connection with, providing Contact Services on behalf of
such entity for the customers of such entity (the “Contact
Service System and Centres Set-up Services”).

As each of the Contact Services, the Call Center-related BPO
Services and the Contact Service System and Centres Set-up
Services involves the provision of services by the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group on behalf of an entity for the customers of such entity
through public communication network by:

(i) utilising call centre system which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet;
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(i) utilising database technology; and

(i) establishing information base through information
collection, processing and storage,

the provision of the Dalian Kingwisoft Business by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group constitutes the provision of call centre services,
one type of VAT Services, by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group.
Therefore, in accordance with the Telecommunication Regulations,
the DaLian Kingwisoft Group is required to hold VATS Licences in
order to operate the Dalian Kingwisoft Business.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of our
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Qualification Requirements

In addition to restrictions on foreign ownership, prior to the
effective date of the latest amendments to the FITE Regulations,
which was on 1 May 2022, there are also regulatory requirements
on the experience and operations of a foreign investor who intends
to operate a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC.
As at the date of this report, the MIIT retains considerable discretion
in granting approval of applications for establishing foreign-invested
value-added telecommunications enterprises.

(i) FABIRERM - &

(i) KBEBRE NI GREZIERE
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Effects and Actions Undertaken to Comply with
the Qualification Requirements

The Group has been gradually building up the track record of
overseas VAT Services operations by undertaking the following

steps:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

As at the date of this report, the Group has been rewarded
through its cooperation with its international partners, and
commenced working on certain projects to provide offshore
customer support services in foreign languages, including
Japanese and English. The Group plans to continue
expanding its offshore customer support services business
involving foreign languages in overseas markets;

The Group is strengthening its close cooperation relationship
with its international partners, such as SoftBank, with the
aim of gradually exploring business opportunities and
developing its customer base overseas. The Group also plans
to build up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operation by obtaining overseas projects through
collaboration between its onshore and offshore entities; and

It is the Group’s strategy to identify suitable offshore
companies with proper value-added telecommunications
services operation and acquire a controlling stake in such
companies in future, in order to build up its track record of
overseas VAT Services operation.

We will continue to actively manage the operation of the Group
and procure the Group to continue carrying out the above steps
for the purpose of being qualified, as early as possible, to acquire
the entire shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft when the relevant
PRC Laws and authorities allow foreign investors to invest and
hold interest in enterprises which engage in VAT Services.
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In addition, the Group has taken the following steps with a view
to gradually building up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operations, demonstrating compliance with the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, and being qualified, as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest in the registered capital of DaLian
Kingwisoft when there is clear guidance and interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement of VATS under applicable PRC Laws,
regulations and rules and when, as a matter of regulatory policy
and practice, the MIIT and its authorised local counterparts will
accept and approve applications by the members of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group which engage in the provision of VAT Services
to be converted into foreign invested telecommunication
enterprises which engage in the provision of VAT Services:

(i) the Group is in the process of registering trademarks outside
the PRC for the purpose of promoting VAT Services
operations outside the PRC;

(i) the Group has registered one domain name outside the PRC
for the purpose of introducing VAT Services operations
outside the PRC to users outside the PRC; and

(i) the Group has obtained a local phone number in Hong
Kong for the purpose of promoting VAT Services operations
outside the PRC.

We will, under the guidance of the PRC legal advisor, make
periodic enquiries with the relevant PRC governmental authorities
to understand whether there is any new regulatory development
and continuously assess whether we meet the requirements
imposed by PRC government authorities, if applicable.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
160 to 167 of the circular dated 18 September 2020 (the
“Circular”) published by the Company.

o Substantial uncertainties and restrictions exist with respect
to the interpretation and application of PRC laws and
regulations relating to the provision of contact services in
China.
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We rely on Contractual Arrangements with the DalLian
Kingwisoft Group and its shareholders for its business
operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

Any failure by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group or its
shareholders to perform their obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements would have a material adverse
effect on our business, and the domestic shareholder may
have potential conflicts of interest with us.

Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed,
which could negatively affect our financial condition and the
value of the investment.

We conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business in the PRC
through the Dalian Kingwisoft Group by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
PRC laws.

Our exercise of the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of the Dalian Kingwisoft Group may subject to
certain limitation and we may need to expend significant
resources to acquire all or part of the equity interests in the
DaLian Kingwisoft Group from the respective equity holders.

The WFOE may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group that are material to the
operation of certain portions of its business if the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group goes bankrupt or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the PRC Foreign
Investment Law and how it may impact the viability of our
current corporate structure, corporate governance and
business operations.

Directors’ Report
wHR RN

HPMREERES S EE M EBRRAARI A
BRRPETEEREE  AUREREE
EH EAIBE N R E AR AR -

EARESSEERERRRERBITENL
BRTRFNEFEHRMNIHEREX
IR K Bl B R AT B R AP A A TR AE R

HER -

BRTHRIEAXTENBREES - AR
BEBBMNERIMA IR - BRI BE I FAPIRO RA AR
AREEBEENAEEE

RPN LRHFETRNEBRNESSRERT
BHRAESZES  BROTHNE TR
ARG T RERIET BDAR@HBT

B EERTENRBENES S REN
BHENREEETETRG - MERMAKFTHR
REERNAABEEaRAARBRESS
KB 2 E RS Btk

WAEEZEBEMRERTRNBEEIS
BEEREF IBBELFAREREERAR
FERESSREMFHER T XKL
BEMERNEEMRET -

(REARKMBNHREL HRBRE
5 AR B IR B B E BT AT
B DEEEREBRENEENGES
KRR -

2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT 4E3it 41



Directors’ Report
o ol

Contractual Arrangements in Place

A brief description of the major terms of the Contractual
Arrangements which were in place during the Year is as follows:

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement was entered into
between the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020,
pursuant to which DaLian Kingwisoft agrees to engage the WFOE
as its exclusive provider of business support, technical and
consulting services, including technical services, network support,
business consultation, intellectual property licensing, equipment
leasing, market consultancy, system integration, product research
and development and system maintenance, in exchange for
service fees. Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the service fees, subject to the WFOE's adjustment, are equal to
the net profit of DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. The WFOE
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, after taking into
account certain factors, including but not limited to the deduction
of necessary costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contribution for the corresponding fiscal year, and may also
include accumulated losses of Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries from previous financial periods. The service fees shall
be transferred to the designated account of the WFOE upon
issuance of payment notification by the WFOE. The WFOE enjoys
the entire economic benefits derived from the businesses of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries, and bears relevant risks of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. If DaLian Kingwisoft runs
into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, the
WEFOE will provide financial support to DaLian Kingwisoft.

In line with the services it provides, the WFOE has employed
relevant personnel primarily providing consulting and technical
services to Dalian Kingwisoft. In addition, the WFOE's primary
operating assets will be IT facilities, network and equipment,
which support its provision of services to Dalian Kingwisoft under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. The WFOE and its
subsidiaries also engage in comprehensive marketing and agency
services and data centre services businesses.
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Both the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft have internal control
measures in place, which mainly include measures with respect to
accounts payable and receivable, which require the review and
approval by the relevant department(s) of the WFOE and DalLian
Kingwisoft to confirm the services provided by the WFOE and
received by Dalian Kingwisoft. Further, to ensure that the WFOE
will not engage in the Dalian Kingwisoft Business or any other
restricted business in the PRC, the WFOE has set up an internal
control procedure, which requires the senior staff member of
relevant departments to review the business to be entered into by
the WFOE.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal
course of business of Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
WEFOE will have the exclusive and proprietary rights to all
intellectual properties developed by Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries, given that the WFOE provides consultation services to
DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries during the term of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. Part of the economic
benefits generated by Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries will
be intellectual properties developed or created during the normal
business operation of DaLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Though it is not intended to transfer any existing intellectual
property rights held by Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft is required under the Contractual Arrangements to
obtain the WFOE's prior written consent before it transfers,
assigns or disposes of any of the intellectual properties to any third

party.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement is for an initial
term of ten years and shall be automatically extended upon expiry
unless the WFOE confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement

The Exclusive Call Option Agreement was entered into by and
among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders and Dalian
Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020, pursuant to which the WFOE (or
KingNine Holdings Limited or any subsidiary of KingNine Holdings
Limited , the “designee”) has been granted an irrevocable and
exclusive right to purchase all of the shares in and/or assets of
Dalian Kingwisoft at a nominal price, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC Laws request that another
amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase
price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC Laws and regulations, the Registered Shareholders
and/or Dalian Kingwisoft shall return any amount of purchase
price they have received to the WFOE. At the WFOE's request, the
Registered Shareholders and/or Dalian Kingwisoft will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective shareholding in and/
or the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE (or its
designee) after the WFOE exercises its call option. The Exclusive
Call Option Agreement is for an initial term of ten years and shall
be automatically extended upon expiry unless the WFOE confirms
a new renewal term in writing.

In order to prevent the flow of the relevant assets and value of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries to the Registered
Shareholders, during the term of the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement, Dalian Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure
its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any of its assets (exceeding the value of RMB1 million) without
the prior written consent of the WFOE. In addition, Dalian
Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure its subsidiaries not
to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without prior
written consent of the WFOE. In the event that the Registered
Shareholders receive any distribution from DaLian Kingwisoft and/
or its subsidiaries and subject to the PRC Laws, the Registered
Shareholders must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to
the WFOE (or its designee). If the WFOE exercises the call option
all or any part of the shareholding in and/or assets of Dalian
Kingwisoft acquired would be transferred to the WFOE, and the
benefits of the equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable,
would flow to KingNine Holdings Limited and its shareholders.
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As provided in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE, Dalian Kingwisoft shall not,
and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, among other things, (i)
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any manner any of its assets
of more than RMB1 million; (ii) execute any material contract for a
value more than RMB1 million, except any contracts in the
ordinary course of business and any contracts entered into with
any members of the Group; (iii) provide any loan, financial
support, pledge or guarantees in any form to any third party, or
allow any third party to create any pledge or other security interest
over its assets or equity; (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow any
debt that is not incurred in the ordinary course of business of
Dalian Kingwisoft or not disclosed and consented to by the
WFOE; (v) enter into any consolidation or merger with any third
party, or acquire or invest in any third party; (vi) increase or reduce
its registered capital, or alter the structure of the registered capital
in any other manner. The Exclusive Call Option Agreement
provides that the Registered Shareholders and Dalian Kingwisoft
shall procure the subsidiaries of Dalian Kingwisoft to comply with
the above undertakings as if they are parties to the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement. Therefore, due to the relevant restrictive
provisions in the agreement, the potential adverse effect on the
WFOE and the Group in the event of any loss suffered from
Dalian Kingwisoft and/or its subsidiaries can be limited to a
certain extent. In addition, in relation to the above restrictive
provisions specified in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the
asset disposals or value of contracts will be aggregated if such
asset disposals or value of contracts (i) are entered into by
KingNine Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries or the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group with the same party or parties; or (ii) involve the
disposal or contracts which relate to the whole or parts of the
asset or securities or interests in a company or group of
companies. Further, as advised by the PRC legal advisor, any
transfer of shares in Dalian Kingwisoft pursuant to the terms of
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement will need to be filed with
relevant government authorities upon the exercise of the call
option thereunder.
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Share Pledge Agreement

The Share Pledge Agreement was entered into by and among the
WFOQE, the Registered Shareholders and DaLian Kingwisoft on 12
June 2020, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders pledge as
first charge all of their respective shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft
to the WFOE as collateral security for any or all of the payments due
to the WFOE and to secure performance of their obligations under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement. The Share
Pledge Agreement will remain in effect till the earlier of (i) all
obligation of DaLian Kingwisoft and the Registered Shareholders
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement are
performed in full; (ii) the WFOE exercises its exclusive option to
purchase the entire shareholding held by the Registered Shareholders
in DaLian Kingwisoft and/or the assets of DaLian Kingwisoft pursuant
to the terms of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement when it is
permitted to do so under the applicable PRC Laws; (iii) the WFOE
exercises its unilateral and unconditional right of termination; and (iv)
the agreement is required to be terminated in accordance with
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. In addition, under the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement, none of the Registered Shareholders may
transfer or create any encumbrance on any of their shareholding in
and the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft (including any equity
interests in and relevant assets of the subsidiaries of DaLian
Kingwisoft) without the WFOE's prior written consent. Furthermore,
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the WFOE is
entitled to retain and exercise physical control of company seals and
certificates that are crucial to the daily operation of Dalian
Kingwisoft, which further strengthens the protection of the WFOE's
interests over Dalian Kingwisoft under the Contractual
Arrangements. Should an event of default (as provided in the Share
Pledge Agreement) occur, unless it is successfully resolved to the
WFOE's satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified by the WFOE,
the WFOE may demand that the Registered Shareholders and/or
Dalian Kingwisoft immediately pay all outstanding payments due
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, repay any
loans and make all other payments due to it, and/or dispose of the
pledged shareholding and use the proceeds to repay any outstanding
amount due to the WFOE. The pledges under the Share Pledge
Agreement have been duly registered with the relevant PRC authority
on 12 July 2020 pursuant to PRC Laws and regulations.
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On 16 October 2020, the Registered Shareholders entered into a
capital increase agreement pursuant to which the registered
capital of DaLian Kingwisoft was increased from RMB15.48 million
to RMB100 million contributing from each of the Registered
Shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings (the “Capital
Increase”). Upon the issuance of the 84,520,000 new shares (the
“New Shares”) to the Registered Shareholders and the successful
registration of the Capital Increase, the New Shares will be fully
pledged by the Registered Shareholders as first charge of all of
their respective shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft to the WFOE as
collateral security for any or all of the payments due to the WFOE
and to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement under the existing
terms of the Share Pledge Agreement.

Power of Attorney

The irrevocable Powers of Attorney have been granted by each of
the Registered Shareholders on 12 June 2020 in favour of the
WFOE pursuant to the Authorisation Agreement dated 12 June
2020 by and among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders and
DaLian Kingwisoft, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
have appointed the WFOE or a director of its offshore holding
company or its/his/her successor (including a liquidator replacing
the WFOE's director) as their exclusive agent and attorney to act
on their behalf on all matters concerning Dalian Kingwisoft and
to exercise all of their rights as registered shareholders of DalLian
Kingwisoft. These rights include (i) the right to propose, convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings; (ii) the right to sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of shares; (iii) the right to exercise shareholders’
voting rights; and (iv) the right to act as the legal representative
(chairperson), the director, supervisor, the chief executive officer
(or general manager) and other senior management members of
Dalian Kingwisoft. The authorised person is entitled to sign
minutes, file documents with the relevant companies registry and
exercise voting rights on the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft on
behalf of the Registered Shareholders. The Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to transfer all assets obtained by
them after the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE at
nil consideration or the lowest price permissible by the then
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. As a result of the Powers of
Attorney, the Company is able to exercise management control
over the activities that have significant impact on the economic
performance of DaLian Kingwisoft.
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The Powers of Attorney also provided that, in order to avoid
potential conflicts of interest, where the Registered Shareholders
are officers or directors of KingNine, its subsidiaries or the DaLian
Kingwisoft Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favour of
other unrelated officers or directors of KingNine (the unrelated
directors of the holding company of KingNine).

The Powers of Attorney shall automatically terminate once the
WFQOE (or any member of the Group other than DaLian Kingwisoft
and its subsidiaries) directly holds the entire shareholding in and/
or the entire assets of Dalian Kingwisoft permitted under the then
PRC Laws and regulations and the WFOE (or its subsidiaries) is
allowed to conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business under the then
PRC Laws and regulations, following which the WFOE is registered
as the sole shareholder of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Spouse Undertaking

Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying and the spouse of Ms. Zhou
Fang executed an irrevocable undertaking on 12 June 2020,
whereby they expressly and irrevocably acknowledge and
undertake that (i) any shareholding interest held by Mr. Hu, Ms.
Liu and Ms. Zhou in DaLian Kingwisoft do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) they will not have any claim on
the interests of Dalian Kingwisoft obtained through the
Contractual Arrangements in their capacity as spouse; (iii) in
relation to Ms. Zhou's spouse, he has never participated and will
not participate in the operation or management of Dalian
Kingwisoft.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Circular.

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the Year.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the
Year.

For the Year, none of the Contractual Arrangements has been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements has
been removed. As of 31 March 2025, we had not encountered
interference or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in
operating our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities under the Contractual Arrangements.
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We have been advised by our PRC legal advisor that the
Contractual Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC laws
and regulations.

The revenue of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities for the Year
amounted to approximately RMB1,234.4 million, which accounted
for approximately 99.5% of the Group’s total revenue. The net
assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities were approximately
RMB549.3 million as at 31 March 2025.

Internal Control Measures

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation of our Group with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements:

1. major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;

3. our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our
annual reports regarding the qualification requirements as
stipulated in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements
— Qualification Requirement of VATS” in the Circular;

4. our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our
annual reports; and

5. our Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of WFOE and
our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.
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The Extent to which the Contractual
Arrangements Relate to Requirements Other
than the Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 298 to 304 of the Circular.

Listing Rule Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) under the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
under the Contractual Arrangements were more than 5%. As
such, these transactions were subject to the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from (i)
fixing the term of the Contractual Arrangements for a period of
not exceeding three years pursuant to Rule 20.50 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and (ii) setting a maximum aggregate annual cap
pursuant to Rule 20.51 of the GEM Listing Rules for the service
fees payable by the Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE under the
Contractual Arrangements, subject to the following conditions:

(@ No Change without Independent Non-executive Directors’
Approval — No change to the Contractual Arrangements
(including with respect to any fees payable to the WFOE
thereunder) will be made without the approval of the
independent non-executive Directors.

(b)  No Change without Independent Shareholders’ Approval —
Save as described in “— Renewal and Reproduction” below,
no change to the agreements governing the Contractual
Arrangements will be made without the approval of the
Company’s Independent Shareholders. Once Independent
Shareholders’ approval of any change has been obtained,
no further announcement or approval of the Independent
Shareholders will be required under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules unless and until further changes are proposed.
The periodic reporting requirement regarding the
Contractual Arrangements in the annual reports of the
Company (as set out in “— Renewal and Reproduction”
below) will however continue to be applicable.
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Economic Benefits Flexibility — The Contractual
Arrangements shall continue to enable the Group to receive
the entire economic benefits derived by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through (i) the Group’s option (if and
when so allowed under the applicable PRC Laws) to acquire,
all or part of the entire shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft
for nil consideration or the minimum amount of
consideration permitted by applicable PRC Laws and
regulations; (i) the business structure under which the entire
profit generated by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group is
substantially retained by our Group, such that no annual cap
shall be set on the amount of service fees payable to the
WFOE by the DalLian Kingwisoft Group under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement; and (iii) the Group’s right
to control the management and operation of, as well as, in
substance, all of the voting rights of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Renewal and Reproduction — On the basis that the
Contractual Arrangements provide an acceptable framework
for the relationship between the Company and its
subsidiaries in which the Company has direct shareholding,
on the one hand, and the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, on the
other hand, that framework may be renewed and/or
reproduced upon the expiry of the existing arrangements or
in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the existing Contractual
Arrangements. The directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group may establish will, upon renewal
and/or reproduction of the Contractual Arrangements,
however be treated as connected persons of the Company
and transactions between these connected persons and the
Company other than those under similar contractual
arrangements shall comply with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. This condition is subject to relevant PRC Laws
and regulations and approvals.

()
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Ongoing Reporting and Approvals — the Group will disclose
details relating to the Contractual Arrangements on an
ongoing basis as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Contractual Arrangements in place during each
financial period will be disclosed in the Company’s
annual report and accounts in accordance with the
relevant provision of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors will review the
Contractual Arrangements annually and confirm in the
Company’s annual report and accounts for the relevant
year that: (A) the transactions carried out during such
year have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements,
have been operated so that the revenue generated by
the Dalian Kingwisoft Group has been substantially
retained by the WFOE; (B) no dividends or other
distributions have been made by the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and (C) any new contracts entered into, renewed
or reproduced between the Group and the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group during the relevant financial period
under paragraph (d) above are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditors will carry out procedures in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants on the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and will
provide a letter to the Directors, reporting their findings
whether that the transactions carried out pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangements have received the approval of
the Directors, have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant Contractual Arrangements and that no
dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group to the holders of its equity
interest which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to the Group.
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(iv)  For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected
person”, the Dalian Kingwisoft Group will be treated
as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and the
directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group and their respective associates will
be treated as the Company’s “connected persons”
(excluding for this purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group). As such, transactions between these
connected persons and the Group (including for this
purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft Group), other than
those under the Contractual Arrangements, shall
comply with Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

(v)  Dalian Kingwisoft also undertakes that, for so long as
the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, it will provide the Group’s management
and the Company’s auditors with full access to its
relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be
carried out by the Company’s auditors on the
connected transactions.

During the Year, the Company had complied with the waiver
conditions set out by the Stock Exchange and all necessary GEM
Listing Rules requirements as required by the Stock Exchange.

Confirmations from the Independent Non-executive
Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the
Contractual Arrangements for the Year to which any member of
the Group was a party were entered into by the Group:

(i)  the transactions carried out during such year have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Contractual Arrangements and have been operated so
that the revenue generated by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities has been substantially retained by the WFOE;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;
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(i) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced
between our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the reporting period; and

(iv) the Contractual Arrangements are entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group on
normal commercial terms and are fair, reasonable and
advantageous, so far as our Group is concerned and in the
interests of our Company and the Shareholders of our
Company as a whole.

Confirmations from the Auditor

Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has engaged the auditor to conduct certain procedures in respect
of the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements of the Group for the Year, in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
during the Year:

a) the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements have received the approval of the Board,;

b)  the disclosed continuing connected transactions were
entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements governing such
transactions; and

¢)  no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted connected transaction(s) or
continuing connected transaction(s) under the GEM Listing Rules.
The following set out details of the Contractual Arrangements
which constituted continuing connected transactions under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of the
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Please refer “Contractual
Arrangements” from pages 34 to 54 of this report for details.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Directors are not aware of any related party transactions
disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements that
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Group, nor are there any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that require to
be disclosed in this annual report under the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements,
where applicable, in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors, controlling shareholder of
the Company or their respective close associates had any direct or
indirect interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable Donations

During the Year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to RMBO0.2 million.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group’'s environmental, social and governance report (the
"ESG Report”) will be published at the same time as the
publication of this annual report. The English and Chinese versions
of the ESG Report are available to be viewed and/or downloaded
on the Company’s website at www.kwtech-group.com (by
clicking “Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance
Strategies” under the section headed “Investor”) and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Sustainable development and environmental protection are
embedded in our corporate culture. The Group has participated in
a wide range of charitable activities, many of which have been
recognized by various organizations. During the Year, we received
a number of honours or acknowledgments of our work as a
responsible corporate citizen:

—  "A Caring Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service

— "A Good MPF Employer” by Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority

— "A Happy Company” by the Hong Kong Promoting
Happiness Index Foundation and Hong Kong Productivity
Council
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 77.5% of the Group’s revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 34.9% of the Group’s
revenue. In addition, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 21.2% of the Group’s cost of services with the
largest supplier constituted approximately 13.9% of the Group’s
cost of services.

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties consist of one industrial
property in Chinese Mainland, which were revalued at
RMB12.3 million on 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: RMB12.0
million). Details of the Group's investment properties are set out in
note 15 to the financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Retirement benefit costs include pension scheme contributions for
the Group's employees in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The
Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the laws of Hong Kong) for those eligible Hong Kong employees.
For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only to the
maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per employee,
which contribution is matched by the employees. Contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

YIS

REERREMERS —RUNP RN T
L EéNZSEﬁ%EEWﬁ@?%AEﬁ%
12,300,000 75(2024 43 A31 B : ARE# 12,000,000
TT) o BEAALER A Y EMFIBHN Y SRR M
5F15°

BEXREFE

RAFE - AEEBEE RS BIEEAR -
RKETE
EREHRAREAREEERTENILEE
BASHBER - ARBREGHEDHES i;

P (EBEDFEIT) RaBREBRERERT
ERHFORHIE B RNENGT B ([REET

=)
£

2l]) o ploatEestBIKEmMs - AEBIEMART
BERARSK FRESFTEHER - HUAEEEE
30,000 8L TEKR AN AR - B3R ES N
HR— - BIFRBESTEZRA) - HRPRER
FrEBEG - RESTECEAERBYEEY

ESBEAKEZEEDHARTA - ARENEEZMH
FRFRESERTEEEREREE

AEERFEAMEE CMERR 2RBREASH
EE”‘iﬂszZJﬁ B2 REKRESEE - ZFHB

BREFERANET BN AP RERE
aJr%‘HN o RIBHRBRESFTEIZARA - HFR

FETES B e HIRR ©

EERABRRESHFALZHME

EENAEEReF AT M HFBHNGEEHT
%%i&i\%w%‘ﬂ&m o

D8  KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4 &%} 4% 42 F B 4 45 B 24 7



GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 219 to
220 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during
the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 61 to 76 of this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no material event
after reporting year and up to the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

On 3 March 2023, BDO Limited resigned and Ernst & Young was
appointed as the auditor of the Company. Details of the change
of auditor were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 3 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor
of the Group during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

QIU Xiaojian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

©

The Company has applied the principles of good corporate
governance set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG
Code") throughout the Year.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group’s
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the CG Code.

The Company has complied with all the Code Provisions
throughout the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during this Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board compositions

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the chief executive
officer of the Company/the executive Directors, monitors the
internal control policies as well as risk management
effectiveness, and evaluates the financial performance of the
Group with an aim to enhancing shareholders’ value. The
Board currently comprises seven executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of
the Board sets out on page 28 of this annual report.
Biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
amongst them, if any, are set out on pages 17 to 22 of this
annual report.
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With effect from 23 August 2024, Mr. YANG Hongjun and
Ms. LI Guiying have been appointed as independent non-
executive Directors. On 21 August 2024, each of Mr. YANG
Hongjun and Ms. LI Guiying (i) has obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules and (ii)
has confirmed he/she understood his/her obligations as the
Director.

Four board meetings were held during the Year. The
attendance of the relevant Directors are set out on page 69
of this report.

Independent non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed four
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received the confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. ZENG Liang, Mr. WANG Lij,
Mr. YANG Hongjun and Ms. LI Guiying, and considers all of
them independent in accordance with the guidelines set out
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company is committed to ensuring that the
independent non-executive Directors will be given the
opportunity and channel for Directors to communicate and
express their independent views and inputs to the Board and
its Committees. The Company has established channels
through formal and informal means whereby independent
non-executive Directors can express their views in an open
and candid manner and in a confidential manner, should
circumstances require; these include dedicated meeting
sessions with the Chairman and interaction with
management and other Board Members including the
Chairman outside the boardroom. The implementation and
effectiveness of these mechanism(s) will be reviewed on an
annual basis by the Board through the Nomination
Committee.
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Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance, which
includes formulating business development strategies,
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs, reviewing the
financial statements of the Company, approving interim
reports, annual reports and announcements of interim
results and annual results, considering dividend policy,
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and so on.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee authorities to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.
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Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by the Compliance and
Risk Control Department performing the internal audit
function.

During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
reviewed the Group’s compliance manual; reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board’'s duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he/she has received during the Year, which is
set out on page 69 of this annual report.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

(F)

OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. QIU Xiaojian is the chairman of the Company who is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board.

Mr. HU Shilong is the chief executive officer of the Company
who is responsible to the Board for managing the business
of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are for a period of three years. All of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Mr.
QIU Xiaojian and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZENG Liang (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. YANG Hongjun. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee included, among other things,
(i) formulating, reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and members of senior management; (i) reviewing
and approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
(iii) determining the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and members of senior management;
and (iv) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non- executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee held two meetings during the Year.
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(G)

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group’s remuneration policy and structure, determined the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to the adjustment
of the director fee of the independent non-executive
Directors, having regard to comparable companies and
other relevant factors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Mr. QIU Xiaojian (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee)
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
YANG Hongjun and Ms. LI Guiying. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee covered, among other things, (i)
the reviewing of the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying and nominating
suitably qualified candidates for directorship; and (iii) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors. The Nomination Committee
held two meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, reviewed the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting in 2024,
and nominated the appointment of Directors.

()

RAFEE - F#E B s AR EHFHHER
RERE BERTEFZHFMEBLA
BN TESNETREAEESRH
2 EThCERAUELBRARREMAMH
REMEL -

REEES

ARBERIRZEZES WO E@AHE
BERE- - RERRESRAER=-AKE
BIEfBRf2 i RBRZBEXR) ARMAE
VHRMTESHHRERERFERLL - 12
FZBEENIZRERE (EHEeR) es
EZNRBE  ABREX(BERE A
o EBREZTEHAE) (Ve RIS
AEAEERNESANE  RINKEFE
IHEHZIAEFTSREER - EREE
ERAFEEITTMREGH -

RAFE  REZEGRIEHTZRERK
ZAHBENBENER B EEeHR
B AB B R Z Tt - FHE B IEETT
BEMBE LM RR2024FRFBFRE
ITEFZARTESAEETGRLER U
MRERTES -

66  KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> &5} 4% 42 [ B 4 4 PR 2 7]



Corporate Governance Report

According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size, composition and diversity (including the
evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional experience,
cultural and educational background, gender and age of the
Board members and assessment on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Board at least
annually. It is responsible for making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy and succession planning for
the Directors from time to time and selecting suitable and
qualified individuals to become Board members. In
evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the
Nomination Committee considers various factors including
but not limited to: the character and integrity; skills and
expertise; professional and educational background;
potential time commitment for the board and/or committee
responsibilities; and the elements of our Board Diversity
Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination Committee
makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the
appropriate person among the candidates nominated for
directorship. The Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in
accordance with the Articles of the Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of
having a diverse board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable
growth for the Group. A balanced and diversified Board
brings a broad range of views to bear upon discussions and
critical decision-making, and balances against “group
thinking”. Our Board Diversity Policy is multi-faceted
stressing business experience, skill-sets, knowledge and
professional expertise in addition to gender, ethnicity and
age. The said elements have substantially been included in
the current Board composition.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee recognises the importance and benefits of the
gender diversity at the Board level. In order to enhance the
gender diversity among the Board members, one more
female director has been appointed during the Year.
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For the detailed gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management), please refer to the 2024/2025
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Ms. LI Guiying (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. YANG Hongjun and Mr. ZENG Liang
in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include,
among other things, (i) reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process; (ii) reviewing internal control as
well as risk management systems of the Group; (iii)
reviewing the consolidated financial statements and the
interim and annual reports of the Group; and (iv) reviewing
the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the
external auditor and ensure their coordination. The Audit
Committee held two meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Compliance and Risk Control Department, reviewing
interim and annual results of the Group and providing
advice and comments thereon to the Board. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the Group’s internal control and
risk management systems and made recommendations to
the Board for improvements. The Audit Committee
considered and approved the terms of engagement and
remuneration of the external auditor, and discussed with
them the nature and scope of their audits before the audits
commenced. In discharging its duties, the Audit Committee
met with the Group’s management and external auditor
several times during the Year.

At the meeting held in June 2025 among other things, the
Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board's approval.
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A E B TR
() ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND () EEEEREI
TRAINING
During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at RAFEE BREEHEFEEE=EeE  B&%
Board Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting, Remuneration Eeex FZEee:x IERETEee
Committee Meeting, Nomination Committee Meeting, the EN2024FEREBAFARE  REFRIAE
2024 Annual General Meeting, Extraordinary General ARSI Z 5Bk -
Meeting and their training records are as follows:
Number of meetings attended/held
bR/ BreEng
2024
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual  Extraordinary
Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee General General
Name of Directors during the Year Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
pLIE:S
£3¢  BUEEE FMEEE  R4ZEE  BREE  BRMD)
KEREBHE &3 £3 £3 £3 Kt x8 3
Executive Directors: HEE .
Mr. QUU Xiaojian il 44 - 0 0 /1 - /
Mr. HU Shilong BiteEts 44 - - - 1”1 - /
Mr. Ll Xiang S it 44 - - - /1 - /
Ms. ZHOU Fang Arat 44 - - - 1 - /
Ms. LIU Xiaochen 80 Rat 44 - - - " - v
Mr. XU Gang #HltE 44 - - - 11 - /
Mr. WANG Rui 1%k 44 - - - 11 - /
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #EH7TEE .
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHED % &
(resigned on 23 August 2024) (R204E8 ABEF) 11 /1 - 0 11 - /
Mr. ZHANG Weidong RERiE
(resigned on 23 August 2024) (R2024%8 A 3EE) 11 /1 0 0 /1 -
Mr. ZENG Liang bRk 4 n n - " - /
Mr. WANG Li IngE 44 - - - 1 - /
Mr. YANG Hongjun BRELE
(appointed on 23 August 2024) (R2004E8 A 3HEZF) 3B /1 - - - - /
Ms. LI Guiying SHELL
(appointed on 23 August 2024) (R204%58 R 3REE() n /1 - - - - /
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S EBERWE
(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL () ETERAIPE
CONTROL

The Group places high importance on internal control which
is the foundation of the Group’s reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for supervising a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee is assisted by the Compliance and Risk
Control Department, to assess and review if a sound and
effective risk management and internal control system are in
place at least once a year. The Compliance and Risk Control
Department reported to and met with the Audit Committee
to review internal audit findings on enterprise risk and
internal control matters.

Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Compliance
and Risk Control Department, using risk-based approach,
has identified and carried out review on four areas covering
financial, operational, strategies and compliance.

The approach used by the Compliance and Risk Control
Department comprises the following phases:

o Obtaining an understanding of the existing
procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group through enquiries and discussion with
management and appropriate personnel;

o Identifying and classifying the key risks faced by the
Group;

J Assessing the likelihood and impact of each risk factor;
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o Carrying out review and assessment on the those
critical aspects of the key procedures, systems and
controls of the Group to address the risk factors;

o Evaluating the residual risks with the relevant control
measures taken into account; and

o Making recommendations, based on Compliance and
Risk Control Department’s observations, documentation
and review of the procedures, systems and controls
that could improve the effectiveness and/or efficiency
of the procedures, systems and controls to mitigate
the risks to which the Group is subjected.

Based on the report done by the Compliance and Risk
Control Department, the Group has been reminded that the
risk in maintaining, obtaining and renewal of certain
qualification certificates, licenses and intellectual property
rights should be carefully managed since it could materially
and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Moreover, any leakage of personal data or client information
could bring a significant risk and impact to the Group’s
business and reputation, and therefore the Group has
implemented strict internal control procedures to safeguard
the security and confidentiality of its databases.

The analysis and opinions from in-depth industry knowledge
and relevant-experienced professional third parties should
be taken into consideration.

Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which is sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Compliance and Risk Control Department has conducted a
review of the Group’s internal control system by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of
the procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and
receipt cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.
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(K)

With respect to the internal control review done by the
Compliance and Risk Control Department, no major issues
on control failure is noted during the Year.

The Board has conducted a review and is of the view that
both risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate for the Group to achieve its
objectives during the Year. The Board will continue to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems taking into consideration the results of
reviews and audits performed by the Compliance and Risk
Control Department, external auditor and Audit Committee
and making sure that all significant legal and regulatory
requirements are adhered to.

Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which set out guidelines and procedures as well as measures
to handle and disseminate inside information as well as to
establish minimum standards for handling of material non-
public information to protect client-sensitive data and avoid
violating any applicable laws or internal policies. With these
procedures and measures in place, the Group is able to
control and properly discharge its reporting obligation,
especially in relation to inside information disclosure
obligations, in a timely and effective manner and in
accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit service
provided by the Company’s external auditor was
approximately HK$4.00 million (approximately RMB3.84
million). No non-audit service was provided by the
Company's external auditor.

(K)
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong. The
statement of the Company’s auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 77
to 84 of this annual report.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

(N)

Mr. TUNG Sze Ho Dicky, who is delegated by an external
secretarial service provider, Angela Ho & Associates, has
been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
since 17 January 2022. Mr. TUNG's primary contact person
at the Company is Mr. LI Xiang, the executive Director. Mr.
TUNG undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2025.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted the Dividend Policy on
21 June 2019 that aims to set out the principles and
guidelines of the Company in relation to the declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends to its
shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of
dividends should be in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. When considering dividend
declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take into
account the following factors:—

M

business condition and strategy of the Group;

)

capital requirement for the Group’s existing/potential
project or investment;

(L)

(M)

(N)
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(0)

earnings, financial and cash flow position and
distributable reserves of the Company and the Group;
and

(4)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the

provisions of the Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company'’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to
recommend final dividends to the shareholders for approval;
and to declare or not to declare any other dividends,
including but not limited to interim and/or special dividends,
after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) to
(4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified

and/or cancelled from time to time as the Board may think
fit and necessary.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.

(0)
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(P) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at Unit 1608, Level 16, Tower 1, Grand Century Place,
193 Prince Edward Road West, Mongkok, Kowloon,
Hong Kong (for the attention of the Company
Secretary), specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the outcome
and an EGM will not be convened as requested.

3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS (Q) REZBZ

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with its Shareholders. The Company
encourages all Shareholders to attend general meetings,
which provide opportunities for direct dialogue between the
Board and the Shareholders, and for Shareholders to stay
informed of the Group’s strategy and goals.

At the annual general meeting held 14 August 2024, the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of audit, remuneration
and nomination committees and representatives from the
auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, were present to
attend to possible questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as interim and annual
reports. The corporate website maintained by the Company
at www.kwtech-group.com provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.
Shareholders and investors may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the Company
Secretary by post at Unit 1608, Level 16, Tower 1, Grand
Century Place, 193 Prince Edward Road West, Mongkok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong or by email at infohk@kwtech-group.com.

The Board will review the shareholders’ communication
policy at least annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having
considered the different channels of communication with
Shareholders, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders’
communication policy has been properly implemented
during the Year and is appropriate.
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Ernst &Young ZXEETENE LN Tel E557: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place HEEHIEH Fax {25 +852 2868 4432
979 King's Road HETE 9795k ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of
Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 218,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("“HKSAs"”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HREETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
¥ v A% B e

BREETEE %)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANFTNNEEFARETSEE

Impairment of goodwill and intangible asset with indefinite useful life

By R A HE IR 1] & i 5 R 19 HE T2 B 9 L 18

As at 31 March 2025, the cost of the Group’s goodwill,
net of the accumulated impairment brought forward from
prior years, was approximately RMB57 million, and the cost
of the Group’s intangible asset with indefinite useful life,
i.e., brand, was approximately RMB62 million.
R2025F3A31 B AEENEERAN(HEBEFE
HEHEE) ZETRE) )R AR 57,000,0007T - MAKEA
BERACEAFHNBETLEE (AmE) XTI/ ARE
62,000,000 7T °

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard
("HKAS") 36 Impairment of Assets, the Group is required
to annually test goodwill and intangible asset with
indefinite useful life for impairment. The calculation of
recoverable amounts of goodwill and intangible asset with
indefinite useful life is complex and involves significant
management’s judgements and estimates, such as the
forecasted cash flows, discount rates and perpetual growth
rates.
BREEBGAEN(EESTER ) E365REERE -
AEFEASFASRBENABEREAFHNELEE
BRE - A EEENRAERAERFHNETLEENA
WEl &\ +HEMH  PREEBENERAE KM 40
BARERE MR EFKERRE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 17 and 18 to
the financial statements.
BB EEHN Y BRERWES - 17 K18 ¢

We performed the following procedures to address the
impairment of goodwill and intangible asset with indefinite
useful life:
HPIRITIATIZF AR IR 2 M B IR A] fE S B &
EERRE :

e Evaluated the competency, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent valuer;

o FHEBMHEMNER O RETEIL

e Assessed reasonableness of forecasted cash flows by
making enquiries with management and with reference
to historical information and macro economic or
country specific data;

s BRMEREELH W2ERLEHREELEXH
RETHE  FEBARSRENSEN

e With the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
examined the valuation methodologies and evaluated
the assumptions and estimates used, including the
discount rates and perpetual growth rates;

s EHEMAREEZIRNHH T - FHMESERTH
FTARR &G BREMBEREKEERE

e Checked the mathematical accuracy of management’s
valuation schedules; and

o MEBEEMERNEMERE : &

e Evaluated the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in
the financial statements.

o HEMBRRPEBHRENTIE o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREETEER

Impairment of accounts receivable

FE R B 5 L 18

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s
accounts receivable before impairment was approximately
RMB569 million, and the Group was exposed to credit risks
arising therefrom.

20253 A31H » B EBEMERIRIE AR UK R
EEA AR 569,000,000 @ EXEMERAIES
MiEERMR -

The Group recognises impairment allowances of accounts
receivable based on the expected credit loss (“ECL")
approach under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The
measurement of ECL requires the application of significant
management’s judgements and estimates. The ECL is
assessed collectively using a provision matrix, and the
provision rates are based on the Group's internal credit risk
grading assessment and the estimated loss rates.

EXRBREERBVBRELAB R AT ANTERGE
EEEB([FEHEEEER]) ARAEUBIR RO RERE -
FTEEHEEBEAERAEEENE N KA - B
HEEBERENERBEERETRENM  mMEBEEXD
Hp BESEABEERRTRTERMETEERSGE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 22 and 40 to
the financial statements.

MERRBEH NI BHRKRMES » 22 240 °

BRETEE %)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RAWETNNRERERETSEE

We performed the following procedures to address the
impairment of accounts receivable:

HAIIT AT IR 7 AR T2 FE M BR FORUE

e Evaluated the competency, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent valuer;

o FHEBMHERMNER O REEIL

e Evaluated the ECL determined by management by
examining, on a sample basis, the information used to
form such judgements and estimates, including the
ageing categories, historical credit loss information and
forward-looking factors;

o BIAMBRERNEKA BAE METHER (B
RECKRR R EEEREH KAELRER) @ s1EE
BEETNBEEEEEE

e Compared key debtors’ internal credit risk grading
assessment result categories to the corresponding
relevant credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies;

s BEZEBANNEEERRITRTHERDAEI

BEEFREEAMNIEERRCEETRELETL

By

e With the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
examined the ECL methodology and evaluated the
probability of default rates and loss given default rates;

s HEEMARBEEZRNHH T  EHNBEREEEES
ERFHERRN R FENXRIA TR EERE

e Evaluated the impairment provision of accounts
receivable by reference to the Group’s subsequent
collection; and

o 2F EREWNRBUFBER - FHERBURARNIRE
BE R

e Evaluated the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in
the financial statements.

o FHEMBHmRTEBBRENT M
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on
the other information obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
38 7 A BB R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Siu Ki Ricky (practicing certificate number:
PO5575).

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
i 1H A S LAt 2 i W 5 3R

Year ended 31 March 2025 = 202543 A 31 HILF[E

2025 & 20244
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Biat ARYT T ARBEFIT
REVENUE PN 5 1,240,654 1,240,904
Cost of services BRAS A AN (1,199,889) (1,113,027)
Gross profit EH 40,765 127,877
Other income and gains H i Y A B Wz 6 19,552 74,518
Marketing expenses b (7,607) (8,389)
Research and development expenses R (60,252) (43,572)
Administrative expenses TERFEX (95,816) (79,609)
Impairment loss of goodwill 2R EEE 17 (56,742) (224,838)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net <& Bl & E R (B & 1855 (23,267) (19,020)
Gain on recovery of accounts receivable W[l B i 8 FE U BR SR A M2
written-off 24 21
Other expenses and losses HibAx REE (1,347) (1,896)
Finance costs RS RR AN 8 (19,455) (24,310)
Share of loss of an associate JE(h — B & R RS 1E 19 (2,918) (699)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB AT S8 7 (207,063) (199,917)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frig®iife, () 11 3,680 (5,030)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (203,383) (204,947)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
oy 1H A S LAt 2 i i 4R 3R

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= 202543 431 HILF[E

2025 F 2024 FF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR¥FT AREFIT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hib2mEKE
Other comprehensive income that may be R{E&HAE S EMHIEE
reclassified to profit or loss in BmmEMEE Y
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of BN FER A B A K AL
subsidiaries not established in B B 8 2 B EE AR OB Y
Mainland China ZH 341 251
Deregistration of subsidiaries not = SH 7 3ER AR B R B 32
established in Mainland China EONEAYEERNE - 122
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FREMEERE - bk
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MiIE 341 373
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FREEEEAHE
THE YEAR (203,042) (204,574)
Loss for the year attributable to: AT ATEEFRESR :
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEZ 2 =D/ (207,729) (197,382)
Non-controlling interests PR == 4,346 (7,565)
(203,383) (204,947)
Total comprehensive loss for the year LT ALTEEERZEEE
attributable to: 4z
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIEZZ N (207,388) (197,009)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R 4,346 (7,565)
(203,042) (204,574)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AATEBEERIEE AEM
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF SREE
THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EARAREE(ARES) 13 (4.35) (4.13)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B 3 S 5 IR Dt

31March 2025202543 31 H

2025 F 2024 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HfaE AR¥TFr ARSFr
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment I EYSE L 14 62,082 94,313
Investment properties TEYF 15 12,280 12,020
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 67,347 68,819
Goodwill [EES 17 - 56,742
Other intangible assets Hinmp &= 18 131,090 162,143
Investment in an associate R—REBE AR NIEE 19 24,734 27,652
Equity investments designated at B RIEAFERA
fair value through other comprehensive — Hfb 2 E Uz
income R E 20 - -
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE - H A ER
other assets FIB N EMEE 23 6,135 3,750
Pledged deposits HIRFER 25 2,865 -
Deferred tax assets BIERIIBE E 31 16,925 15,083
Total non-current assets R EELTE 323,458 440,522
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 21 86 24
Accounts receivable JEUR BR X 22 537,343 668,208
Prepayments, other receivables and TR I8 « HA R
other assets FIBENREMEE 23 58,639 77,881
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFABRD
profit or loss PREE 24 = 4,812
Prepaid tax SEENE A 1,529 414
Restricted cash SRR S 25 1" 594
Pledged deposits BT 25 3,257 3,157
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 25 104,758 82,673
Total current assets REEEETE 705,623 837,763
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Accounts payable FERTBR X 26 9,334 28,639
Other payables and accruals HAb R ZIA R ESTE A 27 69,766 103,368
Contract liabilities AHaE 28 1,867 1,029
Consideration payables FERRE 29 - 28,038
Interest-bearing bank and other FTESRTT R EMER
borrowings 30 26,000 198,044
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 28,809 22,448
Tax payable e FRIE 12,067 6,412
Total current liabilities BB EAE 147,843 387,978
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
& o AR D 3%

31March 2025202543 A 31 H

2025 F 2024 FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF AR¥TFIT ARETIT
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFRE 557,780 449,785
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERABARS
LIABILITIES 881,238 890,307
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Other payables and accruals B e3R8 R FE R B 27 626 1,147
Interest-bearing bank and other ETRRIT R EAMLE K
borrowings 30 208,644 -
Lease liabilities HEARE 16(b) 40,377 45,020
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEEE 31 13,942 23,449
Total non-current liabilities EREEBEALE 263,589 69,616
Net assets EEBE 617,649 820,691
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of NATHEE AEG
the Company wEZ
Share capital gz 32 40,442 40,442
Reserves G 33 568,771 776,159
609,213 816,601
Non-controlling interests R R 8,436 4,090
Total equity S 617,649 820,691
QIU Xiaojian LI Xiang
ERRE {2 =g
Director Director
EF g
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

/N 3L &2
AR EEE
Year ended 31 March 2025 = 202543 A 31 HILF[E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAER
Share Non-
Share premium Statutory ~ Revaluation  Translation Other ~ Accumulated controlling Total
Notes capital account? reserves” reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ losses” Total interests equity
Hit ki REEER,  EEREr EGRE  EXRE  RH8R  ZHER &%  FERRE  ERER

RWB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RB'000
ABMTR  ARMTT  AREFT  AREFR  ARRTn  ABETT  ARRFT  ARRFL ARETR ARRTR

At 1 April 2024 R0UE4B1A 40,44 1,125,077 1210 (18,499) 3337 (1) (374,605) 816,601 4,09 820,691
Loss for the year EREE (207,729) (207,729) 4,346 (203,383)
Other comprehensive income forthe ~ EREH2ENE

year:

Exchange differenceson translation ~ BEYERSERBALH
of subsidiaries not established in HEARRENEREH

Mainland China = = = = M = = £ = L
Deregistration of subsidiaries not HELFRAEABALH
established in Mainland China il 15 - - - - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for ~ EA2ENE/ (F8) 4%

the year - - - - 3 - (207,729) (207,388) 4,346 (203,042
Appropriation of statutory reserves BHEERE - - 26,607 - - - (26,607) - - -
At31March 2025 R20553831A 40,44 112501 4781 (18,499) 3678 (1) (608,941) 609,213 8436 617,649

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRARAARR
Share Non-
Share premium Statutory  Revaluation  Translation Other ~ Accumulated controlling Total
Notes capital account® reserves® reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ losses” Total interests equity
ifia RE  REEER,  EERE  EGRR  EXRR  AHBR  ZHER &  FERRE  ERER

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NRETE  ARRTR ARETR  ARETR  ARKETT  ARETT ARRTZ ARETR ARETT ARETR

At 1 April 2023 ROBF4A1R 4048 1125077 14511 (18,499) 22,94 (#21) (170,530) 1,013,610 11,667 1025277
Loss forthe year EhER - - - - - - (19738) (19738 (7565 (204.947)
Other comprehensive income for theyear: — §ME {2 ENE
Exchange differences on translation of BEUFRREMIRIY
subsidaries not establhedin Mainland ~~ HBAFEEHEN 28

China - - - - 251 - - 251 - 251
Deregistration of subsidiares not SHAER R R
established in Manland China HBA7 - - - - 1 - - 10 - 0
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) ER2ERE/(BE)
for the year % - - - - n - (197,382) (197,009) (7,565) (204,574)
Disposal of asubsidiary HE-RHERR E/ - - - - - = = = (12) (12)
Appropriation ofstatutory reserves ROEEEE - - 6,693 - - - (6,6%3) = = =
At 31 March 2024 RAMEIANA 4044 1125077 1210 (18499) B37 (421) (374,605) 816,601 4,090 820,691

A These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB568,771,000 N REGEREEESHBEREEZFNGEFBEBARE
(2024: RMB776,159,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 568,771,000 (20244 : ARR¥776,159,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maBlaeia®

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= 202543 431 HILF[E

2025 F 2024 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT ARMTFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BrEL AR (207,063) (199,917)
Adjustments for: BLAT S IBELAE
Finance costs B TS AR AN 8 19,455 24,310
Share of loss of an associate 4G —FAIEsE = A A& R 2,918 699
Interest income K2 A 6 (591) (1,257)
Dividend income iz EWA 6 = (58)
Depreciation of property and equipment ~ #1% KRBT E 7 45,955 39,224
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 7 29,209 30,593
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hith 8 2 5 7 31,205 28,237
Loss on disposal of property and HEYFREHEEE
equipment 7 496 386
Fair value losses on financial assets at BAFEGTAEEN TR
fair value through profit or loss BENATEERE 6 3,729 2,575
Fair value loss on contingent HAREH A FEEE
consideration 6 - 27,623
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR WS 6 - (52,269)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment BENENNTE
properties B8 () 6 1,354 (7,957)
Impairment loss of goodwill B REBE 7 56,742 224,838
Impairment losses on financial assets, S REEREESEFE
net 7 23,267 19,020
Gain on recovery of accounts receivable Y [B] B il 4 FE UK BR SR &9
written-off Wz (24) (21)
Loss/(gain) on early termination of leases ~ $ZAI4X I E R EIE,
(Yzs) 6,7 (237) 38
6,415 136,064
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

e blaeia®

Year ended 31 March 2025 = 202543 A 31 HILF[E

2025 F 2024 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETT

Increase in inventories FEEM (62) (140)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable  FEUBRZUR A~ (3&00) 111,726 (89,934)
Increase in prepayments, other receivables & FIE « H b fE U B &

and other assets H it Z AL N (2,164) (28,517)
Increase in pledged deposits BRFZIE M (2,965) (100)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash RERFIE SR (3G n) 583 (594)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FEATBR R N, CRi ) (3,247) 1,526
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and ~ H b B kI8 & fEFT &

accruals #n/Cr ) (34,123) 45,651
Increase in contract liabilities B A B EIE 838 1,207
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ EXREZ BRI L 256 (1,677)
Cash generated from operations KEFFIR® 77,257 63,486
Income tax paid ERFEH (3,129) (3.219)
Net cash flows generated from RETHASASREFH

operating activities 74,128 60,267
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GBS mER

Year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= 202543 431 HILF[E

2025 20244
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT ARMTFT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZDHERESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received =& IES) 591 923
Dividend received B B - 58
Purchase of property and equipment BEYERRE (31,826) (25,113)
Proceeds from disposal of property and B EY R BHBFTSRIE
equipment 1,548 947
Purchase/additions of investment BEREREME
properties (1,614) (774)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHMELEE (152) (794)
Development costs paid for other ME A& B S T A 8
intangible assets BN - (11,035)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS E A A — (1,000)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—fEH B AR 34 15,300 15,134
Disposal of financial assets at fair value HEZR AT EFTFABRD
through profit or loss TRIEE 700 2,738
Net cash flows used in investing BRETBHFMARESREFE
activities (15,453) (18,916)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GOBHERExR

Year ended 31 March 2025 = 202543 A 31 HILF[E

2025 F 2024 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT AREFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETEHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid EfFE (510) (1,891)
New bank borrowings I IRITER 5,000 5,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRTTIER (5,000) (68,500)
New other borrowings FTIE E M AR 25,000 =
Repayment of other borrowings BB E A B (4,000) -
Interest portion of lease payments HENRHAEE 7o (2,649) (2,900)
Principal portion of lease payments MENTHNARE D (25,782) (27,495)
Payment of consideration payables Y EMARE 29 (28,734) (28,519)
Net cash flows used in financing MEETBHFMARESREFE
activities (36,675) (124,305)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND 384 N3RS E WL~
CASH EQUIVALENTS O ) #%E 22,000 (82,954)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [EREB)H) 32 £ 85 1,930
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F#138 & KIREFEY
year 82,673 163,697
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND F R\ & RIREZEY
OF YEAR 104,758 82,673
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the #R& BIISARR KR KRG AR
consolidated statement of financial MEXRPAINRE R
position and consolidated statement of REFEY
cash flows 25 104,758 82,673
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 0 5 e 2% Bi e

31March 2025202543 A 31 H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered address
and principal place of business of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands and Unit 1608, Level 16, Tower 1, Grand Century
Place, 193 Prince Edward Road West, Mongkok, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, respectively. The shares of the Company are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

As at 31 March 2025, the directors of the Company
considered that the Company’s immediate holding company
is Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Limited and the
Company’s ultimate holding company is Zhong Zhi Ze Yun
Capital Company Limited. Pursuant to a voting rights
entrustment deed entered into between Zhong zhi Xin Zhuo
Capital Company Limited, Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company
Limited and Mr. HU Shilong, who is an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company, on 28
August 2023, each of Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited and Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited
agreed to entrust the voting rights over all of its
2,409,823,718 shares of the Company and 455,820,525
shares of the Company, respectively, to Mr. HU Shilong.
Through NINEGO Corporation which holds 212,640,219
shares of the Company and is held as to 40.60% by Mr. HU
Shilong and 59.40% by Ms. LIU Yingying, who is the spouse
of Mr. HU Shilong, and the virtue of the aforementioned
voting rights entrustment deed, Mr. HU Shilong controls the
voting rights of 3,078,284,462 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 64.45% of all the issued shares
of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in investment holding, provision of
back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres), comprehensive marketing and agency services and
data centre services.

1.

REAIREEER

TERREERNARAR([ARQE]) /IR
BHSHSEME 22 B R RNE (1961 FEH
FE3M BeaHRE) ERSESTMK
SHEREBRAR o AR R FEMMAERE
Z & Z i B 5 5 AP.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands & & 7 JLBE RE A K 738 74 193 57 3ttt
WES 116121608 « KRR AIRHRNE
BEERSABMR AR (BAF]) GEM £
m o

R2025F3A318  ARAIEERAELRR
A B B #% 12 & 2 & AZhong Zhi Xin Zhuo
Capital Company Limited & 28 A &) A9 fx 42 4%
%7~ 7] & Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company
Limited » 48 # Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital
Company Limited + EEFH IR (FH) BRA
AR A (R AAMITE B FHRITHE
#)M2023F 8 A28 AR U MR ER A
Z % # ¥ ) Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital
Company Limited X EHEIE (FB) GRA
AISERESAIKBERAERANZEL
2,409,823,718f% A& f» ® & 2 @ &
455,820,525 (R IR 17 B IR B R A E LR 5E T 1A
fEBE % & » FEBNINEGO Corporation (5
RNATF 212,640,219 i fn - E AL EESE
15 40.60% e R B B 4 (FERESL
HEMELE) A 59.40% %) MIRIE(IEER
FRREZERE) - AL EZERARQF
3,078,284,462 IR Ik fh M 1R = 4 - (A AR A A
2HEEITRNA)64.45% °

ARRZEBRBRIERR - ARBRE
MEBAR(GHEIARE]) TBREREE
B RER R (EBRETPRBER
DREBMUBERBREGERFL) 2EE
5 M AR RS e BB A L AR
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2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations)
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and contingent consideration,
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2025. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

2R
A EE

ZEGAVBHRRIDBEETESFAMAE
([BASHAE ) B2 BEBWBREE
AlestER(BREMET BB HmEEL
FREEEN(EBEER ) k) &
BRRAGH 2 HEREMRE - MBERK
TREBESEKAEDIRE - EREME &
NHEFF AR EE RS 2 RERE - B
FEFABGEZEREEMKAREIRA
FEHE ZFMBREAARETAR
B2 BRBEREAN AESEANE
AABHEEIN T -

mEEE

REMBEBRRBBARRIRENBARESE
2025F3 A3 AL FENHEHREK o I B
AEIEHAAR R EEREEEHNEE (2
EEENER) 2ASBERE2HEEEHR
RIS mAS KBRS ZRR - WHRE
NERBEHREHRMEN (AIE TAEE
BRI EEREHRAMESRNE N 2R BRE
) EZZ D R - BNEVSIEHIE -
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2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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2.1

2.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and
any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year’s

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure
the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

(b) The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments
also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own
equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability
as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did
not have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18
HKFRS 19
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and

HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lack of Exchangeability!
Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 72

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

g Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the Group is
described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of
the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new
defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single
note and introduces enhanced requirements on the
grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the location
of information in both the primary financial statements and
the notes. Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1
are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS
8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but
widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the
reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined
in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with HKFRS
Accounting Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to
apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are
considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an
electronic payment system before the settlement date if
specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to the
classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the
application of the “own-use” requirements for in-scope
contracts and amend the designation requirements for a
hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for in-scope
contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
understand the effects these contracts have on an entity’s
financial performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be
applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge
accounting shall be applied prospectively to new hedging
relationships designated on or after the date of initial
application. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at
the same time. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 117 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and
the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7),
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, 1G14
and 1G20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in
other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the
referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BItEE@#)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 23 ERMEERERZE BB ER
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued) HEBSFTER (&)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS
9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group'’s financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of
the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the
requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associate is included in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investment in the associate, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associate is included
as part of the Group’s investment in an associate.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount
of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and contingent consideration at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level I — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation technigues for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

based on valuation technigues for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

Level 2

Level 3

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required
(other than inventories, investment properties and deferred
tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

2.4
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

FEBER (#)
BERETTEHE#®)

BRE S (&)
() (&)

X (a) ATEBLAI A TSI £t

=)

(vi)

T mg

)3
- ><h

o 3§
&
H~
F

a)i) P g Bl A £
TR E%E*\E%(EZEA,\E%

ANERERALR R

(vii)

] /—\
A\N

I g =

)

ot %

» &

£t/

D

ERYEMBRENERKE
NSIDRS SE BN SESYNGIES
HEEEEABRS -

(viii)

\ i\%

MERRBURITE

W3 KRR AR AR AR R 5 T B RATDRE S
B - MEMRBRENKABEEEE
(B R fE B B B E B (RO Bt B VR B E B
EEV T E R EIE R o

WMENRBHEBRABERELNFEX - W
HERRE  —RRELHHEEBEENE -
EFERRBGENERLT  EARENMX
REERAERATEAMEREENRA - {1
EJ L ﬁE’J?EEL DANFER - KEEK
%5 B MR R LA R TE RIE AR R B RO | B
BE  WARHE -

2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT 4£# 113



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 0 5 e 2% Bi e

31March 2025202543 A 31 H

24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates, after taken into residual values, are as follows:

Over the shorter of
lease terms and 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment ~ 19% to 32%

Electronic and other equipment 19% to 48%

Motor vehicles 19%

Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
and services is capitalised and deferred only when the Group
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Other intangible assets

Other than the brand arising from the Group’s acquisition of
KingNine Holdings Limited in the prior year, which is
considered by the management of the Group as having
indefinite useful life and therefore not subject to
amortisation, the Group’s other intangible assets are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Customer relationship 7 years
Technology know-how 5 years
Patent 5 years
Software 3 to 7 years
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises and staff quarters  1.33 to 10 years
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of properties (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value,
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. This
category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognise an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed using a
provision matrix with reference to internal credit rating of
the receivables.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
the event of default occurs when the information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full. The Group considers a financial asset in
default when contractual payments are 90 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate. In certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
financial liabilities at amortised cost.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable,
other payables and accruals, consideration payables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (accounts and
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, accounts and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

24

FRiG® (&)

BEERRIA R E TP A AT HURE S 250 © 45
BORB AT IEE % M AR S A5 IE B 1
P o R IRE B JH1A Al BB B I8 SR H i 1) A
HEAIRER 8 BEAPHARBEEL
RABRABIAEERER - ETIIERER
s

e HAMRERERBENELEHRAE
ENRSERLIIFXHEHNRS
THEEXREMEL AR
W5 E & w2 AR B S Es
BRTELERSHERT LA HRY
RERE &

s HEARNBARR-—BEBERRZE
ERBEZAMRERZRME BT
HMIAEEENERZE A N A i
R B K57 8 SR A g A DA I 6 T
E R ERR o

BERERIBEEMRAER SRS BRIER
A7 AP R BE NS B S ER i A A )
2EHREMOEEHBEE - QIS FLFR
AERECHBREEN SRS PREHF
fly » WA AT RER & S M AR B 1) LA UL (3 22 6
KB EIET TR E EE R FERR ©

EXEREEERBERREBEEHEEREE
HBERABEHRNREGE - MR RIE
RBEMRDEMIEL D BHORE (K
BOE)EE °

132 KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4 445 45 [3 Bt 3 5 LA ]



24

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs,
for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers,
i.e., a performance obligation is satisfied, at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. A
performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e., the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e., the Group is an agent). The
Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer. The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission
to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging
for the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a) Back-office services

The Group provides a range of back-office services
that help its customers to support their end-users. The
back-office services include provision of customer
service solutions which primarily provides round-the-
clock contact services in multiple languages and
accessible from various channels and provision of
solutions on project-based customer service software
and system development and setup support services.

For the provision of customer service solutions related
services, revenue is recognised and the performance
obligation is satisfied when the relevant services are
rendered. The provision of services is billed based on
various measurement mainly taking into account the
number of service staff involved, the quality of the
tasks performed, the service hours provided with fixed
hourly rates and performance based adjustments.
Other than those with advance payments from
customers, the Group has a right to invoice in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the
Group's performance completed to date. The directors
of the Company have assessed that provision of
customer service solutions represent one single
performance obligation and the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. Therefore, the directors of the Company
considered that the services are satisfied over time.
Other than those with advance payments from
customers, revenue from the provision of services is
recognised in an amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice. Customers are invoiced on a monthly
basis or according to agreed payment terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Back-office services (Continued)

For the provision of service for setting up contact
services systems and centres, it includes a
comprehensive set of activities in the contract, such as
system design, implementation, installation, trial
launch and software and hardware support, which are
highly interdependent and interrelated. The directors
of the Company have assessed that revenue from
provision of the services is recognised and the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the services are rendered according to the terms
of the agreements which the control of the service is
transferred when the Group has provided the related
services.

Some contracts of back-office services require advance
payments from customers and the portion of fee
received in advance but not earned is recorded as
contract liabilities and is reflected as a current liability
as such amounts represent revenue that the Group
expects to earn within one year. Payment of back-
office services is due generally within three months
upon issuance of customer billings.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b) Comprehensive marketing and agency services

The Group renders various marketing and agency
services, including advertising, agency and verification
services to brand owners on various platforms such as
apps, social media and websites of which the
performance obligation is to arrange for platforms to
deliver advertising services, or to assist brand owners
in completing the account verification applications in
platforms. Revenue from provision of the advertising
and agency services is recognised when the services
are rendered according to the terms of the agreements
over the service period and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. Billings are made to brand owners on an
order basis and are generally due upon issuance of
billings. While platforms usually agree rebate amounts
with the Group on a quarterly basis and settlements
are made within three months after the rebate
amounts are finalised, some platform contracts
provide the Group with annual volume rebates which
give rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.
Revenue from provision of the verification services is
recognised at a point of time upon completion of the
account verification process, and billings are issued
accordingly and are generally due upon their issuance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(c)

Data centre services

The Group provides various corporate data centre
services such as value-added services to internet data
centres for securities houses, including their trading
system, quotation system and data processing system.
The revenue is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered and the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group
throughout the contract period. Thus, the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time with reference to the actual service
period passed relative to the total contract period. The
portion of services fee received in advance but not
earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is
reflected as a current liability as such amounts
represent revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year.

Performance obligations for the provision of back-office
services, comprehensive marketing and agency services and
data centre services are either for a period of one year or
less or bill a fixed amount for each month of services
provided. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Retirement benefit costs include pension scheme
contributions for the Group’s employees in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those eligible Hong Kong
employees. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme subject only to the maximum level of payroll costs
of HK$30,000 per employee, which contribution is matched
by the employees. Contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the respective local municipal
governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it
will assess whether the information affects the amounts that
it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to
reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and
update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light
of the new information. For non-adjusting events after the
reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts
recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the
nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their
financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate
cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors of the Company the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries not
operating in Mainland China are currencies other than RMB.
As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
an operation whose functional currency is not RMB, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of an operation
whose functional currency is not RMB and any fair value
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
that particular operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of operations whose functional currencies are
not RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of those particular operations which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group'’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Accounting for companies governed under
contractual arrangements as subsidiaries

The Company and some of its subsidiaries do not hold any
equity interests in certain of their subsidiaries. Nevertheless,
under the contractual agreements entered into between the
Group and the shareholders who are the registered owners
of those subsidiaries, the directors of the Company
determine that the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of those subsidiaries so as to
obtain benefits from their activities. As such, those
subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group
for accounting purposes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Determining the method to account for the
revenue arising from provision of comprehensive
marketing and agency services

The Group has entered into contracts with its customers in
relation to its comprehensive marketing and agency services.
The Group has determined, based on an assessment of the
relevant terms and conditions of the contracts as well as the
nature of services rendered in the transactions, that when it
does not control the specified service before it is transferred
to a customer without the involvement of another party, has
no discretion in establishing the price for the service
rendered, has no inventory risk, and is not primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to deliver the service,
the Group is an agent in the transaction and accounts for
the corresponding comprehensive marketing and agency
service on a net basis reflecting the margin earned.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits,
together with future tax planning strategies.

The Group has tax losses of RMB805,074,000 (2024:
RMB649,786,000) carried forward. These losses related to
subsidiaries that either have a history of losses, have not
expired, or become loss making in current year, and may not
be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group.
The subsidiaries have neither any taxable temporary
difference nor any tax planning opportunities available that
could partly support the recognition of these losses as
deferred tax assets. On this basis, the Group has determined
that it cannot recognise deferred tax assets on the tax losses
carried forward.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible asset
with indefinite useful life

Determining whether goodwill and intangible asset with
indefinite useful life are impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated, and of the intangible asset with indefinite useful
life, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value-in-use and/or fair value
calculation requires the Group to estimate the expected
future cash flows attributable to the individual asset, cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the recoverable
amount. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results
in downward revision of future cash flows, a material
impairment loss/further impairment loss may arise. As at 31
March 2025, the cost of goodwill, net of the accumulated
impairment brought forward from prior years, was
RMB56,742,000, and the cost of intangible asset with
indefinite useful life was RMB61,900,000. Details of the
recoverable amount calculations are disclosed in notes 17
and 18 to the financial statements.
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AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

The Group generally uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for the accounts receivable and the provision rates are
determined for the Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment result categories. The Group's internal credit risk
grading assessment comprises four categories, i.e., low risk,
watch list, doubtful and loss. The estimated loss rates are
determined with reference to various factors, such as
repayment histories and current past due exposure, taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of each
reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s accounts receivable and the
ECL is disclosed in notes 22 and 40 to the financial
statements, respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is primarily engaged in the provision of value-
added telecommunications and related services, including
back-office services, comprehensive marketing and agency
services and data centre services. Given that the chief
operating decision maker of the Company considers that the
Group’s business is operated and managed as a single
segment, no further segment information is presented.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

KREFIER (&)

i & & ¥

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) RKREIBEFHKA
2025 F 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARMTF T
Mainland China A B A e 1,240,654 1,240,904
The revenue information above is based on the P ABR DERE P AT RS
locations of the customers. 5l| o
(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥ HREBEE
2025 F 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARMTF T
Mainland China A B A e 296,726 420,802
Hong Kong B 807 887
Total BET 297,533 421,689

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year, revenues from transactions with single
external customers (including entities under common control

LAIERBEEEM IR EEMEM
oD TEESRIARELEHESR

E o
FEEFEHR

FR-KEESIBEL(BRERSTEP
RAREFNER) IR HEAEEKRA

with those customers) amounting to 10% or more of the 10% sk A _EEIRA AT ¢
Group's revenues are as follows:
2025 & 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARMTF T
Customer A ZEA 432,096 414,628
Customer B ZFB 259,012 283,693
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5. REVENUE 5. A

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTINT -

2025 & 2024 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers B EF & #,2 YA

Back-office services: % ER%

Provision of customer service solutions RMHEPIRBERRT R 1,188,765 1,185,861

Set up of contact service system and RN B AR AR TS R AR K D

centres 1,690 91

Subtotal et 1,190,455 1,185,952
Comprehensive marketing and agency &A1 & §4 & (R IR AR

services 22,859 32,585
Data centre services gD RTS 26,423 22,367
Total revenue from contracts with RKEEFAEHZBRIA

customers 1,239,737 1,240,904
Revenue from other sources K EE KR Z WA
Gross rental income from investment REFREMELEHEZHE

property operating leases WA saza 917 -
Total revenue FEUON 1,240,654 1,240,904
Disaggregation of the Group's revenue from contracts with AEBZEPEHWAFSEHINAT

customers is set out below:

2025 F 2024 €
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFIT

Timing of revenue recognition WA BRI R

Over time P& B ] 1,215,188 1,240,813
At a point in time R 24,549 91
Total 45 1,239,737 1,240,904
Geographical markets [ 747

Mainland China PEIAH 1,239,737 1,240,904
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS H A R W
2025 F 2024 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KtaF AR¥FT ARETFIT
Investment return from financial BAFEFTABRED
assets at fair value through SRIE ERRE DR
profit or loss, net R
Fair value losses N EEE (3,729) (2,575)
Dividend income g EWA - 58
Interest income A A
Bank interest income HRITH B A 591 923
Other interest income H At R SN - 334
Fair value loss on contingent LARENATEEE
consideration - (27,623)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment KEYENNTE
properties Wz, (E518) 15 (1,354) 7,957
Government grants* 5 T e Bl 18,906 35,649
Value-added tax (“VAT”) refund? RER ([EER ] EFA 4,457 2,446
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FH B A KE 34 - 52,269
Foreign exchange differences, net ME = EEHEE 76 4,658
Gain on early termination of leases  #ERIAX IEFE MUk S 16(c) 237 =
Others HAb 368 422
Total other income and gains B A Rss 4858 19,552 74,518

Government grants mainly represented incentives received for
investments in certain regions in Mainland China in which the
Company'’s subsidiaries operate, employment subsidies and other tax
incentives. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to these grants.

Value-added tax refund mainly attributable to the Value-Added Tax
Policy for Software Products (Cai Shui 2011 No. 100), in which for
sale of self-developed software products by a general VAT tax payer,
after VAT is levied at a tax rate of 17%, the refund-upon-collection
policy shall be applied and the portion of the actual VAT burden that
is in excess of 3% shall be refunded; and the Tax Policy for Further
Supporting and Promoting Entrepreneurship and Employment of
Focus Group (Cai Shui 2019 No. 22), in which value-added tax
deduction is granted for entering into employment contracts with the
focus group.

B # B = R AR RME R RLEHMESE
WA T HE R KR E PR A 228 - RIEmR K
H b FRUEE - 3% T BY W BRI A 2 R ks
REIH o

B BR B3 B 5 R S 2 S B B B R (B
Bi2011FF1005%) - B —RIEEB AT AHE
BERBENEMER @ 2 17% TR BUPEED
% BEALBRERRE  YEREEREEN
BRBB3%NHMS  RE T IMREEE
A ERE AT MBR (20195522
%) BRI EEREER REARIES
BERRL
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIAIESIE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEEBRBAEBREMNR /(5 A) Ti%
(crediting): 18 -
2025 F 20244
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE ARMFTT ARETFT
Depreciation of property and YENEEITE
equipment 14 45,955 39,636
Less: Amount capitalised B ERL SR = (412)
Total HEt 45,955 39,224
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FRHEEENE 16(a) 29,209 30,593
Amortisation of other intangible T ALATIE B # B Ath A 712
assets included in BEH
Cost of services AR 755 A 2N 13,714 10,745
Administrative expenses THHRX 17,491 17,492
Total a=t 18 31,205 28,237
Impairment loss on goodwill HERERE 17 56,742 224,838
Impairment losses on financial assets, < @l & B o (B 518 )% 58
net
Accounts receivable UL BR X 22 19,163 5,953
Other receivables H 4th fE W R IE 23 4,104 13,067
Total A=t 23,267 19,020

Loss on disposal of property and I E Y KRR EE *

equipment* 496 386
Loss on early termination of leases*  1RF 4% |- THEHYE1E * - 38
Lease payments not included inthe ~ TFr AT E&EFTEK

measurement of lease liabilities AER 16(c) 7,495 11,103
Auditor's remuneration 1% EREN N & 3,840 3,808
Employee benefit expense (including {EE®AEX (BREEER

directors’ and chief executive’s =T AEME)

remuneration)

Wages, salaries and other social I& - FelkEfade

welfare benefits &7 775,272 736,940

Pension scheme contributions” RIRBETEIHZRA 75,730 69,620

Termination benefits BB AR I 1,829 2,764

Less: Amount capitalised B BN e = (8,103)
Total B=t 852,831 801,221
* It is included in “Other expenses and losses” in profit or loss. * HABRZ [EMESREBEI R -

A There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as A 1BE 452 g £ 2K T ¢y 25 2= BV B 1B = B VERIK IR A
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. WHKTE o
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FINANCE COSTS 8. HMIHA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: WA DHTIAT
2025 F 2024 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

et ARBTT ARETT

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZHE 16(b) 2,649 2,900
Interest on consideration payables ERAREZF B 29 696 3,619
Interest on bank borrowings IRITERZ A E 510 1,891
Interest on other borrowings HEiERz A 15,600 15,900
Total FEE 19,455 24,310
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERBEITTHRAEME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year, BB Al %2 RE S FmRE b ([GEM £
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of MR A ]) - FAERQTHERGE 383(1)@) ~ (b)
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock QO IEERARI(BEEENRELR) RH
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), F2HWENARFEEEN TS ITHA S
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part LW
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2025 F 2024 5
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AREFT AR®ETT

Fees e 706 1,092
Other emoluments: Hi s :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in e RMREYAN S
kind 4,069 1,659
Pension scheme contributions RIS &I 439 234
Termination benefits BB 1= 5 136 -
Subtotal /N 4,644 1,893
Total fees and other emoluments e REAMM S BT 5,350 2,985
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9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

9. EENBSITBRAEME®)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Termination Total
Fees inkind contributions benefits remuneration
¥4 EHR Bike
He BNFIE AR BRER “BHe
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
2025 2025%
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. QU Xiaojian PR - - - - -
Mr. LI Xiang F8EL - 632 159 - 791
Mr. HU Shilong (note (j) MBS (M2 () - 960 93 = 1,053
Ms. ZHOU Fang (note (i) BE &L (Bi0) - 960 93 - 1,053
Ms. LIU Xiaochen (note (i) B/t (K (i) - 597 32 - 629
Mr. XU Gang (note (i) 1R ST (B () - 560 33 = 593
Mr. WANG Rui (note (i) FERE W () - 360 29 - 389
Subtotal N - 4,069 439 - 4,508
Independent non-executive BUFBHTES:
directors:
Mr. ZENG Liang BRELE 178 - - - 178
Mr. WANG Li Fh%E 178 - - - 178
Mr. YANG Hongjun (note (iii) W A (B (i) 67 = = = 67
Ms. LI Guiying (note (i) FRE L (5 (i) 67 = = = 67
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID %2 4
(note (i) (K3t (i) 108 - - 68 176
Mr. ZHANG Weidong (note (i) SRERIE (A (i) 108 - - 68 176
Subtotal et 706 - - 136 842
Total s 706 4,069 439 136 5,350
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBSITHAEME#)

REMUNERATION (Continued)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Termination Total
Fees inkind  contributions benefits  remuneration
E = RikE
we ENfls SRR BEREN Bhs
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT  AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
2024 2024 %
Executive directors: HTEE.
Mr. QU Xiaojian il e = = = = =
Mr. Ll Xiang 5L - 610 147 = 757
Mr. HU Shilong (note (i) TR (Hfa () - 400 38 = 438
Ms. ZHOU Fang (note (i) BB &+ (frat () - 400 38 - 438
Ms. LIU Xiaochen (note (i) BINR A £ (B3 (i) = 99 4 = 103
Mr. XU Gang (note (i) RIS A (Kt (i) - 90 4 - 9%
Mr. WANG Rui (note (ii) TER&E () - 60 3 - 63
Subtotal N = 1,659 234 = 1,893
Independent non-executive BUFRTES:

directors:

Mr. ZENG Liang BREAE 273 - - - 273
Mr. WANG Li E)pited 273 = = = 273
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID % &

(note (i) (B i) 273 = = = 273
Mr. ZHANG Weidong (note (i) SRR (Bt (i) 273 = - - 273
Subtotal Nat 1,092 = = = 1,092
Total 2R 1,092 1,659 234 = 2,985
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes:

(i) On 7 November 2023, Mr. HU Shilong was appointed as an executive
director and the chief executive officer of the Company, and Ms.
ZHOU Fang was appointed as an executive director of the Company.

(ii) On 8 February 2024, Ms. LIU Xiaochen, Mr. XU Gang and Mr. WANG
Rui were appointed as executive directors of the Company.

(iii) On 23 August 2024, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG
Weidong resigned as independent non-executive directors, and Mr.
YANG Hongjun and Ms. LI Guiying were appointed as independent
non-executive directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year.

9.

EEREETHRAEME &)

B -

(i) M2023F 11 A78 - Bt BELEEZTEAARAR]
WITESRITREH - MASZLEZEAAA
RIMITES -

(ii) R2024F2A8H « Bl BFR&+ - HRAIEERT
BREEZT AR ARRITES -

(i)  ®20244 8823 H - Stephen MARKSCHEID %€ 4
RREREEBTEARRBILIENITES @ Mis
HEEEERTERL LT BREZTANARBEILIED
TES -

FALBEELHZSTRAERELRER
REAME AL -
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year included
five (2024: three) directors of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2024 of

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

AuESHMES

FARAEZESHWNEE 2ERSR (20244 :
=R)AREEE - HFBFF BN L
T M TMEZR=HIES (WIEAQARE
L& THRAE)EHE2024F12 8318

the remaining two highest paid employees who were IEFEERFMFBOT ¢
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:
2025 F 2024 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - E8 R EWHIZ - 1,339
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIME R = 28
Termination benefits BEES A2 A - 1,288
Total st - 2,655

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

FHN T A THBENIFES RIERSTRA
BEMEEHMEEABLT

2025 & 2024 F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T 2 1,500,000 78 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7L = 2,000,000 /5 7T - 1
Total ast = 2
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Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and the respective
regulations, the Group's entities which operate in Mainland
China are subject to corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate
of 25% (2024: 25%) on the taxable income, except for
certain subsidiaries which were entitled to a preferential tax
rate of 15% (2024:15%) because they were regarded as
“High and New Technology Enterprises”, and certain
subsidiaries which were entitled to an effective preferential
tax rate of 5% (2024: 5%) of the taxable income between
RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 because they were
regarded as “small-scaled minimal profit enterprises”, one
of the criteria of which is with annual taxable income no
more than RMB3,000,000 during the corresponding year.
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2024: Nil).

11. INCOME TAX 11. FIB8%H

RIEPZEAREME ([FRH]) DERBRE
MAERAEA - AEBR B E AL LT
A FERR UL AR 25% (2024 5 25% ) K]
REBNEEMESF([EEMSR] - #S
FTHEBARAKRES B EMEE] M
ZHE15% (202445 : 15% ) WEBEH R LA
FHBAR ARG A [NARBFICE] mE
B AR 1,000,000 TE A R ¥ 3,000,000 7T
2 EERT WA RI5% (20244 : 5%) WA
MEBHE R — KR EEREANIEES
ERFERRTRATBERAR3,000,000
T ° AR ARE B R F AL ERE S E ST
FERTRGEF » T BB BFEFRIEHBE
(2024 : &) o

2025 F 2024 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFIT
Current tax — Mainland China BIERFR 18 — PR B0 A3

Charge for the year FALH 4,307 8,297

Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior BAFERETR (B
years Bf) 3,362 (503)
7,669 7,794
Deferred (note 31) IEAE (5E31) (11,349) (2,764)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FRMELH,(ER) B (3,680) 5,030

The share of tax credit attributable to an associate
amounting to RMB659,000 (2024: tax expense of
RMB3,000) is included in “Share of loss of an associate” in
profit or loss.

— B & A F) B G B IEE % A R 659,000
JL (20244 : BIIAR S AR 3,0007T) 5F A
Bz [Eh—EBE R AREE] -
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to loss
before tax at the statutory tax rate of the PRC in which the
majority of the Group’s subsidiaries are domiciled and/or

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

11. FTB% (2

BAREBMAAME AR MR, AL PR
ERBAAE R R B ORISR ERN
BIEF S, (ER) RIE BB R ENHIE

operate to the tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rate is B (%) EEEMT ¢
as follows:
2025 F 2024 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFIT
Loss before tax BRA% A BT 18 (207,063) (199,917)
Tax at the statutory rate of 25% R 25% (2024 4F
(2024: 25%) 25%) st E IR (51,766) (49,979)
Lower tax rates for other jurisdictions or  E fih @] A [& sk b 77 1 B8 2815 HY
enacted by local authorities BIRMRE 18,999 5,032
Adjustments in respect of current tax of 8 1F EAfE BN HAR: 18 5
pervious periods 3,362 (503)
Loss attributable to an associate — Bt S N R (R 1B 730 (175)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR 12,840 44,467
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  i@%F i 2 B) AR IEE 18 (4,566) (9,792)
Tax losses not recognised RNERIAEE 26,751 23,109
Tax effect of 100% relief with respect to A BT 25I 2 100% JE %K)
research and development expenses MRS (10,030) (7,129)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s RAREEERGRTERFIE
effective rate S (ER) (3,680) 5,030
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2024: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss (2024: loss) per share
amount is based on the loss (2024: loss) for the year
attributable to owners, i.e., ordinary equity holders, of the
Company of RMB207,729,000 (2024: RMB197,382,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
4,776,019,590 outstanding during the year (2024:
4,776,019,590).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss (2024: loss)
per share amount presented for the year ended 31 March
2025 in respect of a dilution because the Group had no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

12.

13.

RS

HZE2025F 3831 BIEFEIERAR A
LB L kiR BRI S - B3RS
7R LA 2R IR £ 42 55 R B3 L fa] AR B (2024 4F ¢
/) o

RABERERERAARGLER
iR

FREAEEQ024F : BFiB) 2B IIBE
AAREA A (BT ERERSSTEA) BRE
WIETE (2024 4F « EB1E) AR % 207,729,000
70 (2024 % : AR¥197,382,0007T) REFEA
B 317 I3 A% I 4 19 £104,776,019,590 i
(20244 : 4,776,019,590 % ) 5t & -

MR ARNEEREE2025E3 4318 ILEE
WD B TBEE ST @R (2024 F « &) -
M B S A = 2025F3 A31 B IEF
B2 ERERNEE(2024F : Big)&
BIEH AR -
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. YEKRRE
Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold  fixtures and and other Motor
improvements  equipment equipment vehicles Total
B #£8 EfK
HEMERE R#EE Htr AE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBFn  ARETT ARETnT ARETxn

31 March 2025 20253 H31H
At 1 April 2024 R2024564F1H

Cost B 7R 117,144 12,909 49,836 4,954 184,843

Accumulated depreciation 258 (52,236) (5,708) (29,810) (2,776) (90,530)

Net carrying amount REFE 64,908 7,201 20,026 2,178 94,313
Cost at 1 April 2024, R2024F4 A 18

net of accumulated R - IR 25

depreciation e 64,908 7,201 20,026 2,178 94,313
Additions NE 12,761 1,183 1,279 545 15,768
Disposals HE (575) (139) (1,330) - (2,044)
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHENE

the year (32,731) (3.479) (8,721) (1,024) (45,955)
Cost at 31 March 2025, R2025%3 A31H

net of accumulated R - IR 25

depreciation nE 44,363 4,766 11,254 1,699 62,082
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H

Cost B X 129,330 13,953 49,785 5,499 198,567

Accumulated depreciation 2EE (84,967) (9,187) (38,531) (3,800) (136,485)

Net carrying amount BREFE 44,363 4,766 11,254 1,699 62,082
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

14. WERFRE®)

Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold fixtures and and other Motor
improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total
B KE ERN
HEMEEE B Hii AE @5t
RIVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RIVB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  AREFTL AREFT AREFT ARETT
31 March 2024 20243 H31H
At 1 April 2023 R2023564H1H
Cost XN 93,855 3,106 45,692 5,027 147,680
Accumulated depreciation ZiihE (31,929) (1,060) (17,382) (1,792) (52,163)
Net carrying amount BREFE 61,926 2,046 28,310 3,235 95,517
Cost at 1 April 2023, R2023F4A1H
net of accumulated MIRKA Bk 25t
depreciation e 61,926 2,046 28310 3,235 95,517
Additions RE 32,645 2,569 5,959 268 41,441
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHEAR
(note 34) (i 34) (1,295) = (386) = (1,681)
Disposals HE - ) (990) (341) (1,333)
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHENE
the year (23,389) (2,396) (12,867) (984) (39,636)
Transfers o (4,984) 4,984 = = =
Exchange realignment P 3 % 5 - - - 5
Cost at 31 March 2024, R2024%3A31H
net of accumulated RIRAN » HIBR R 5T
depreciation e 64,908 7,201 20,026 2,178 94,313
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H
Cost YR 117,144 12,909 49,836 4,954 184,843
Accumulated depreciation ZEHiE (52,236) (5,708) (29,810) (2,776) (90,530)
Net carrying amount REFE 64,908 7,201 20,026 2,178 94,313
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
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15. REWE

2025 F 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETFIT

Carrying amount at 1 April »®4 /1 BRERHEEAE 12,020 =

Amount transferred from prepayments HEBRNFIEN SR - 3,289

Additions NE 1,614 774
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value adjustment ~ AF(EFEWz (EE) F58

(note 6) (Btite) (1,354) 7,957

Carrying amount at 31 March M3 A31 BREREE 12,280 12,020

The Group’s investment property consists of one industrial
property in Mainland China, which were revalued on 31
March 2025 based on valuations performed by AVISTA
Business Consulting (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at RMB12,280,000. Each
year, the Group’s management decide to appoint which
external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations
of the Group’s investment property. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
management have discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property is leased to a third party under an
operating lease to earn rental income.

The Group's investment property is categorised within Level
3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy. During the year,
there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2024: Nil).

REERKEMEBIT—BLRF R A HF
TEWE ZEWMER2025F3A31HIR
BB BEAERAEM Y EAESBACF
) BERARETHHEEHFAARE
12,280,0007C ° B - AEBEEERERTEE
TAEAEEIREMEISGHEHINBEE
Bl - BRERIBIEIS MG B2 By %
MREHEBFEENRE - AEBEEEERTE
B iR T ER EAERM R A ERR
MGEER -

REMFRBLEROEMETE =77 ARN
HEUWA e

REENKRENMEBNATEFEBRE=
WHtE - FRN - AFEFEWENE —HHE
FoAzEER TEEASERE =R
(20244 : £®) -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the
key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment

property:

31 March 2025

15. BEWHE (&)

T RS BRE MR G EMBEERM &
TEHAREBEME

20253 A31H

Rate or

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs average value

fRE R BEATAEHEH AR LR R IGE

Term and reversion FHREEE Reversionary yield LGS 6.8%
method

Contractual rent (per okt RMB13.28

square metre per month)  (BA®FHK) AR%13.287%

Market rent (per square miHHEE RMB10.63

metre per month) (BRE¥HK) AR¥1063%T

The term and reversion method measures the fair value of
the property by taking into account the rental income
derived from the lease contract during the leasing period,
and the existing leases of comparable properties with due
allowance for the reversionary income potential of the leases
beyond the leasing period, which are then capitalised into
the value at appropriate rates.

A significant increase (decrease) in the reversionary yield in
isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase) in
the fair value of the investment property. A significant
increase (decrease) in the contractual/market rent would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of
the investment property.

FHRERATEVEORFE  FAME
HINREHES MBS WA - URATEL
BWENREHEE - Y HEMREENE
EERRAFHEERE  ERREZLX
HEEREER -

R E R R ARSI O D) K E B
BEYMENRFERERD BN - &4,
SRS AREMORD) S ERIREMENR
FEREEMORD)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. BEYE &)
31 March 2024 202453 A31H
Rate or
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs average value
(B $ i BEAT A E R AR b= HE
Term and reversion FHREERE Reversionary yield 1B e 2 6.8%
method
Market rent (per square higzzriEkA RMB10.73
metre per month) (BAEFEHXK) ARE10737T
The term and reversion method measures the fair value of FHRER AT EMENATE st RKRE
the property by taking into account the rental income AALEMXEAHRENHES WA - Wt
derived from the existing leases of comparable properties EMEBETERRAELHEEBE  AEikE
with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of B EGEEBEER -
the leases, which are then capitalised into the value at
appropriate rates.
A significant increase (decrease) in the reversionary yield in BRENERWEEREIEMORD) S8R
isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase) in EYERNRNFERERD () - mi5HEE
the fair value of the investment property. A significant RiB5 M ORA) BB BURE M ERN R TFEKXR

increase (decrease) in the market rent would result in a TR AN R ) °
significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property.
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16. LEASES 16. HE
The Group as a lessee KEBEREAHEA
The Group has lease contracts for various buildings for office AEBBRELEMTANRAETWERET
premises and staff quarters used in its operations, and the BENZEBFIINHEESA BN F—
lease terms ranged from one year to ten years. FETF o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) BHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use AEBFEAEEE(EF)NEREE
assets, i.e., buildings, and the movements during the RERNEEBMT -
year are as follows:
2025 ¥ 2024 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT ARETIT
Carrying amount at 1 April »4 A1 HRERMEE 68,819 52,916
Additions NE 34,875 40,662
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) & — B AR (Mt 34) - (317)
Depreciation charge WwEBH (29,209) (30,593)
Lease extension HEEH - 13,491
Lease termination MERIE (7,138) (7,340)
Carrying amount at 31 March M3 A31 BREREE 67,347 68,819
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEERABAE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FRNHEEENREEREDHNT :

movements during the year are as follows:

2025 2024 4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ETFT ARBTFT
Carrying amount at 1 April n4 H1BREREE 67,468 48,422
New leases HHEE 34,875 40,662
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE—RMB AR (Kat34) - (310)
Accretion of interest recognised F TR B F S N
during the year 2,649 2,900
Payments (DB (28,431) (30,395)
Lease extension THEEHS - 13,491
Lease termination HEXIE (7,375) (7,302)
Carrying amount at 31 March M3 A31 BREREE 69,186 67,468
Analysed into: DA
Current portion mENE oD
Repayable within one year —FREE 28,809 22,448
Non-current portion FEmEN D
Repayable in the second year RE_FEE 21,744 17,224
Repayable in the third to fifth years, HRE=ZZEFERF (4
inclusive HEMF)EEZ 18,571 27,504
Repayable beyond five years hERER 62 292
Subtotal IEt 40,377 45,020
Total Sy 69,186 67,468

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on the
contractual undiscounted payments is disclosed in

note 40 to the financial statements.

ERNANARBANTNEER GRS
DT T R FE 40K EE -
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16. LEASES (Continued)

16. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERAEABA S
(c) The amounts charged/(credited) to profit or () REz=FHIER (:tA) BEEHEER
loss in relation to leases are as follows: SEEMF :
2025 F 2024 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ART T ARMFT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZFIE 2,649 2,900
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENEER
assets 29,209 30,593
Loss/(gain) on early termination of AR I E M EE(UES)
leases (237) 38
Expense relating to short-term leases EEHER AN 7,495 11,103
Total amount recognised in profitor ~ FMEZSER K EEE
loss 39,116 44,634
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d HEZREREHEENMBHRERMT
35(c) to the financial statements. 35(c) K E= ©
The Group as a lessor AEBERHBEA

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) under an
operating lease arrangement. The terms of the lease require
the tenant to pay a security deposit. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB917,000
(2024: Nil), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
the operating lease with its tenant are as follows:

AEERBRLHEREER R E YR (K
iE15) c MEJRRMERKEPZNRESR ©

AEERFRNERZHSUKABARKE
917,000 7T (2024 F : 4&) - FFIEE NI EHR
RMIFES ©

RIERR - NEBEBREBEPMAT LKL
‘alﬁTﬁAifiPKHﬁﬁEE’JFH&X REIRFEE (300

2025 £ 2024 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFr AE®FT

Within one year —FR 1,101 =
After one year but within two years —FEAFA 1,101 =
After two years but within three years MER=FN 183 =
Total FEE 2,385 =
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Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
attributable to KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “KingNine Group”) which are
principally engaged in the provision of back-office services
(primarily provision of customer service solutions, and setting
up of contact service systems and centres), comprehensive
marketing and agency services and data centre services. As
at 31 March 2025, the recoverable amount of the KingNine
Group cash-generating unit (“CGU") has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation and this valuation was
performed by an independent qualified professional valuer.
The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering a 5-year period. The KingNine Group’s cash flows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a perpetual
growth rate, which approximates the long term average
growth rate of the relevant business in Mainland China,
which is similar to the long term average inflation rate in
Mainland China.

17. GOODWILL 17. B8
2025 & 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYMT T ARMTF T
Cost at 1 April R4 B 1 B8R 630,965 630,965
Accumulated impairment at 1 April R4 81 BRRFRIE (574,223) (349,385)
Net carrying amount at 1 April 4 FA1 BRIREFE 56,742 281,580
Cost at 1 April, net of accumulated K481 BRI - {1k REt
impairment RIE 56,742 281,580
Impairment B (56,742) (224,838)
Cost at 31 March, net of accumulated K3 A31 BRI @ ks K5t
impairment E - 56,742
Cost at 31 March ® 3 A31 B A 630,965 630,965
Accumulated impairment at 31 March M3 A31 B R RE (630,965) (574,223)
Net carrying amount at 31 March M3 A31 BREREFE - 56,742
Impairment testing of goodwill EERE R

FEBETEE GRS 602 5 B R KingNine
Holdings Limited ([ KingNine |) & E K& A 7]
(%78 [KingNine &£ B |) * 2S5 RRIEERSE
RUEBERG(FERHZFPRBBRSTR
NREVEERBERFART L) 2 EEH
RARIZPRH R BB LIRS - 7202563 A
31H ' KingNine R ER & EHEM ([REE
B ]) 2R Bl e B REAEBETER
FETEEBAMEHRE LS EREEGERD
BT - ZETERAERAEEEEE L&
METFHUBEENRESRESEA -
KingNine & & 5 BR LA SNRO IR € 7 = BRI 7k
BRRERYE  ZEREEPEAMEHE
BHRATEEREEE - BlEPBE A
REATHERERE -
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17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. B2 )

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as
follows:

Revenue growth and perpetual growth rates

Revenue growth rates were estimated ranging from 2.5%
to 6.4% (2024: 3.0% to 11.4%) per annum for the
KingNine Group CGU throughout the 5-year budget plan,
as determined by management with reference to the
historical rates in prior years, adjusted by management’s
outlook of expected market development. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated by using a
steady perpetual growth rate of 2% (2024: 2.5%).

Discount rate

Discount rate was estimated to be 19.2% (2024: 21.6%)
which is before tax and represents the current market
assessment of the risks specific to the KingNine Group CGU,
taking into consideration the time value of money and
individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been
incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate
calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the
Group and its operating segment and is derived from its
weighted average cost of capital (“WACC"). The WACC
takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity
is determined using the Capital Asset Pricing Model
("“CAPM"). The CAPM depends on a number of inputs
reflecting financial and economic variables, including risk-
free rate and a premium to reflect the inherent risk of the
business being evaluated. These variables are based on the
market’s assessment of the economic variables and
comparable listed companies with business scopes and
operations similar to those of the CGU. The cost of debt is
based on the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is
obliged to service. Company specific risk is incorporated by
valuer’s professional judgement and experience, including
the consideration of unlisted company risk premium and
business risk in sustaining the future growth.

Such estimation is based on the KingNine Group CGU'’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

BB RERH (@)

AEEREERANIERRAOT

WA BREKEERE

MNE[MAFBETEIA © KingNine £EIR &
EEBUHNBAREREHANTEF25%
£6.4% (202445 :3.0% & 11.4%) » JhHEE
BEX2EAFNELEREMET @ WRK
EEEMNESRMISEEANSETHE - AF
HENRSRENFERABEKELERE2%
(20244 : 2.5%) hNAMEE o

BRE

BE IR R (H 5t 219.2% (20244 : 21.6%) °
Z AR R ThBR B AT B 48 KingNine EBIR € &
FEBEMSFERBHIBITTSNE  ERER
NEBNEFMEELRSREMFTHFIES
M EEEENER R o BHIRE TR RS
BERELESIBHEFEBRGTE WA E
NEFHES A ([INEFHESKAR]) -
T E S MANGT RE RiEz o BRIERK
AEREAEEEBEXN([EAEETEEE
KDETE - EAEEEBEREATURRZER
Bk B 75 R A B 2 B A SR - BIERER
FR R RMFTF G5 2 BB RRAEE
ZEEEDEREKESSUREBREE R
LEREUNBESEESEMNNMBE EMARE
MiGaHaMmE c EHEKANBEBEAEEER
FEEN BERETE - N RHEE R KR
R EMNEZEHE R ERINAERE - &4
BIEEBEAR TR ARG E &4 R E
BREOEBRER -

BB ET TR B KingNine R B IR & E £ B
ZBERBAREEBHMISER 2 TAMESL -
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Discount rate (Continued)

Due to complex environmental factors such as the
continuing downturn of the global economy and slower-
than-expected growth of certain consumer product/service
segments in the PRC, the recovery of the PRC’s overall
economy was disturbed, and the growth of service demand
from some of the KingNine Group’s customers was at a
slow pace, resulting in a slower growth rate of revenue
generated from the main business of the Group. The
recoverable amount of the KingNine Group CGU
at 31 March 2025 was RMB177,714,000 (2024:
RMB298,253,000), which was lower than the KingNine
Group's carrying amount (before impairment) of goodwill
and other assets including intangible assets at 31 March
2025 with an aggregate amount of RMB234,456,000 (2024
RMB523,091,000), resulting in an impairment loss on
goodwill of RMB56,742,000 charged to profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: RMB224,838,000).
Accordingly, the Group’s goodwill has become fully impaired
as at 31 March 2025.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

17. BE #)

BB RERH (@)
BBEEE)

HREHREEFERRETEETHE
fm RIEDBEEENBHEEHRER
= PEEBLHEERS R TE - KingNine
EEBLOBTLNRE T IEREE  BHA
EEITLEBELENWRAEERE-
KingNine & B 37 € 2 4 8 (i /A 20254 3 A
31EMAIKESE A AR 177,714,000 T
(20244 : AR #298,253,0007T) @ KR
KingNine & B 7420253 A31 H M B &
HWEE (BREFEE)NERAECRER)
& H A R #234,456,000 7T (202445 : AR
#5523,091,0007T ) © BB A =2025F 3 A
31 HIEFEREREREEARSS6,742,000
JT (20244 : AR# 224,838,000 T) B85
k- Atk B2025F3 8318 A& H
WEEE2ERE -
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. HthBILEE

Customer  Technology Development
Brand relationship  know-how Patent cost Software Total
il
ol EFBE EXAE B RS Bl @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBTL ARETE ARETR ARBTD AREFT  AREFR
31 March 2025 2025§3831R
At 1 April 2024 R20U4E4R18
Cost KA 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,39 1,750 N 242,619
Accumulated amortisation 2534 = (29,989) (30,503) (2,39) = (17,588) (80,476)
Net carrying amount R FE 61,900 30,711 13,597 - 1,750 54,185 162,143
Cost at 1 April 2024, R204E4R18
net of accumulated HRA - MR Rt
amortisation B 61,900 30,711 13,597 - 1,750 54,185 162,143
Additions ME = - - - - 152 152
Transfers E = - - - (1,750) 1,750 -
Amortisation provided ENGHEES
during the year - (8,671) (8,820) - - (13,714) (31,205)
Costat3! March 2025, 720253 A31H
net of accumulated HRCA « MR 25t
amortisation B 61,900 22,040 4,771 - - 423713 131,090
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H
Cost A 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% - 72,220 241,316
Accumulated amortisation 2534 o (38,660) (39,323) (2,39%) o (29,847) (110,226)
Net carrying amount REFE 61,900 22,040 4171 = = 42313 131,090
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. HWBEEE #)
Customer  Technology Development
Brand  relationship know-how Patent cost Software Total
i
mie XFPHR B2 = BENAR (s @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFT ANRETT ARETT ARETT ARETr AREFr  AREfr
31 March 2024 2024E3A31H
At 1 April 2023 R20354R18
Cost 7 61,900 60,700 44100 2,3% 8,791 58,660 236,547
Accumulated amortisation 25t - (21317) (21,683) (2,39%) - (11,030) (56,426)
Net carrying amount REFE 61,900 39,383 2417 - 8,791 47630 180,121
Cost at 1 April 2023, R20BE4R1H
net of accumulated MR - bR 5t
amortisation B 61,900 39,383 2417 - 8,791 47,630 180,121
Additions RE = - - - 11,447 794 12,241
Transfers £ - - - = (18,488) 18,488 =
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHBAR
(note 34) (Hiit34) - - - - - (1,982) (1,982)
Amortisation provided ENHRE S
during the year - (8,672) (8,820) - - (10,745) (28,237)
Cost at 31 March 2024, R2024%3A31R
net of accumulated MR bR 25t
amortisation ] 61,900 30,711 13,597 - 1,750 54,185 162,143
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A318
Cost R 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% 1,750 ANIE 22,619
Accumulated amortisation  E5HEkSE - (29,989) (30,503) (2,396) = (17,589) (80,476)
Net carrying amount RE%E 61,900 30,711 13,597 - 1,750 54,185 162,143

The brand is considered by the management of the Group
as having indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows to the Group indefinitely. The
brand is not amortised, and its recoverable amount has been
assessed together with the goodwill arising from the
acquisition of the KingNine Group, details of which are set
out in note 17 to the financial statements.

AEBEEERAMEEERAFRAFE -
AR EEReERBAAEEERE S
MAFRE o Zen I B - kel &5
BB R U KingNine SE B FTE £ B &2 —fF
S - FEIBEA M S RRMET o
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18.

19.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, in addition to the brand, the Group’s
other intangible assets included customer relationship,
technology know-how, and software with carrying amounts
amounting to RMB22,040,000, RMB4,777,000 and
RMB7,220,000 (2024: RMB30,711,000, RMB13,597,000
and RMB9,628,000), respectively, arose from the acquisition
of the KingNine Group, and their respective remaining
amortisation periods were 3.54 years, 1.54 years and 3.54
years (2024: 4.54 years, 2.54 years and 4.54 years).

HitELEE &)

R202543 A31H @ BRI REBH
EMEFEERREFPBE  HITEEME
EE4 - BREES B A& A K 22,040,000
7T~ AR 4,777,000 7T K AR # 7,220,000
JL (20244 + AR#30,711,0007T /\Eﬁ%
13,597,000 7T X AR % 9,628, OOOTE)
WEEKingNine R EmESE - HX EE’Jﬁ%T%&
SHER D B A& 3.544F « 1.54%4 N 3.544F (2024
4545 - 254 RKRASAGE) o

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—EEEQATNKRE
2025 F 2024 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T ABRET T
Share of net assets EBHEEFE 1,283 4,201
Goodwill on acquisition TR 23,451 23,451
Total FEES 24,734 27,652

The Group held 49% equity interest in Chengdu ThinkMore
Technology Co., Ltd., which used to be a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. Details of the disposal transaction
are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

The following table illustrates the financial information of
the Group’s associate which is not considered individually
material:

AEEFEKREBBRE LB AR AR 49%
Bt ZRABERAKENEENE AR
HER S ZFHBHNAHRERME34 -

TRHAFEBERBR AL TEA M
DEMPAEEH -

2025 2024 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF ARKFT
Share of the associate i3 A =NG

Loss for the year FANEE 2,918 699
Other comprehensive income for the year FRE fh 2 W25 - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FARAZHEERET 2,918 699

Carrying amount of the Group's REBERE A RRERNREE
investment in the associate 24,734 27,652
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20. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT  20. {EE AR AFEFAEM2ZENK
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER mHERRE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The Group’s equity investments designated at fair value RNEBIRTE ABIEATET AEM 2 EIKZRE
through other comprehensive income comprised equity EREEOENPEA N AREIE LT RS
interests in two unlisted entities (2024: two) established in (20244 : MfA) RRRHE + E 202563 A
the PRC, the fair values of whom were nil as at 31 March 3TEHRNAFEAEZ(2024F : F) °
2025 (2024: Nil).
INVENTORIES 21. BE
2025 & 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Accessories, phones and packages B - BRERBE 86 24
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 22. FEUWARSK
2025 & 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBF T
Accounts receivable JE U BR 3R 569,008 680,710
Impairment SRR (31,665) (12,502)
Net carrying amount REFE 537,343 668,208

The Group generally allows a credit period of within three
months to its customers upon issuance of customer billings.
The directors of the Company are of the view that there
have been no significant increase in credit risk of default
because the amounts are from customers with good credit
rating and continuous repayment. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed periodically.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its accounts receivable balances.
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

AEB—RETHEFPEHELEPKRERS
BEAARKEER ARREFTRRENE
SRR EAEIE N - TR ZERIBEKE
AR EEFRRBFEERNES - £ER
ERHEFPZH  AEEGFEEERTPH
FEEER YIRELZRXPHEERE KT
BEFZEEREMTD G MM - A&
1] 36 425 L R MR BR SR A AR B (R R i dm K
Hip = MIgoatEit - RERRRRE -
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 22,

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the date of services
rendered and net of loss allowance for impairment, is as
follows:

FEW R (&)

REHR - ARSI (LR B 23 &

IR B L 5 15 13 g O R i 0

R -

2025 F 2024 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTFT ARBTFT

Within 60 days 60 HIA 213,399 204,455

61 to 120 days 61£120H 155,083 178,874

121 to 180 days 1212180 H 55,540 56,900

Over 180 days 180 BIA £ 113,321 227,979

Total HEt 537,343 668,208
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EWER SR BB BREEZEINT

accounts receivable are as follows:

2025 F 2024 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTFT ARSFT

At beginning of the reporting period R RS B ) 12,502 6,629

Impairment losses, net (note 7) BEE R FRE (K 7) 19,163 5,953

Disposal of a subsidiary & — KB A = (80)

At end of the reporting period RIREHR 31,665 12,502

E BB 1 hn (2024 4F : 8 0) T B AN A
EERBEERRTIRTIERHELER
(2024 : BIRE )R EUR SR ARZRIZ AN -
HA#HE2025F3 A31HIEFEEHENE
B E A AR E 23,955,000 7T (20245 + A
R#3,683,0007T) ° FEM AR SR E LA 1B
BRI SRR FE40 ©

The increase (2024: increase) in the loss allowance was
mainly due to the increase in gross amount of accounts
receivable categorised as loss (2024: watch list) under the
Group's internal credit risk grading assessment, of which the
corresponding loss allowance was RMB23,955,000 (2024:
RMB3,683,000) for the year ended 31 March 2025. Details
of impairment assessment of accounts receivable are set out
in note 40 to the financial statements.
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23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEARE  HihBEWRRER HAth
AND OTHER ASSETS BE
2025 & 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBFT
Current; e
Prepayments TEf IR 20,135 16,369
Due from former subsidiaries G NEPNGIE S 26,831 25,032
Due from an associate JE U — [t & R R FUR 18,880 19,500
Deposits, other receivables and B - HibEUGRIE R EAb
other assets BiE 28,533 48,616
94,379 109,517
Impairment B (35,740) (31,636)
Subtotal /NET 58,639 77,881
Non-current: IERB
Rental and management fee deposits HekEBERE 6,135 3,750
Total 5T 64,774 81,631

The amounts due from former subsidiaries before
impairment are interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 6% per
annum, unsecured and repayable on demand and the
amount due from an associate is interest-free, unsecured

and repayable within one year.

— &5
FREE -

& M5 A Bt I 2 B R (B A SR IR 4R B E 4R I K
6% &t B - IR AR BEREE - MERK
FERBRIEARE B RAR—

RN

2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT 4E3 177



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 0 5 e 2% Bi e

31March 2025202543 A 31 H

23.

24,

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
amounts due from former subsidiaries and other receivables
are as follows:

23.

ANRE - Hitt B F R R E At

EE®)

JFE W iy B B /1 ) SRR I At B W SR IR A R B
BEREZESHIT

2025 F 2024 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT ARBEFIT

At beginning of the reporting period R IR E B ) 31,636 23,519
Impairment losses, net (note 7) B ESRF R (KaE7) 4,104 13,067
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEHEAR - (4,950)
At end of the reporting period RIREHR 35,740 31,636

Details of impairment assessment of financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets are set
out in note 40 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss comprise minority interests in three unlisted companies
(2024: four) engaging in short-form video or live
broadcasting and related businesses in Mainland China, the
fair values of whom were nil as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
RMB4,812,000). They are classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to
recognise the fair value gain or loss through other
comprehensive income.

24,

ST ATERRIE - HAbRUGRIE R E M EER
T RE E R E T IE S M R R M 5T
40

BAFEFABRENEREE

AEBZAFEFABRNEREESTER
RE A EE Ao E R B ES R =
JEEM AR (20244 : POfE) WD B s
HR2025F3 A31BRMAFEAZ(20244F -
AR#4,812,0007T) ° RS E I AEE
BPEMEEUEERATEERZ %S
CREENBEAEAFEFABSHEHE
@ °
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
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25. RERREEEY  ERERR

PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED ZR&RE
CASH
2025 & 2024 5
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFIT
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTE% 104,769 83,267
Time deposits EBTER 6,122 3,157
Subtotal NEE 110,891 86,424
Less: oA
Pledged time deposits: ERE T
Non-current portion IEmENEB D (2,865) -
Current portion mEE S (3,.257) (3,157)
Subtotal /NET (6,122) (3,157)
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 11) (594)
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRESEEY 104,758 82,673

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits and restricted cash of the
Group denominated in RMB placed in Mainland China
amounted to approximately RMB109,506,000 (2024:
RMB77,611,000) is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at rates based on daily bank
deposit rates or respective time deposit rates ranging from
0.05% to 2.75% (2024: 0.01% to 2.75%).

The Group is required to pledge its time deposits at certain
banks for the issuance of letters of guarantee to certain
customers of the Group.

The Group's restricted cash mainly arose from the deposit
requirements of an online platform and the control
measures imposed in relation to the fulfillment of payment
requirements of a contract.

REEER - AEBRP EAHIAA RS
BErRERIBEEEY ERTFHREZRS
IR & %A AR ¥ 109,506,000 7 (2024 F
AR¥77,611,00070) > AREETRR] B H AL
BMAHMEE - R - RIEF B A INE
EREPIRERE SERMGESTERTE © A
S EE A S BEREETINEXEHERITIE
AREH S HMEY -

RITREBIENT0.05% 5 2.75% (20244
0.01% £2.75%) & H iR 1717 53X 7 & = 48
Ji& TE B 77 20 A1 SR BRE A B, o

REEAERERETRITOTHER - 1
MRS EE T B S SRS -

AEENRREREETEN—EELFEHN
TF AR E R FLBTT — 10 & K FARTE S AN
EEEmmESE -

2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT £# 179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wﬂ?/\ﬁjﬁiﬁﬁ Mj

31March 2025202543 A 31 H

26. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 26. FE{JBRRX

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of REEIR - BRI E X RIS BN
the reporting period, based on the date of service received, AT -
is as follows:

2025 F 2024 €

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFT

Within 60 days 60 BHA 4,011 7,487
61 to 120 days 61Z 120 H 919 11,648
121 to 180 days 121E 180 H 150 826
Over 180 days 180 HA 4,254 8,678
Total FEES 9,334 28,639

EABRRNFHEERH30H o BAKRN

The average credit period on accounts payable is 30 days.

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing. BRE o
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS HihENRERETER
2025 F 2024 5
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFIT
Current; me
Other payables H fth fE T 3R 20,539 23,699
Payroll payables BN TE 42,589 63,813
Other tax payables HAth fEIHIIR 6,638 15,856
Subtotal INEE 69,766 103,368
Non-current; e EI
Deferred income RIEL A 626 1,147
Total Bt 70,392 104,515

The average credit period on other payables is 90 days. Hth N RIBHNFHEEHR/0B - Hih
Other payables are non-interest-bearing. ERNRERRE
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28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group received advance payments from customers of
value-added telecommunication services. Contract liabilities
that are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal
operating cycle are classified as current based on the
Group'’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to
the customers. Revenue recognised during the year ended
31 March 2025 that was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting period amounted to
RMB1,029,000 (2024: RMB845,000). The increase in
contract liabilities from RMB845,000 at 1 April 2023 to
RMB1,029,000 at 31 March 2024, and from RMB1,029,000
at 1 April 2024 to RMB1,867,000 at 31 March 2025, was
mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received
from customers in relation to provision of customer service
solutions.

CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

In the prior year, on 15 October 2020, the Company
acquired 100% of equity interests of the KingNine Group
for a consideration of RMB1,012,224,000, comprising cash
consideration of RMB646,149,000, as calculated using an
annual discount rate of 4% on the actual cash payment
amount of RMB670,000,000, and consideration shares of
RMB366,075,000. During the year, the corresponding
annual finance costs with respect to the aforementioned
cash consideration amounted to RMB696,000 (2024:
RMB3,619,000) and full payment of the remaining
consideration of RMB28,734,000 has been made to the
sellers of the acquisition transaction, i.e., NINEGO
Corporation and FUNGHWA Ltd., in which NINEGO
Corporation is owned as to 40.60% by Mr. HU Shilong and
59.40% by Ms. LIU Yingying; while FUNGHWA Ltd. is
wholly-owned by Ms. ZHOU Fang. Both Mr. HU Shilong and
Ms. ZHOU Fang are directors of the Company and registered
shareholders of Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.
under the contractual agreements as detailed in note 41 to
the financial statements, and NINEGO Corporation and
FUNGHWA Ltd. are therefore regarded as related parties to
the Group.

28.

29.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

BHER

AEERREFBNESIZERBHBR - 7B
AR AERESKEEARNEENEGNE
& ERAEERNTFEEERURFENR
FEBOERARE - KRB E202543 A 31
BIEFEERRARA GEARESHINE L
BE) AARK1,029,0007T (20244 : AR
¥ 845,0007T) - AXIBER2023F4 818
" A R #845,000 7T 12 11 £ 20244 3 A 31
HE)A R 1,029,0007T » IF #2024 F 4 A
18 A R # 1,029,000 7T 1% fin & 2025 4 3
B31 B AR 1,867,0007T @ = EHAH
IRME PR ERA T R 8 & YER A S H
AFILINFTEN ©

FEAAE

RBEFE - BR2020F 108158 * AAF]
LAR(B ARE1,012,224,000 T (BHER SR
B AR 646,149,000 (IR ERIE & X ft
% %8 AR ¥ 670,000,000 7T B 4% &) 5 [Z B
WEEFE) RRERKRKD A K 366,075,000
7T ) Y & KingNine & B 100% A # - £ A -
FiSReRENHEFEMBERARAARE
696,0007C(20244F : ARK#3,619,0007T) *
meg NR(EB AR 28,734,000 7t B 2B H L+
F U BE X 5 & 75 (BININEGO Corporation
K FUNGHWA Ltd.) ° EZHNINEGO Corporation
MR EERBEL LT RIES
40.60% 5 59.40% : i FUNGHWA Ltd. f3 &
FRETEEHR - BREMBHRERWT4 AT
AR HEREEREF ZLY
ABARANREZRANESEMESRERDER
NAIME AR - ELENINEGO Corporation
N FUNGHWA Ltd. 5 5% & 72 & B H) Ba R 75 o
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

30. st RRITREMMER

BORROWINGS
2025 F 2024 F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ETFT ARBFT
Bank borrowings repayable: RIEENIRITES
Within one year —&FR 5,000 5,000
Other borrowings repayable: HEAEEER
Within one year —FRN 21,000 193,044
In the second year RE—F 208,644 =
Subtotal NE 229,644 193,044
Total #Et 234,644 198,044
Analysed into: DR
Current liabilities VLRI 26,000 198,044
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 208,644 =

The Group’s bank borrowings are unsecured and interest-

AE B R IRIT R R EIE R RIRE T F 7 X

bearing at a fixed rate at 3.45% (2024: 3.6%) per annum.

The Group’s other borrowings are unsecured and due to
related companies, details of which are as follows:

(i)

The other borrowings from an entity indirectly
controlled by the Company’s ultimate beneficial owner
with principal amounts of RMB60,000,000 (2024
RMB60,000,000) and RMB70,000,000 (2024:
RMB70,000,000) are interest-bearing at fixed rates of
12.0% and 12.0%, respectively, per annum (2024:
12.0% and 12.0%, respectively, per annum), and a
principal amount of RMB27,000,000 (2024:
RMB27,000,000) is interest-free (2024: interest-free).
The repayment date of the principal and interest
amounts of the Group’s other borrowings has been
extended from 31 March 2025 to 31 March 2027.

The other borrowings from NINEGO Corporation and
FUNGHWA Ltd. with an aggregate principal amount
of RMB21,000,000 (2024: Nil) are interest-free and
repayable at the first anniversary of the loan
drawdown date.

3.45% (20244 : 3.6% )T B °

AEBENEMERSEERREN TRER
BIAMERR - FBAT

() A&FARKE60,000,0007T (2024 F :
AR 60,000,0007T) K A R # 70,000,000
JC (2024 % : AR #70,000,0007T) 5K
BARRRKRERZER AMBEEHH
EREMNHMERD BIZEEFH =R
12.0% % 12.0% (20244 = F | & 5
AE12.0% K 12.0%) 518 - MASE
AR #27,000,0007T (2024 F : AR
27,000,0007T) &% 8. (20245 : &8 °
AEBMEMERNAE EFNESEN
EBEBHEMH2025F3A31HERSR
20273 A31H »

(i)  2RENINEGO Corporation &2 FUNGHWA
Ld M EMERASHLBEAEARE
21,000,0007C (20244 : #) AR B &
AREZRNBHERFEES -
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31. DEFERRED TAX 31. IEIERIR
The movements in gross deferred tax assets and liabilities FRBREREEERAGBEBZSHNOT

during the year are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments
of intangible
Impairment assets
of accounts  arising from
Unrealised ~ and other acquisition of  Right-of-use Lease
profits  receivables  subsidiaries assets liabilities Others Total
KNS
BUER AREEH
REtER  EFEE
AEREH  FEHE ATERRE  KREEE  HERE 2 szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEETL  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETR

Gross deferred tax assets/(iabiities) st~ 120234 § 1 BE)ELL

1 April 2023 HERE/(BF) 6% 4,944 2,544 (18,555) (5,975) 5395 789 (10,858)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE-RNBAR (HF4) - n) - = = = (27)
Deferred tax credited/{charged) to TABE/ (RMERIR)

profit or loss (note 11) ELHBEME 1) (1,464) 1,953 2624 (2,651) 3,129 827) 2,764

Gross deferred tax assets/(iabllities) at 12202443 A31 B R
31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 2024547 1 BHETT

REAE/(BR) 0% 3,480 4225 (15,931) (8,626) 8,524 (38) (8,366)
Deferred tax credited to profitorloss s ABRHELH A
(note 11) (fiz1) 4410 3,001 2,624 349 i 938 11,349

Gross deferred tax assets/(iabilties) at 1202543 A31 BEVEL
31 March 2025 REgE/(8R) 1% 7,890 1,226 (13.307) 821 8,551 900 2983
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset
on an individual entity basis and the Group’s net deferred
tax assets and liabilities presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

31.

EERIE (#)

FTEEMBEEERABCRENEEESE
i MAKERGEPBHNR 2R
ERAEERBEFEMAT

2025 F 2024 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT AREFIT

(Restated)

(#2&E%)

Net deferred tax assets IRIEFIE & BT 58 16,925 15,083
Net deferred tax liabilities RIEFIE B EFRR (13,942) (23,449)
2,983 (8,366)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately RMB524,687,000 (2024: RMB502,097,000),
subject to agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in
Mainland China of RMB280,387,000 (2024: RMB147,689,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses and other deductible temporary differences as
they have arisen in the Group’s entities that have been loss-
making for some time, or became loss making in current
year, and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 10% for the Group.

AEBREBEENTHEBEBOABARE
524,687,000 (20244 : AR%502,097,000
gL BEBHEBRE - ATERBABEER
SHEEBERN A RIMARRERTIRF] o &
ERARFPRERMEENTEEEARE
280,387,000 T(20244F : AR¥ 147,689,000
TC) ¢ A — E B G A EIHA DA 85 R 2R e ER
Fiim A

7R (B 3 8 5 5 1R S LA AT FUR S s =
MEREENREE  REAA/ZFBHENLE
AR E R ZRERECBE —BER - X
RAFEREBENAKEER  ABNK
Ha M AR R FRRNME - BRI AR BE
B RERTSE N 7] B IR 1R

NEE BB L L S H T B A s Ak ST B BT B A
B 200841 A1 BEEENEFFT KA
BHEMRTEMH - NEBEAMRERE10% °
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31.

32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group'’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totaled approximately RMB346,141,000 at
31 March 2025 (2024: RMB447,028,000), of which
RMB331,994,000 (2024: RMB413,877,000) are subject to
the CIT rate of 25% upon their transfers to Kingwisoft
Technology Co., Ltd. via the contractual arrangements as
further detailed in note 41 to the financial statements.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

31. ELERIE (&)

M2025F3H31H SIER A S BN+ E
WA S BT B A B B S AN TR0 R A R [ HH &
AN MIEINHERELERIE - NARE
ERE ZEWBRBITKATRERA BiE%K
DIRZERM e BN2025F3H31H » ER
R B B FT B A Rl IR E A B T s R R R
EHTEAENERERHETEAENAARKE
346,141,00070(20244F : AR¥E 447,028,000
JL)  HAR - AR% 331,994,000 7T (2024 4 :
AR® 413,877,000 7)) B BE N LHEEZET
SEMEREAR QR ER25% M E
FriS TR R4 » 5F 1B S A B 75 ) = BT 5%
41 »

2R B [A) B P BRI A A B 3 R B 75 (EART FAT A5
TIER

SHARE CAPITAL 32. RA&
2025 F 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT
Authorised: VETE
10,000,000,000 (2024: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 f%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (2024 4F : 10,000,000,000 %)
BRREEO0.01 BT T B 87,661 87,661
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHMRE
4,776,019,590 (2024: 4,776,019,590)  4,776,019,590 f%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (20244 : 4,776,019,590 %)
SRMEEO0.01 BT E B 40,442 40,442
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33. RESERVES 33. #fE

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 89 of
the financial statements.

Share premium

Share premium represents the proceeds received in excess
of the nominal value from share issuance, net of any directly
attributable transaction costs credited to share premium.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents the amounts set aside from the
retained profits by certain subsidiaries established in the PRC
and is not distributable as dividend. In accordance with the
relevant regulations and their articles of association, the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax profit according to
the PRC accounting standards and regulations to legal
reserves until such reserves have reached 50% of registered
capital. These reserves can only be used for specific purposes
and are not distributable or transferable to loans, advances,
cash dividends.

Revaluation reserve

Change in fair value of equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated within the
revaluation reserve within equity. The Group will transfer
amount from revaluation reserve to retained profits/
accumulated losses when the relevant equity instrument is
derecognised.

AEERANFERBEFREZHRSBRE
HE 2 NP RARFE LI A 247 %E &
EF

MR A {8

R £ )4t (8 #5 U BR B B A7) 31T 2 PR 1S 308 (31
ﬁ?&ﬂﬁ%ﬂgfﬁx%ﬁ}z$)tﬂﬁﬁ1ﬁﬁﬂ voul
BET AR (B

EERE

ERE REERN R B B A T B R RRER
BaMPBENESE  BETAERRESD
& o IRIBARBER M EABERA - AR
AR BRI A RIZA S iR R & 5t
HERIMROBENRH RGN ZRD10% 79
RMELEFHE  BEZSREEIEMER
WW%ﬁi %i%ﬁ@T%#ﬁi%L
DIRKEREER - BRFIRERE ©

Efhf#E

BERBAFEAAHEMEZE RSN ERR
ENRFEESNEME2EKDER - AR
REANEGFHERNRE - HAEEETA
RILHER - ARBE KR EMARHEER
ERBEF,REHEE -
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33.

34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RESERVES (continued)
Translation reserve

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
subsidiaries not operating in Mainland China are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e., Renminbi)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
Year ended 31 March 2024

On 27 February 2024, Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. (the
“Vendor”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Hainan Zhicheng Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (the “Purchaser”, an unrelated partnership
incorporated in the PRC) entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to buy a
51% equity interest in Chengdu ThinkMore Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Chengdu ThinkMore”) held by the Vendor at a cash
consideration of RMB30,600,000, of which RMB15,300,000
was to be settled within 30 business days from the effective
date of the Agreement and RMB15,300,000 was to be
settled within one year from the effective date of the
Agreement. Upon the disposal of 51% equity interest, the
Group ceased to have control but has significant influence
over Chengdu ThinkMore, which has since been classified as
an associate of the Group (note 19).

33.

34.
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|
BE 5 s

BTG AHBRETS - AEELIER D
EPE s HBAT 2 BERE BT
BRI 45 A RS i R A
B 2 HEH (IARS) - KARZHIER
TEHEE PHERETRE - RFER
BRI AR BRI R - RS
AT ARARR S B2 RTEE - fi
2 EHER(NA) DR E 2 TR
R - WA B R -

HE—EREB AR
BZE2024F3A31HILEFEE

20242278 e ERMEREERA
AITER] ARFE2ENBAR) EERE
BEEABRCEERER) ([BH] B¥
B MR MIERE A B %) R LR EE
FEipa((Zhzl) Bt EFRERER
BFREBEESFENNE RS EEHRHE
BERAR(KERE)S51%KE  BeR
8 & A R #30,600,0007C ° £ A R #
15,300,000 JT 4% 72 #% 195 = A= 2 A BA #E 5130
EEZEANEE - AR 15,300,000 7T#
Rz B Bl —FREE - RHE
51% fRiEs « AEBT B KBRS AT
FIEEBEEERTESN  KEBREEUHHE
BAREBERBE AR (HFE19)
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34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024 (Continued)

34. HE—RMBAR &)

BE2024F3A31BLFE#)

2024 F
Notes RMB’000
Hta ARKFT
Net assets disposed of: BEHEEERE
Property and equipment e E L] 14 1,681
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 317
Other intangible assets HEmEmpaE 18 1,982
Equity instruments at fair value through BAFET AEM 2 EREER
other comprehensive income BT H 300
Deferred tax assets BRI EE 31 272
Inventories FE 146
Accounts receivable JFE ILBR 3R 15,107
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE « H R YRIE K
other assets Hih &&= 35,279
Prepaid tax SEENE 140
Cash and cash equivalents REMREZEEY 166
Accounts payable JFETBRK (732)
Other payables and accruals H At e R IB R BT E (46,631)
Contract liabilities GHBE (1,023)
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) (310)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR e (12)
Subtotal Et 6,682
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary i — IR B R Al 2 6 52,269
Total consideration BARE 58,951
Satisfied by: ATHA AT
Cash received during the year ended BHZE2024F3A31BIEFE
31 March 2024 ElRE 15,300
Cash received during the year ended BZE2025F3A31 BIEFE
31 March 2025 BEWHRE 15,300
Fair value of retained interests REEZNATE 28,351
58,951
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34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 34. HE—BMBLQR @)
Year ended 31 March 2024 (Continued) BE2024F3A31BLFE#H)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERALE—BKNBARIZIREMIREEEY
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: MAEREDITAT
2025 ¥ 20245
RMB’000 RMB’000

35.

AREFT AR®ETT

Cash consideration received during the ~ FABRUBIRESMR(E
year 15,300 15,300
Cash and bank balances disposed of HERE MIRTT4 R = (166)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in & —HMBARZHE R

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary ReEEMRAFE 15,300 15,134
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. REREREBRME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EEFREXRH

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions FA - NEEGEFHELHNFERE
and extension to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities BEKRBEEENIERESRE LTS
of RMB34,875,000 (2024: RMB54,153,000) and Al & A R #534,875,000 7T, (2024 F = A
RMB34,875,000 (2024: RMB54,153,000), respectively, R¥ 54,153,000 7T) & A R % 34,875,000
in respect of lease arrangements for buildings. JL (20244 + AR 54,153,0007T) °
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities

35. IREREREBRMTE®

(b) MEEBELENEERE

Interest-
bearing bank
Consideration and other Lease
payables borrowings liabilities
FTESRITR
EARE HfaR HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARETIT AREFIT
Carrying amount at MR2023F4A1HK
1 April 2023 BRmEE 33,774 245,644 48,422
Changes from financing BEREREE
cash flows (28,519) (65,391) (30,395)
Reversal of prior year’s set ROl 1E FHEHH A
off against contingent RE
consideration 60,431 - -
Set off against contingent IR ARKE
consideration (41,267) - -
New leases e — = 40,662
Lease extension THEEH - - 13,491
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RH B AR = = (310)
Interest expenses F BRI 3,619 17,791 2,900
Lease termination HEXIE - = (7,302)
Carrying amount at M2024F3A31B &
31 March 2024 and 2024F4 A1 B
1 April 2024 REE 28,038 198,044 67,468
Changes from financing BERERELE
cash flows (28,734) 20,490 (28,431)
New leases HE - - 34,875
Interest expenses F BRI 696 16,110 2,649
Lease termination HEKIE - - (7,375)
At 31 March 2025 7R20254F3 A31H - 234,644 69,186
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

35. MEBHERERMT &)

() HERSRHARE

AABRZRERNEERENRHA

statement of cash flows is as follows: RN
2025 F 2024 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TFT AREFT
Within operating activities K EEHEN 7,495 11,103
Within financing activities BEEHHERA 28,431 30,395
Total HBET 35,926 41,498

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the receivables from an associate and
consideration payables in relation to a prior year's
acquisition transaction set out in notes 23 and 29 to the
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

(@) Loans from related companies

0) On 31 July 2024, NINEGO Corporation,
FUNGHWA Ltd. and the Company entered into
a loan agreement pursuant to which NINEGO
Corporation and FUNGHWA Ltd. agreed to
make available a maximum loan amounting to
RMB20,000,000 and RMB5,000,000,
respectively, to the Company. The loans
amounting to RMB25,000,000 were drawn
down, of which R\MB4,000,000 had been repaid
during the year. The loans are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable at the first
anniversary of the loan drawdown date.

36. BEES RS

Bk B 75 i 2k B 7 23 T2 29 AT 8 8 U — Rl e &
RAFBANARABEFERER ZHNEMNA
BN AKERFREBYRTEATRS ¢

(a) RERBRARNER

() MR 2024%F7H31H  NINEGO
Corporation * FUNGHWA Ltd. £2
KNABEIMNER B Bt
NINEGO Corporation & FUNGHWA
LdRAESRMARBRERES
B AR 20,000,000t AR
#55,000,0007C - ERIE R A
R ¥ 25,000,000 © Hh AR
4,000,000 E R FAEE ° %
EERAERE  RERARE
FIRMBEH g AFEE -
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(a) Loans from related companies (Continued)

(i)~ On February 2025, Dalian Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd. and Jinhui Technology Investment
(Qingdao) Co., Ltd.* (2R E(FE) AR
A d]), both of which are indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, entered into
supplemental loan agreements with Beijing
Tongguan Capital Management Co., Ltd.*
Grr@EEEARERFRRD A, an entity
indirectly controlled by the Company’s ultimate
beneficial owner, pursuant to which the
repayment dates of loans due from the Group to
Beijing Tongguan Capital Management Co., Ltd.
with an aggregate principal amount of
RMB157,000,000 and the corresponding
interest payable were extended to 31 March
2027, and the annual interest rate attributable
to an aggregate principal amount of
RMB130,000,000 remained to be 12.0%, while
another loan with a principal amount of
RMB27,000,000 remained to be interest-free.

Further details of the aforementioned loans from
related companies as at the end of the reporting
period and the corresponding interest expenses are set
out in notes 30 and 8 to the financial statements,
respectively.

(b) Transactions with an associate

During the year, the Group purchased comprehensive
marketing services from an associate and incurred cost
of RMB47,541,000 (2024: Nil). The prepaid service fee
amount as of the end of the reporting period was
RMB12,077,000 (2024: Nil) which was included in the
balance of prepayments as set out in note 23 to the
financial statements. These transactions were
conducted in accordance with the terms agreed
between the parties involved.

During the year, the Group provided a service of
setting up contact services system and centres to an
associate and generated revenue of RMB1,460,000
(2024: Nil). This transaction was conducted in
accordance with the terms agreed between the parties
involved.

*  for identification purpose only

36. BEE SR F (&)

(a)

(b)

RERBARINER @)

(i)  M2025F2 A8 ' ARrlzEEE
BB AR NESZRE R
MERRRREERERE(E
B)ERAR Bitm@EEEAR
EEARAE(—HBAAXRF &
RESEE ABBEEHNEE
IR ER G E - B A%
Bt RBEEAEEBRA
A& %8 A R 157,000,000
T RABEENF BN EFENKH
HiE R Z=2027%F3HA318 ' &
K& % A R % 130,000,000 7T
HEFREFE120%  MB—F
K E A AR 27,000,000 TH)
BRNAERE °

RIMESR - FHlREEBARNE
HEAEEFNERALZME—FFHE 9
RSB SRR I FE30 K28 °

BE-EHEREQTANRS

FR - AEER—FBE AEES
mMEHERBELTEEREAARE
47,541,0007C (2024 4F : ) - FH = 7R
LHR ENREESEAARE
12,077,000 7T (2024 4F : &) - B 5t A
B 765 ¥R 2% P 5E 23 BT &5 A9 T8 5 3R B 45
e ZERZIBEBBEHHED
RFGETT -

FR- AEER—EHEQAIRERE
7B A% AR 75 Z A Ko AR R AR 7 30 EE A
W A A R #1,460,000 7T (2024 £
;) c KRR B THIREBBEHFHEDN
IEFRHETT ©
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36.

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

The directors and chief executives of the Company are
the key management personnel of the Group. Details
of their remuneration are disclosed in note 9 to the
financial statements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged for the years ended 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

The Company’s directors review the capital structure on a
periodical basis. As part of the review, the Company'’s
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
Company'’s directors, the Group balances its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by the
capital which is the total equity of the Group. The gearing
ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

36.

37.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

BEMERS &)
(00 XEEFEEEBEEAENHE

ARBEERRBTBRABRAEE
TEEREAE c EFMZAHERE
R IRRMEO -

EXREE

AEBEBEHEERABRAEEEE 4
BRECE  RNEBECERRESER
AREREESE®R - NEE2025F3 8
31HK2024F3A31BILFE @ AEEH
BREREERIE -

ARREZTEHRAENERE - (FRELEN
—Bn  ARREFERE T EARKALKLE
BERENEENRAR - REARRESHHE
BER  AEEZEBRMNEE - BITHEK
BIFEAD AR BT ELBRRBERES
N FEHRRBEANERS -

AEEERBBLRETEN  BELRR
FHEERTT M EAME KR IAE AR (A AL B #
SAARFE - RRERRNBEL RN ¢

2025 F 20244

Interest-bearing bank and other T ERIT REME K
borrowings (RMB’000) (AR®FT) 234,644 198,044
Total equity (RMB’000) BB (ARETT) 617,649 820,691
Gearing ratio BELE 38.0% 24.1%

2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT 4£# 193



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&5 0 5 e 2% Bi e

31March 2025202543 A 31 H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. REFISTWEMTR
CATEGORIES
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RmERR  SESRTAEMKREERT :

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:
Financial assets tREE
2025 2025 £
Financial
assets at fair
value through Financial

profitor  assets at fair
loss— value through
mandatorily other
designated as comprehensive
such upon income — Financial
initial equity assets at
recognition investments  amortised cost Total
RAYE
STABREMN
SREE —
BHRDS  BAFEFA
ERREERA Htt2Eks REBHR AR
BAVEGFA  HEREE— FTEMN
BENEREE BHRE SHEE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHFT AR¥FT AR®FT ARBFT
Equity investments designated BERERFEARM
at fair value through other PERGNERRE
comprehensive income = = = =
Financial assets at fair value through  #&/AF{EE AB2EM % B
profit or loss BE - - = =
Accounts receivable JEU AR - - 537,343 537,343
Financial assets included in SIATERFIE - EfER
prepayments, other receivables HERAEMEENSR
and other assets BE - - 36,716 36,716
Restricted cash XRAFRE = = " 1
Pledged deposits BERER - - 6,122 6,122
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY - - 104,758 104,758
- - 684,950 684,950
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. ZERETHERMITE 2
CATEGORIES (continued)
Financial assets (Continued) EWMEE®E)
2024 2024 FF
Financial
assets at fair
value through Financial

profit or assets at fair
loss—  value through
mandatorily other
designated as  comprehensive
such upon income — Financial
initial equity assets at
recognition investments amortised cost Total
BAFE
FTABER
SREE —
RENDS  BATEFA
BREETR HthtZERR RE R
BATERHA  HEREE— ATEN
BamemeE B SRBEE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETT
Equity investments designated BEARATEN AL
at fair value through other 2EMERNERRE
comprehensive income - - - -
Financial assets at fair value through AT Bzt ABHH &R
profit or loss LE 4,812 = = 4,812
Accounts receivable e ER X - = 668,208 668,208
Financial assets included in SIATERFIE - HitEk
prepayments, other receivables TEREMEENSR
and other assets BE - - 57,980 57,980
Restricted cash XRHHE - - 594 594
Pledged deposits BERES - - 3,157 3,157
Cash and cash equivalents B RREEEY - = 82,673 82,673
4,812 - 812,612 817,424
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORIES (Continued)

38. REHETHEMIE®)

Financial liabilities =R
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
REBERITENSREE
2025 F 2024 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTF T
Accounts payable FERTBRER 9,334 28,639
Financial liabilities included in other ST A A FE B R EET B AR
payables and accruals TRAE 20,539 23,699
Consideration payables FERRE - 28,038
Interest-bearing bank and other TRRITREAMER
borrowings 234,644 198,044
Lease liabilities HEAE 69,186 67,468
333,703 345,888
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as

follows:

39.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

EMITAZAFERAFEER

AEESBTA(FEERATEAREE
EBIN BEEERATFEOT -

Carrying amounts Fair values
IRMEE AFE
2025 20245 2025F 2024 F
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFr ARKEFTT AR¥FR ARETT
Financial assets SRIEE
Equity investments designated 5 7E BIZAFEFT A
at fair value through other Hth 2R
comprehensive income R E = = - -
Financial assets at fair value BAFEF AR
through profit or loss ERIEE = 4,812 = 4,812
Non-current portion of pledged — E #1738 FETB)
deposits i) 2,865 — 2,646 —
Non-current portion of deposits %4 & & I FX I8 1)
and receivables FEREE D 6,135 3,750 5,604 3,359
9,000 8,562 8,250 8,171
Financial liabilities = =R
Interest-bearing bank and ETRIRIT R EALE K
other borrowings 234,644 198,044 217,202 198,044

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, current portion of pledged

deposits, accounts receivable, current portion of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, accounts payable, current portion of financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

BEECHRREMREEFEY  ZRHIB
& EREROREBES - AR - FHA
BNFENTREERB D - H R
HREMERE - BNERR - FEARMBRER
AEEAERNERABRERBEHD UL E
RITREAMERORB D O FEEER
EERS - TZARZEFTANIIHAEEE -
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. ¢ T E AT EEAFEBER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
non-current portion of pledged deposits, and non-current
portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of unlisted equity investments at 31 March
2024 had been estimated using a market approach. The key
assumptions applied in the calculation using a market-based
valuation technique were the comparable companies, price
to sales (“P/S") multiples and discount of lack of
marketability (“"DLOM"). Comparable companies were
actively traded in stock market and the multiples were
publicly available. Also, to adjust the fair value difference
between a publicly traded company and a private company,
an independent valuer engaged by the Group had applied
the option price model to estimate the DLOM. The directors
of the Company believed that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation techniques, which were
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related changes in fair values, which were recorded
in profit or loss, were reasonable, and that they were the
most appropriate values at 31 March 2024.

In the event when the Group had been negotiating with the
counterparty during the year ended 31 March 2024 and
subsequently entered into a formal legal contractual disposal
agreement with that counterparty, the contract selling price,
which was similar to the negotiating price, was deemed to
be the fair value of the unlisted equity investment at 31
March 2024.

(%)

EREEMBBENATFENIZBBESEEA
X5 (CRHZBR B ERIN FAIRBZTA
M ERBEARR - LT IERBRRAREFTAF
B :

APATRNFIE - B EEGA R E b EER
TREENERBE D - AW ERHIERD
BB - ARG BIRIT R A E KA IER B &P
DHRFE - TIRBELER - FERBR K
RISR2H B 00 TRAIRE FI R RBHIRR

BEnests -

JEETRERKRE 2 AFER 2024453 A 31
HERBMSE AR - RANMISAERD
HERMTERTERANEEREBAELL
BAR) - R ([HHEE]) EH8EREmiE
mBETTE (RS RBEE]) - AJ&
LB R BIERENS ERX 5 ER - EEEA]
NAER - I BRABLETWARIELAR
AZEANATEZR  AEEZENBLMG
ERTE B A EREA (TR I RE
MiTE e ARREEFHEE - K2024F3 A8
31 B - [SERITTE SRR E BN
KEOEET A ERYIEERBENABRATE
SEPELSE  BARABENEE-

MAEBREE 202453831 HIEEE—
HRRSGHFHEEIFEEEZR S FEIL
FEREEGHLERE - QIEEEESES
& NEBHERBIELTREREN 2024
F3A31HMRFE -
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. €T E> AFEBEEATFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (%)

Fair value hierarchy ANFEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRITAEELRIANAFESEE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: I

Assets measured at fair value: BEATEFENEE :

As at 31 March 2025 H2025F3H31H

Fair value measurement using
FERAUNTHEN D FETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ER BEAUERE EAFTEER
miEHRE BWAYE BWAYE
(B—E#H) (B=E#H) (E=E#&) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMTT AREFT ARMTR

Equity investments designated ~ #EE BB AFERTA

at fair value through other Hth 2 HE U=

comprehensive income BaRRE = = = =
Financial assets at fair value BN EFABZED

through profit or loss TRLEE = = = =
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. €@ TEZ A AFERLAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEEHR B
As at 31 March 2024 R2024F3 /8315

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENAFENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EE BAUBE EXTAUEE
Mi5RE BARUR BARUR

(B-ER) (F-BR) (B=ZER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Equity investments designated  $§7E AR A FERTA

at fair value through other E 2K
comprehensive income IR E - = = =
Financial assets at fair value EAFEFABEN
through profit or loss SREE - = 4,812 4,812
- - 4,812 4,812
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 RER - F=ZFAFEFEZ2EEFHNOT ¢
during the year are as follows:
2025 F 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETFIT

Equity investments designated 1EERBIZR FEFFAEMEE

at fair value though other Weas i m 1R &

comprehensive income
At 1 April R4A1H = 300
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHHEB AR - (300)
At 31 March M3A31H - -
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. €T E> AFEBEEATFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) N EBRE)

2025 2024 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARSFr

Financial assets at fair value though BAFEGABRH L @EE

profit or loss

At 1 April R4H1H 4,812 7,116
Total losses recognised in profit or loss M IBaER A E BB (3,729) (1,247)
Disposals HE (1,083) -
Reclassified to other receivable E BT E M EWEIA = (1,057)
At 31 March M3H31H = 4,812

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2024: Nil).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s non-current portion of
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, and non-current portion of pledged time
deposits for which the fair value are disclosed as
RMB5,604,000 and RMB2,646,000 (2024: RMB3,359,000
and Nil) are categorised within Level 2 (2024: Level 2), and
the Group’s non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings for which fair values are disclosed as
RMB192,330,000 (2024: RMB 198,044,000), are
categorised within Level 2 (2024: Level 2).

FR CREENSRABENAFETET
EINE— R — R 2 RS - INEE A
EHE=R (202445 : ) o

M2025F3A31H AFESAHEERA
R#5,604,0007T & A R#2,646,0007T(2024
& AR¥ 3,359,000t M) ARE R A
AR - EMEUGRIE R EMEERN S F
EEMIEREE D LA KRG E BT R IER
OO PEEE _FHQ024F : F_4)
mAYEHERSARE192,330,0007T(2024
&+ AR 198,044,000 70) AL BT SR
TREMEROIERBDBL, D ERE R
(2024 : EZHR) »
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. BIEREEEERBEK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's risk associated with its major financial
instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. There has been no change to the types of the
Group's exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

Credit risk

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group’s major customers are mostly
reputable large entities.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 39% (2024:
36%) of the total accounts receivable was due from the
Group's largest debtor and 74% (2024: 83%) of the total
accounts receivable was due from the Group’s top five
debtors as at 31 March 2025.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of
the financial assets of the Group as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position best represent
their respective amounts of the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which could cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties.

AEBEETZSRTARBORREIEE
SRk - RBESER - SNEE R LA R E
B o ARSI AN B 2 T AR BUR © &
BEAZERARETERERERT  UEREK
BEBMRBUEE SR - AEERERTA
FrEERR I EEXETERTERR IS

8RR

ERZERHELZA - AEESRARE
EENDARFEEERFPNEEER X
REZBEFHEERE - RTEFZEER
ERFADEFRA MR - EMEEREFD T
BE - AEERRBIRETHREBBERS -
AEENEEREFPAZHREERFNAR

@ﬁg ®

720253 A31H  AREWRERERATEZ
39% (20244 : 36%) REAEEZKNER
AN UG BR TR 4858 2 74% (2024 4F : 83%)
RAREBMAKEBA  BAEEESEF
=ERE -

REBEHR - ARERGEBHMRRKE
FIMEREENRAERERTEEF IR
EBRITEEMSSARERZMBIRANER
=iEERR AR -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBIJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Financial assets subject to external credit rating

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12-month ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12-month ECL for bank balances is considered to
be insignificant.

Financial assets subject to internal credit rating

In order to minimise the credit risk for accounts receivable,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, accounts receivable are generally grouped under a
provision matrix according to internal credit risk grading
assessment based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to factors, such as repayment histories and current
past due exposure. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under expected credit loss model for
each reporting period.

For financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, the management of the Group
makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

0. IBEREEEERKIE %)

EERRE @)
BEIBEETRZEHMEE

BRZELTF T REEREERBRTRE
BRBEEBRENRT - RURITHESRZ
EERBAER - AERBEE2EINBERTR
BEZMEBEENCRSTREMENRER
EBHBBENENFGARITESRNI12EARE
HEEER - REBFHERE - RITEHRN
REAEREEERKESTEK -

BERABEETRZEHMEE

SEERERBEERZEERR  ~EEE
BEECREk—XEXEEEEEERE 5
SR E B EIR T - ARERERERER LT
BB IET o 1A - BUERR—REE
EFGELERAREREFRR  REER
AEEERRFRFELNABEERBRIR
AR B EREE TET A o 1o AEE
REBREHEBRBERPEEEBREIETR
B

LAt ATEN IR - B RUGRIA R Bt B &
MEREEMS - AREEEEENELE
NRes OB AR - E B R RAER & &
Wk IE RO R Wk B 1 o
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets subject to internal credit rating

(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

B b e H

&R

ERBEK (&)

BERBEETRZEHEE (B

AEBENAFEERRFRFEEEAT

comprises the following categories: ¥R
Accounts
Category Description receivable Other receivables
bl 9t BA FE W BR K H b fE W RRIR
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
(9N HFEIWENVRRERE  BXYSBEAAHKIE 2HEHEEFE 1R2EAEREEEE
— WEEERE
Watch list The counterparty frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
dates but usually settle in full not credit- impaired
REE HFEIREFERINPEREN  ERERBEE 2HEMNMEEEE 2 [ ATEEE EEE
— WREERME
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired  not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
e2=3 FRAMBEHENERSINFRBEREERR 2HEHEESE 2HERHAGEER
B R LARBEE N — WEEERE — WEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
Eia BERERNEELNREERE >HEHEEFE 2HEHAGEEERR
— EERE — EERE
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

40.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment:

As at 31 March 2025

&30 W 5 R 22 Bl
371 March 2025 202543 A 31 H
HREREEEERBE®)
EEEREE)
TEHI AL EALTEPEEHEBTEN

RMEENEERR

H2025F3H31H

Internal credit rating

External AHERFR
credit rating Lowrisk  Watch list Doubtful Loss Total
MBEETR KRR BRgE 24 B# @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETT ARETT AREFR AREFT ARETZR
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAREEN 104,758* - = = = 104,758
Pledged deposits ERER 6,122* - - - - 6,122
Restricted cash XRHRE 11* - - - - 11
Accounts receivable e
Gross amount sz - 443,287 73,041 28,386 24,294 569,008
Loss allowance EEkE - (106) (325) (6,940) (24,294) (31,665)
- 443,181 72,716 21,446 - 537,343
Other receivables Eth el R
Gross amount fak - 36,744 - - 35,712 72,456
Loss allowance BEkE - (28) - - (35,712) (35,740)
- 36,716 - - - 36,716
Total Bzt 110,891 479,897 72,716 21,446 - 684,950
Average loss rate FHERE - 0.03% 0.44% 24.45% 100%
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. BIXEREEBERBEK &)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERB &)
As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3HF31H

Internal credit rating

External REEETA
credit rating Low risk Watch list Doubtful Loss Total
ABEEIE  EER  BEAY T B it

RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'00  RMB'000
ARBTL  ARMTT ARETT ARMTT ARETT ARETI

Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEN 82,673* - - - - 82,673
Pledged deposits BRI 3,157* = = = - 3,157
Restricted cash TRHEE 594 = = = - 594
Accounts receivable JERERR
Gross amount 5 = 491,998 172,606 15,767 339 680,710
Loss allowance BRAR - (497) (6,232) (5,434) (339) (12,502)
- 491,501 166,374 10,333 - 668,208
Other receivables Eivfelzioa
Gross amount fak - 54,256 - 8,230 27,130 89,616
Loss allowance BRAR - (391) - (4,115) (27,130) (31,636)
- 53,865 - 4,115 - 57,980
Total it 86,424 545,366 166,374 14,448 - 812,612
Average loss rate FHERE - 0.16% 3.61% 39.79% 100%
w The Group’s major bank balances are deposited at banks with * AREBNTBRITEBRTRRAEELBIH AR
investment grade according to The Standard & Poor’s rating. EHRIEIRTT ©
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

40. BIEREEEERBE &)

Credit risk (Continued) FEERkK &)
BREREEFARBIEFHRNNBAR
BIRENEG  OARBBRZRARE
NENATEB AR EERHEH AT W& %
BERIEEANRRENREG - EEEST
g oME - UEREESEEES ARNIEHE
BERBEH -

The loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors, adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort, and with reference to the ageing
categories and characteristics of individual debtors. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows a movement of ECL that has TR EARR LA BEFE R 5T ATERR

been recognised for accounts receivable under the simplified W EEEENEE)
approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HITEHA 2 HITAHEA
FEEFE FEEE
(Y J|EERE) (EERE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT ARKFT
At 31 March 2023 and MR2023F3 318K
1 April 2023 2023F4 A 1H 6,290 339 6,629
Provision of ECL TRHREEERER 5,953 - 5,953
Disposal of a subsidiary & — B AR (80) = (80)
At 31 March 2024 and M2024%F3A31B K
1 April 2024 20244 A1 H 12,163 339 12,502
Provision of ECL TEHEE B ERE 19,163 - 19,163
At 31 March 2025 7R2025F3 A31H 31,326 339 31,665
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. BIEREEEERBEER &)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERB &)

TRIVRERFT ATRNFIA « E bR UIR
REMEENEBREERANEREERSR

The following table shows a movement of ECL that has
been recognised for financial assets included in

prepayments, other receivables and other assets: ZEE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
12-month  (not credit ECL (credit
ECLs impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATEH
FEBE 2 HITEER
12EA7EE (LEEFE FEEE
FEEHE wE) (EERE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT AR®FT ARYTFT
At 31 March 2023 and R2023F3A31B K
1 April 2023 2023%F 4 A1 H 23 1,568 21,928 23,519
Provision of ECL TEEEEEERE 368 2,547 10,152 13,067
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHEARQT = = (4,950) (4,950)
At 31 March 2024 and M2024F3A31B K
1 April 2024 2024F 4 A1 H 391 4,115 27,130 31,636
Provision/(reversal of TEHEEEE
provision) of ECL B, (B R ) (363) (4,115) 8,582 4,104
At 31 March 2025 R20253 A31H 28 - 35,712 35,740
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments to be made on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay, is as follows:

As at 31 March 2025

40. BIEREEEERBE &)

RBESERE

REERPECRAR AEBERRERSE

BEZATIHRERRESEKT - A

=g 4
= °

RAEELERHESLFEEREREKD

RIERR - AEESBREBENZBERGR

BEAKERBEA

HIRBEZRAS

/8

H2025F3 H31H

NEOEFEEBEBELNE
REH)@TF :

Less than Over 1 year

1 year or and less Over
on demand than 5 years 5 years Total
DPR1EF HB1F
RRER RINSF HB5F e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARMTT AREFT AR¥TrT
Accounts payable FETRRER 9,334 = = 9,334
Financial liabilities included in &+ A Ath & (< 508 K
other payables and accruals ~ EFTEANSHAE 20,539 = = 20,539
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMER
other borrowings 26,149 239,844 - 265,993
Lease liabilities HE&E 29,043 45,544 77 74,664
85,065 285,388 77 370,530
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

40. IR EMEEREERBE @)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRERE)
As at 31 March 2024 R202443F31H
Less than ~ Over 1 year
1 year or and less
on demand than 5 years Over 5 years Total
DR FE @1 F
FIREK  RIRSF Ha38 5 F FEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Accounts payable FESTRR K 28,639 - - 28,639
Financial liabilities included in &1 A EAth & (< 508 &
other payables and accruals ~ [EFFERANSRIAE 23,699 = = 23,699
Consideration payables ERE 28,038 = = 28,038
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREAE K
other borrowings 213,825 - - 213,825
Lease liabilities HEAE 30,313 49,669 553 80,535
324,514 49,669 553 374,736
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is mainly
attributable to those financial assets included in cash and
cash equivalents and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals denominated in the currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they
related. The management manages and monitors this
exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

BEREEEBERBEEK®)

SRS LB

AEEHBHINERRT2HRE ABHEER
DREEE SN BB FHENG AR KBRS
EEYO S REE A NG AR B RIA K
EFFERAMNTRARE BEETEL ST
R - LARELR K B A ROt SREUE E it

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency RIBEIR  AEBUINESTENEKEE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the FE%aEMNERRAENT
end of the reporting period are as follows:
2025 2024 5
Assets  Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE afE BE =L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFrT AREFT AREFT ARETT
United States Dollars ETT 33 2 1,812 2
Hong Kong Dollars BIT 1,352 860 6,999 860
1,385 862 8,811 862
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT HERMEEEERRE &)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN LB ()

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the functional currencies’ exchange rates of respective
entities, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's loss before tax arising from the monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in the currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they

TRINTRBERREMBEMERERTT

SMERT LABEERBNEEEUINE

BHENEREEREKABMEENAS

lﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁ}%f HINHERESEER S
AIREEEMBRE -

related.

Increase/ 2025 2024
(decrease) in Increase/ Increase/
functional (decrease) in (decrease) in
currencies’ loss before loss before
exchange rates tax tax
2025 2024 4F
ThEe B IS IE = FRBE AT BT 18 BRELATE 1R
EACRR) i/ CRL) i/ Chd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR¥T T AREFIT
United States Dollars EI 5 (2) (90)
(5) 2 90
Hong Kong Dollars BIT 5 (25) (307)
(5) 25 307
Interest rate risk A =2 = b

The Group's interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The Group'’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were not at
floating rate.

The directors of the Company consider the interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.

AEBRAEREREEERRIRITEBES
MFIERES) - REEMTERITREMER
WIEIRZ BRI KB o

ARREERREF BRITERE BROF =R
BRI AEAX - B % e A SR
BT -
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. XA T KB D BFFE
COMPANY

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries at the end RIBEHR AR ZTENB AR ZEE BN
of the reporting period are as follows: T
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered  attributable to the
Name operations share capital Company Principal activities
HEMRL/ MR BT  AAREGER
A% EENH L&/ EmRA Bk TEEK
2025F  2024%
KingNine Holdings Limited Cayman Islands US$1,548 100 100  Investment holding
KingNine Holdings Limited HEis 1,548 7T 100 100 REER
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 100 100  Investment holding
SEREREERAR hEl/ BRI 10,000,000 % 7T 100 100 HEER
Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
(“DaLian Kingwisoft”) services
AESEREMERHERAT hERENE AR 100,000,000 100 100 fRAH% ARG
(TRELE])
Shenzhen Kingwisoft Data Services PRC/Mainland China RMB33,500,000 100 100 Provision of data centre
Co., Ltd.* services

FIMEEREEERBERAE  FE/FER A B 33,500,000 7 100 100 FREEERORE

Dalian Nanyou Information Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd.* services

AERBERRMERAR /R E A AR 10,000,000 70 100 100 HREHEARE

Dalian Kingwisoft Internet Service PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* services

AECERBARRBIERAR HE/ERM AE#10,000,0007T 100 100 fReHE AR

Puyang Kingwisoft Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd.* services

B ERENRERAA B/ E A AK% 10,000,000 70 100 100 R#tEARS
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

41. AR TN E R AFHE @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered  attributable to the
Name operations share capital Company Principal activities
SR ERR BT ARREGESR
A EEBE EE/EmRE Bk TEER
2025F 20245
Sichuan Suixin Technology Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
services
M)l EH AR AR B/ E A A 10,000,000 7 100 100 #RAE RS
Kunshan Kingwisoft Information PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd.* services
RIS BEERRERAR e/ B AR 10,000,000 70 100 100 RtE RS
Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd.* services
R EREHEREERAA B/ E A AR 10,000,000 70 100 100 fRtEERS
Pingxiang Kingwisoft Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd.* services
FHLERENRERAT E/HERL, AR 10,000,000 7T 100 100 REZERSE
Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd.* services
EGSEERANRERRAR e/ BRI AR 10,000,000 70 100 100 RftEaRS
Puyang Qinglv Technology Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
services
BB EERRARAR B/ R E A AR 1,000,0007 100 100 RE%ARE
Mianyang Kingwisoft Internet Service  PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd.* services
wEeEERBREER AR /R E A AR#10,000,0007 100 100 RER%ER%
Beijing Hui Future Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of comprehensive
Co., Ltd.* marketing and agency
services
ERBRRBEARAF e/ BRI AR ¥10,000,000 70 100 100 REZEZHIAERS
* These are subsidiaries of DaLian Kingwisoft. * BENG BAREDENNTBAG]
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Except for KingNine Holdings Limited, the equity interests of
the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the
Company.

The English name of the above principal subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are for identification purpose only.

The subsidiaries listed in the above table are, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Contractual arrangements

Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries (collectively the “DaLian
Kingwisoft Group”), which are among the entities acquired in
the acquisition transaction completed on 15 October 2020,
engage in business of provision of value-added
telecommunications services that is subject to restrictions
imposed by relevant PRC laws on foreign investors of foreign-
invested telecommunication enterprises which engage in the
provision of value-added telecommunications services.

Due to such restrictions under the relevant PRC laws, and as
advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, it was not
viable for KingNine to directly hold any equity ownership in
the DalLian Kingwisoft Group. Instead, KingNine, in line with
common practice in industries in the PRC subject to
restrictions imposed by the PRC laws on relevant foreign
investors and/or foreign ownership on foreign-invested
enterprises, achieves effective control over, and receives the
entire economic benefits generated by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through a series of contractual
agreements entered between Kingwisoft Technology Co.,
Ltd. (the "WFOE"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
KingNine established as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
in the PRC, on one hand, and each of the DaLian Kingwisoft
and its registered shareholders, on the other hand (the
“Contractual Arrangements”).

B 3 YA 285 e % B

31March 2025202543 31 H

41. AR T E R FFHE @)

% KingNine Holdings Limited4p » £ %t &= &
MEA R REHBA A RREERSE -

iR B A 2B A AR R XA
EXEEE R

ARAEERR  ERFAFIMBAREER
EXNFREEANBRASEEEFEZER
B - MiAREEMBMBRRFE  EFR
RASEEENTIE

BHRH

AESENHEWBAR (GBI AESESE
B ) A5 20209F 10 A 15 B ER 5
FRENER , —  HNERMHEESEER
BER - WASE@EFBENEEEH FR M
BEEREIINGIREEEFELEMNINEIRE
HHR S

AR EAEIE A BR S R
ANaE| KR ELEZE R TS A - KingNine B #
BEAESEEENEMBRELTE ]
1T MR - BEZ P BEEEEEIINEIRE
&N HHNE R INE BT RERE N 2 R
Fr#i PR AR B 1T 3 — MR 1B 9 -+ KingNine & 18
SERMEREERAR([INEBELE]
KingNine 1A R B i 37 A SN B B 1 R 5
MEBAR)ESKNESEREERRER L
H—RIENRHE (G H%HE]) BSEAE
CESENERITGE  TERNESES
B EAERN 2 IPLERE ©
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41.

COMPANY (Continued)
Contractual arrangements (Continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group, has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group, and is considered to have control over the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group. Consequently, the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group is considered to be subsidiaries of the Group and the
financial statements of the Dalian Kingwisoft Group are
included in the Group's consolidated financial statements
from 15 October 2020.

However, there are uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of current and future PRC
laws and regulations which could affect the Company’s
ability to exercise control over the DaLian Kingwisoft Group,
its right to receive substantially all of the economic interest
generated by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, and its ability to
consolidate the financial results of the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Company believes that, based on the legal opinion
obtained from the Company’s PRC legal adviser, the
Contractual Arrangements are legally binding and
enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and
regulations.

ARATNKERTFE @)

Gk 36

HREHNEH  AEBERZF2ENESD
ZEEMEMAEERR  WEREDEBHEY
RESEEENE T EZSOR - FLK
BREEFHRNECEEE - B - KiESESE
EREALEEHBAR  ARKESEEE
R #53REK B 202045 10 A 15 B AKRE
BES A ERERA ©

A - BITRARKPBIER AR RER
ERFETHBESE Al EARRATTRE
HBRECSREITHIRNESD  ARREE
PR ES S EBELNDELEMNEH
R RARRBRESBRENMEES
HAREBREMHERKRNEEN - ARFR
o ERAARRRRBEARERBGNER
BR - BHORBRBEERZNRT - ARG
1TRYEERBITHBERIER
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42, A& BB AR &
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RABRRERR A BERARER LT :
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2025 & 2024 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBE E
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZI%E 42,952 153,058
Due from subsidiaries RIS NGIE e - 25
Property and equipment LEYSE T ] 25 38
Total non-current assets EREEELTR 42,977 153,121
CURRENT ASSETS MENE B
Prepayments and other receivables TR R I B A R YR IE 349 380
Due from a subsidiary FEM— R B A R IR 75,556 51,701
Cash and cash equivalents He MIREEEY 1,092 3,994
Total current assets mEN & EEEE 76,997 56,075
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Other payables and accruals H At T 5 IB R T E 3,456 3,125
Consideration payables FESRAE = 28,038
Interest-bearing bank and other FTESRITREMBER

borrowings 21,000 -
Total current liabilities mE B BB 24,456 31,163
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENE EFE 52,541 24,912
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&ER I A E 95,518 178,033
Net assets BEFE 95,518 178,033
EQUITY R
Share capital f&Zx 40,442 40,442
Reserves {1 55,076 137,591
Total equity R 95,518 178,033
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42, &K BB #&ARR IR (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABEERLENOT :
Share
premium  Translation Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
475 B ik B RitEE ast

RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBEFT ARETET ARETT ARETT

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4KF1H 1,124,851 41,244 (734,082) 432,013
Loss and total comprehensive loss  4F A& 8 & 2 E &5 18

for the year ] = = (294,422) (294,422)
At 31 March 2024 and MN2024F3/8318 K

1 April 2024 202448 1H 1,124,851 41,244 (1,028,504) 137,591
Loss and total comprehensive loss A8 & 2 518

for the year Rk = = (82,515) (82,515)
At 31 March 2025 7202593 A31H 1,124,851 41,244 (1,111,019) 55,076

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 43. #EEMBHREK

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for ZEPHERREN2025F6 A26HEE =
issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2025. G R IR T -
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48 BB B2

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- ZAEERBEERETRFEZZENEE  BF
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,  KRIFIERRERTE (8% E © T3 2 K EBEZ 15
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and  $g&K - WAL =5 (2@ ) ) HR T °

restated as appropriate, is set out below.

Year ended 31 March

HZ3A3MHLEE
2025 F 2024 F 2023F 2022 F 20214
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKEFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT

RESULTS £

Revenue KA 1,240,654 1,240,904 888,622 734,021 264,368
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADEF (&) (207,063)  (199,917)  (236,956) 84,016 41,339
Income tax credit/(expense) Fiiskise,/ (FX) 3,680 (5,030) 739 (12,886) (10,648)

Profit/(loss) for the year from FRFECENER

continuing operations wH, (E18) (203,383)  (204,947)  (236,217) 71,130 30,691
Profit/(loss) for the year from FAERIERENER
discontinued operations wHL(EiE) - = = 5,825 (3,815)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,(EE) (203,383)  (204,947)  (236,217) 76,955 26,876
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company VINNCIETZEDN (207,729)  (197,382)  (230,329) 80,350 26,153
Non-controlling interests FEVERR RS 4,346 (7,565) (5,888) (3,395) 723
(203,383) (204,947) (236,217) 76,955 26,876
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T AR IR B R

As at 31 March

MW3A31H
2025 20244 20234 2022 FF 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRBETFT ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets B E 1,029,081 1,278,285 1,498,220 1,579,053 1,415,441
Total liabilities BwafE (411,432)  (457,594)  (472,943) (488,177) (399,810
617,649 820,691 1,025,277 1,090,876 1,015,631
Equity attributable to owners of N2 R1#EH AE(EHER
the Company 609,213 816,601 1,013,610 1,070,742 999,904
Non-controlling interests FEER i an 8,436 4,090 11,667 20,134 15,727
617,649 820,691 1,075,277 1,090,876 1,015,631
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